Oceanic imaginaries in film and development: lenses of collaboration and practice

T. Melanie Puka

SID: 300264658

Supervisor: Polly Stupples

School of Geography, Environment and Earth Sciences, Victoria University of Wellington

May 2019

120 point thesis submitted to Victoria University of Wellington in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Development Studies

Abstract

Cultural expression and culture have informed the formulation of development outcomes and processes, with varying success. Historically, this has occurred incidentally to mainstream development priorities such as primary education and health, and food security. In recent decades have, however, international institutions have come to recognise the importance of culture to development both as an area of development as well as something which informs development planning and processes. Often, the cultural development agenda, where driven by institutions, has been largely for instrumental purposes. Thus far, there has been an emphasis in research on the relative absence of culture from development definitions and processes.

This thesis investigates the ways that film and film-making processes are contributing to a range of social and cultural outcomes in Oceania, and how these processes could be envisaged as contributing to a broader cultural development agenda. Using qualitative methods, this research examines how the regional imaginary is being practiced in different ways by film communities by drawing on several film projects across the region. This is couched in a discussion which examines the role of indigenous film as part of the global decolonisation agenda. It also highlights the importance of film as a means of decolonising identities and social practice.

This research reveals the diverse motivations for collaborative kinships in film. These in turn demonstrate how understandings of relationships between individuals and communities can be enable horizontal development. This demonstrates the tension between dominant understandings of development and regionalism. This research also highlights how film kinships, informed by regional connections, are collaborating to grow film-making in Oceania.

Using an intersectional framework drawing on scholarship from post-development theory and Pacific Studies, this research seeks to broaden the way that development is framed and practiced. While it is critical of some mainstream development tendencies — in policy formulation and practice — this research seeks to highlight how diverse and numerous approaches are important. This research draws together an analysis of collaboration in film practice and endeavours to address inequalities in voice and representation of Oceanian

peoples in film. It shows the contribution that film can make to expansive understandings of development in Oceania.

Table of Contents

Oceanic imaginaries in film and development: lenses of collaboration and practice	i
Acknowledgements	v
Glossary	vi
List of Acronyms	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter outline	4
Terms	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	7
Introduction	7
The challenge for culture and development	8
Culture and development	9
Cultural and creative industries	12
Growing the cultural sector in Oceania	15
Regional connection through festivalisation	17
Film and Oceania	18
Moana	19
Conceptual framework	21
Pacific Studies	21
Articulations of Oceania	22
Aotearoa in Oceania	24
Post-development	25
Conclusion	27
Chapter 3: Research Methods	29
Māoriland Film Festival and Through Our Lens	29
Melanesian Arts and Cultural Festival	30
Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific) and Challenge	
Vai	32
Epistemology	33
Conduct	36
Methodology	37
Methods	37
Participant observation	38
Document and media analysis	39
Positionality: insider or outsider or other?	40

Reflections	42
Ethics	42
Ethics of Pasifika research	43
Conclusion	45
Chapter 4: Behind the lens – decolonising the screen	46
Indigeneity and film	48
Fourth cinema	50
Claiming indigeneity?	51
Support for indigenous film	53
Indigenous film spaces	55
Building whakapapa of indigenous film	57
Reclaiming story and screen	59
Conclusion	60
Chapter 5: Oceanic kinships and collaborative routes	61
Kinships	61
Film as collaborative practice	63
Why and how are Oceanian film-making communities connection	cting across vast ocean spaces?63
Institutional support for film in Oceania	68
Te Tumu Whakaata – New Zealand Film Commission	69
Regional approaches	70
Conclusion	74
Chapter Six: Film matters	76
Introduction	76
Value of film	77
Social change	77
Building capacity	80
Oceanic imaginary	81
Supporting role: development policy	86
Conclusion	89
Chapter Seven: Conclusion	90
Power of film	91
Going forward	95
Final reflections	96
Appendices	98
Bibliography	101

Acknowledgements

This thesis, like all my achievements, is not mine alone. It also belongs to:

My grandmothers, whose prayers and names made me.

My grandfathers, whose work and quiet faith made lives on other horizons possible.

My parents, whose hard work and undying love led me here.

My supervisor and "field-Mum" Polly, whose generosity and encouragement made my research journey.

My Rosses who have loved (housed, fed and transported) me like your own.

My Fatty, my best friend, my brother whose care and backing are unrivalled.

And the many friends without whose cheering, baking and kindness, I would surely have gone mad.

I hope you are as proud as I am, to call this ours.

He mihi mutunga kore tēnei ki ngā ringa raupā ō Māoriland Film Festival, mō rātou i tautoko mai i tēnei tuhinga.

Supported by the Marsden Fund Council from Government funding, managed by Royal Society Te Apārangi.

Glossary

Whakapapa	Genealogy
, ,	57
Palagi	European
Каирара	Purpose, goal
Te Moana-nui-a-	The Pacific Ocean
Kiwa, Te Moana-	
nui-a-Kiva	
Pākeha	European
Manaakitanga	Hospitality
Tangata whenua	People of the land, host community
Rangatahi	Youth, young people
Tuākana	Older sibling
Teina	Younger sibling
Kiwa	Ancestor of the Pacific Ocean
Aotearoa	Land of the long white cloud, New Zealand
Taonga	Treasure

List of Acronyms

MFF	Māoriland Film Festival
MACFEST	16 th Melanesian Arts and Cultural Festival
TOL	Through Our Lens
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UN	United Nations
MIRAB	Migration, Remittances, Aid and Bureaucracy
SPC	Pacific Community
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
COPAC	Council of Pacific Arts and Culture
PC	Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific)

Chapter 1: Introduction

Historically culture and cultural expression have struggled to find an important place in the global development agenda. As a substantive area of development, cultural expression has tended to occupy the margins, largely because is not seen as a development priority. Instead, development has been predominantly concerned with areas such as primary health, sanitation, and good governance. Culture has rarely been seen as a space that facilitates development. This is despite research which demonstrates the value of culture to notions of well-being (Melchionne 2017; Leckey, 2011; Oishi and Schimmack, 2010). Although attention was drawn to the relationship between culture and development in the 1980s and 1990s, particularly during the UN Decade for Cultural Development (1988-1997), the relevance of culture has not achieved broad uptake by development agencies (Neverdeen Pieterse, 2010; Apthorpe, 2005).

Culture is acknowledged to be important to development for a number of reasons. Firstly, it can inform processes of development so that development practice accounts for local ways of doing and knowing. Secondly, there has been global acknowledgement of the importance of cultural practices (including cultural expression) in the development agenda (World Commission, on Culture and Development, 1996). There has been increasing attention to the preservation of heritage and performative cultures (Basu and Modest, 2014; Musteata, 2018; Lenao and Saarinen, 2015; Gordin and Matetskaya, 2011) and growing interest in cultural economies (Keser, 2016; Greeffe, Pfliger and Noya, 2005; Throsby, 2015; Beauregard, 2018). Some of this attention has been more focused on the instrumental impact of culture in development. Such broadening of the development space to include creative and cultural expression remains marginal, however, and has not seen significant changes in development practice and planning (Apthorpe, 2005; Clammer, 2005; Da Costa, 2010). In some instances, creative expression such as theatre or film has been used to communicate development messages, such as about sexual and reproductive health (Baxter and Low, 2017; Nwadigwe, 2012)

Film-making, as will be explained further, is an increasingly significant example of a cultural development practice. The growth of film-making in Oceania has seen not only an increased production of films (SPC, 2016) but also the proliferation and expansion of film festivals in the

region including the Nuku'alofa Film Festival, Pasifika Film Festival and Pollywood Film Festival. These festivals promote and screen content by and about Oceanian people and cultures. In addition to the growth of Oceanian film spaces, there is a growing appetite for Oceanian films. This is evident in funding and production of feature films, such as *Vai* (2019), *One Thousand Ropes* (2017) and *The Orator – O le Tulafale* (2011), that circulate through high-profile international festivals and in the attention paid at those festivals to films from the region. In 2019, for example, the NATIVe series in the Berlinale Film Festival (BFF) highlighted narrative and documentary films from Oceania.

Oceanian film-making spaces are developing, however, in diverse and uneven ways. This is partly due to the general lack of state support for film-making by the governments of Pacific Island nations. Support for film-makers (outside of Australia and New Zealand) comes instead from both collaborative cross-border projects and from international development organisations. Collaborative projects are fuelled by various motivations, including to carry out capacity-building in film-making and grow film communities in the region. Development institutions have recognised the potential for film to enable development through instrumentalising story to facilitate dialogue and action on social and environmental issues. While there has been a growth in film-making spaces, driven by individuals, institutions and horizontal networks of film-makers, the policy environment remains largely ambivalent towards Oceanian film-making.

These observations reveal some important but largely unanswered questions about film-making in Oceania. Firstly, it seems apparent audiences have a desire for Oceanian film locally, regionally and internationally. However, film remains an area that is largely underfunded and under-resourced, whether by film institutions or otherwise (SPC, 2016). How can institutions better support film-making in Oceania? Secondly, there is a growing desire in Oceanian communities to make film (SPC, 2016). While issues of technical capacity and access to filming and editing equipment are certainly barriers to growing film-making in the region, film-making is occurring nonetheless. How and why is film-making currently taking place in Oceania? Thirdly, the policy environment within which film-making takes place, does little to account for different approaches to film practice or to connect film-making communities across a vast region with many rich stories to share. What is already happening in film practice that might be insightful for policy-makers in cultural development? This thesis

sits at the intersection of these questions. It examines film-making spaces in Oceania and how these speak to current approaches to cultural development policy and practice. It analyses the reasons for their existence and the kind of films that they produce. These observations feed into critiques of reductionist development discourses and into arguments for a more expansive development field, able to also engage with questions of culture and identity. My research seeks to answer, at least in part, these questions.

My central research question is:

What is the power of indigenous film-making in Oceania and how does it contribute to development in the region?

To answer this overall question I have addressed the following sub-questions.

Why are Oceanic kinships being formed in the regional film-making community?

What are the motivations for forming such kinships?

What kinds of contributions do such kinships and film practice make to development in Oceania?

To carry out this research, I undertook fieldwork through a variety of sites that are demonstrating important regional interconnections that support Oceanian film-making. These are:

- 1. Māoriland Film Festival
 - a. Through Our Lens programme
- 2. Melanesian Arts and Culture Festival
- 3. Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific)
 - a. Centre for Samoan Studies Film Challenge
- 4. Vai (2019 feature film made collaboratively by Pacific women film-makers)

I have provided detailed descriptions of each site of inquiry in chapter three.

This research is significant for a number of reasons. Firstly, it contributes to the ongoing discussion about existing definitions, planning and processes of development, particularly in Oceania. Secondly, my thesis adds to the discussion on cultural development. While there has been a proliferation of literature in the last three decades on culture and development,

contemporary film-making in Oceania is relatively unexplored in the literature. This research explores how film practice as driven by institutions, film communities and individuals, is contributing, in different ways, to development. Thirdly, this research highlights the dynamism of collaborative film-making practices and how they are reflective of, and contribute to, an Oceanic regional imaginary. In doing so, I add to the growing literature by Oceanians on Oceanian development.

Chapter outline

The second chapter of this thesis discusses the literature relating to four areas which are key to framing my research questions and theoretical approach to the research. It draws on the intersections of Pacific Studies and Development Studies scholarship not only in a methodological sense but also their respective critical approaches to research; the agency and empowerment of Oceanian peoples as part of such research; and a reclamation of knowledge and story. Chapter three discusses the range of qualitative methods I used in my research and its epistemological foundation. It also highlights the lessons I learnt as an independent researcher and how developments in my research shaped both my methods and findings.

The fourth chapter looks at the growth of global indigenous cinema and opportunities for indigenous film-makers globally. It also examines how Oceanians have responded to the challenges raised by indigenous film-makers relating to power and representation, particularly their presence or absence behind the lens. Chapter five analyses how and why Oceanian film-makers are collaborating across the region, and the film policy environment within which they operate. I argue that their reasons for collaborating are reflective of an Oceanic imaginary as articulated by scholars such as Albert Wendt (1976) and Epeli Hau'ofa (1993, 2008). The next chapter analyses findings from chapters four and five in relation to development theory. It draws on post-development and Pacific Studies scholarship to challenge mainstream development priorities and approaches and argues for the importance of film in and to Oceania. It highlights the significance that the regional imaginary could have for development in Oceania. This in turn challenges narrow definitions of development by drawing attention to the importance of expansive understandings thereof which account for relationships between communities and local contexts.

The final chapter of my thesis summarises my core findings, discusses the power of film-making in Oceania, and the power of kinship collaborations; and outlines some suggestions for ways for policy-makers to support these practices. I also offer some final reflections from my research journey.

Terms

I have specifically chosen to employ the term kinship in this thesis, to describe connections observed in film-making communities. While a network speaks to connections between individuals and communities, it does not fully capture the kinds of relationships that this research highlights and speaks to. The term kinship in my thesis is a means of understanding particular kinds of relationships between individuals, communities and organisations. It is often understood as meaning familial relationships between individuals and/or clans. However, I am using it in a broader sense. Sahlins (2013, p.) characterises kinships by "mutuality of being", as people connected not necessarily by biological links but by time, place and culture. This is consistent with the kinds of kinships I have observed in my research, which were grounded in shared ancestry, shared geographical and cultural spaces and shared kaupapa.

I also mostly use the term Oceania rather than the Pacific. Our ocean was named by Ferdinand Magellan during his circumnavigation of the globe because of its apparently peaceful waters (Gould, 2013). Oceania as opposed to the Pacific speaks to the power exerted by European explorers and colonial masters, in naming various parts of Oceania. In my literature review chapter, I discuss the discursive use of Oceania and the compelling arguments made by Wendt (1976) and Hau'ofa (2008) in particular to reimagine the Pacific. The importance of using this term will become particularly evident when I outline my theoretical approach to my research and analyse discourses of development. The agency of Oceanians and the use of language that is empowering – rather than reductive or essentialist – have been integral to my research. The use of the term Oceania by scholars within the region means that there is a sense of ownership over the name. This sense of ownership is not necessarily homogenous across the region.

¹ Melanesia, Polynesia and Micronesia are names given to sub-regions of Oceania, the origins of which are colonial in nature. I largely to not use these terms in my thesis but they can be helpful for situating things across nation-state boundaries but within a smaller area in Oceania.

It is my hope that the use of such terms in this research pays homage to the dedicated work of Oceanian film creatives in the region and the whakapapa of work that has led to such a hopeful film-making space. If, as I argue throughout my thesis, we are to find approaches to development that put people, place and context at their centre – then it seems only fitting that we find and use the appropriate language to articulate such an approach.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

This literature review focuses on the intersection between development in the Oceania and the place of culture within, and arguably outside of, the development agenda. It is divided into five sections:

- 1. The relationship between culture and development
- 2. Conceptions of the Oceanic regional imaginary
- 3. Cinema Pasifika the relationship between people and place of the Pacific, and film-making
- 4. Post-development discourse and a Pacific Studies lens

These four sections will be drawn together to reveal a gap in the literature – which this thesis seeks to address in part.

The importance of film-making kinships and film festivals within the Oceanian context requires an understanding of literature from both Development Studies and Pacific Studies disciplines alongside the uses of film and film-making processes by indigenous communities globally. These intersections are important because, whereas the development agenda has largely been driven by a desire for tangible outcomes usually in the spheres of education, health and economic development (reflected, for example in the Millennium Development Goals), the Pacific Studies agenda seeks to understand and challenge narratives of the Oceania and how they feed into power structures generally. This work aims to address this schism and find constructive engagements between development and the indigenous narratives that arise from Pacific epistemologies.

The first section draws on literature from intergovernmental and international institutions as well as from academia, to highlight the (often marginal) spaces occupied by culture in development policy. The second section examines conceptions of Oceania as a region. From Pacific Studies I will draw on literature that articulates the significance of regional cultural imaginary, and connections between Oceanian peoples across the region and its diaspora. I then go on to examine the literature on festivals and how they might be understood as a means of connecting Oceanian communities through celebration of performative and material culture. Literature on film and Oceania – in particular the relationship between film

and film-making processes and Pacific communities; issues of representation and the colonial legacy of film — are also central to an understanding of the importance of film to the region as a part of the broader cultural development agenda. I draw on literature which examines the importance of indigenous film to the decolonisation agenda. The last section draws on literature from Development Studies on cultural development policy approaches and canvasses ideas from hopeful post-development which enable broader understandings of development that account for the political realities which shape how we define and pursue definitions of development.

The challenge for culture and development

The relationship between culture and development has often been fraught, with development seen as a technical project in which culture either has no role or, at worst, is seen as an impediment to 'progress'. This, intertwined with issues of Pasifika voice and representation in film, brings attention to the *wero*² laid down by Hau'ofa in his essay "Our Place Within":

"It is therefore essential for us in Oceania, that the creative arts and other forms of cultural production take up what our formal educational institutions have marginalised as nonessential in the world of the twenty-first century. For us they are necessary tools for the attainment and maintenance of autonomy within a homogenising global system. Our social, economic and political institutions are woven into the larger world system; any free space within will have to be established through creative cultural production. And this is what the present and rising generations of Oceania's growing and widely dispersed intelligentsia are furiously involved in today. From their far-flung bases in Guam, California, Hawai'I, Cook Islands, New Zealand, Fiji, Samoa, Tonga, Solomon Islands, Papua New Guinea, Australia, and increasingly elsewhere within and beyond the Pacific Basin, they are connecting through the Internet and face-to-face encounters to discuss and work towards a culturally creative and free Oceania." (Hau'ofa, 2008, p. 81)

This articulation by Hau'ofa is central to this thesis because it questions the ways that Pacific cultures have been colonised and undervalued through political integration into 'a homogenising global system', and it argues for the vital cultural agency of creative practice, as a space freer from those homogenising forces, with the capacity to connect and inspire kin across the region. It also highlights the implications for the way in which development that

.

² Te Reo Māori term for challenge.

has failed to account for Oceanian culture, so that it often lacks meaningful engagement with Oceanian contexts and ways of understanding.

Political understandings of what it means to be free might entail visions of decolonising states, of referenda for independence from imperial rule. The kind of freedom that Hau'ofa (2008) and Wendt (1976) speak of is that from the colonial construct of who we are as Pacific Islands, and our way of being as Pacific Islanders. This literature review will help to unpack this articulation by examining literature that speaks to these themes. While these separate sections address distinct bodies of literature, their intersections highlight important questions regarding culture and development in the region.

Culture and development

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) defines culture as 'the whole complex of distinctive spiritual, material, intellectual and emotional features that characterise a society or social group' which also includes 'not only the arts and letters but also modes of life, the fundamental rights of the human being, value systems, traditions and beliefs' (UNESCO, 1982, paragraph 6). The World Commission on Culture and Development (the Commission) defines culture as "ways of living together" (World Commission on Culture and Development, 1996, p. 14). These definitions are helpful for understanding the way that institutions have framed culture, particularly in policy terms. That such definitions draw attention to the importance of creative practise and cultural heritage is important because they combine broad anthropological definitions with cultural expression.

Institutional recognition and support for culture in the development agenda saw a turning point in the 1980s with a flurry of events and policy documents which reflected growing support for and recognition of culture's place in mainstream development. UNESCO instituted the Decade for Culture Development from 1988-1998. The purpose of the decade was to draw attention to cultural dimensions of development and in turn promote more holistic approaches to development (Stupples and Teaiwa, 2017). Some important shifts occurred, including the emergence of normative standards such as: the Recommendation on the Safeguarding of Traditional Culture and Folklore (1989), the Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity (2001), the Convention on the Protection of Underwater Cultural Heritage (2001), the Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage (2003) and

the Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions (2005) (Ibid). During this decade, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) launched the publication of the Human Development Report. This recognised the broadening of choices as an important aspect of human development.

Critical to this period was the establishment of the World Commission on Culture and Development (the Commission) in 1992. Its purpose was to review the relationship of culture to development. The Commission's report Our Creative Diversity is still considered an important and relevant contribution to the debate on culture and development (Stupples and Teaiwa, 2017). Among some of its radical approaches is the recommendation to "oppose tendencies toward cultural homogenization" (Margolin, 1996, p. 131). It promotes diversity by arguing for "[a] multi-ethnic policy, a multi-language policy, a policy representing different religious points of view" (World Commission on Culture and Development, 1996, p. 214). The Commission also began the first "World Culture Reports" to 'survey trends in culture and development, monitor events affecting the state of cultures worldwide, construct quantitative cultural indicators, highlight good cultural practices and policies and analyse specific themes of general importance accompanied by policy suggestions' (UNESCO, 1998, p. 5). These reports, along with others such as Investing in Cultural Diversity and Intercultural Dialogue (UNESCO, 2009), and the Creative Economy Reports (UNCTAD, 2008; 2010; United Nations, UNESCO and UNDP, 2013) signal ongoing international engagement with the culture/development nexus.

The end of the UN Decade for Cultural Development was marked by the Intergovernmental Conference on Cultural Policies for Development took place in 1998 in Stockholm. The purpose of this was to find ways to translate the *Our Creative Diversity* report into practice. This report recognised cultural diversity as essential for development, highlighting the value of cultural pluralism and creative diversity. The conference resulted in the publication of the *Action Plan on Cultural Policies for Development* (UNESCO, 1998). This publication called for financial and human resource support to be made available for cultural development (Ibid, p. 6).

These developments show that the institutional support for culture in development has increased significantly over the last three decades. The establishment of the Commission, the UN Decade for Cultural Development and review mechanisms; the publication of global state-

of-the-field reports and policy documents indicate that the international development community has been serious about pursuing cultural development outcomes and processes. *Our Creative Diversity* (1995) highlights the need for diversified understandings of and approaches to, cultural development. It also shows the Commission's recognition of culture as important to the development agenda not only as a substantive area but also to the way that we 'do' development. However, while there is agreement amongst scholars that culture ought to feature in the development agenda, questions remain about how it should be incorporated (Desai & Potter, 2008, p. 50). Claims about how culture has been operationalised in development planning and practice have been met with some scepticism about how genuine such attempts are and how likely they are to yield any meaningful outcomes in development practice (see Apthorpe, 2005; Clammer 2005; Da Costa, 2010; Nederveen Pieterse, 2010).

There has been some literature on the reasons why institutions have failed to integrate culture meaningfully into the development agenda. Apthorpe (2005) argues that culture and development are incommensurable because of the tendency of development to be positivistic; and that the traditional development model fails to account for actors and their agency (p. 135). Vlassis (2017), referring specifically to the creative industries as one strand of cultural development, argues there are three primary reasons for their marginalisation. The first is that the strategies of the leading organisation UNESCO are fragmented and that its top-down approach lacks a connection with targeted communities. Secondly, that developed countries are indifferent about the cultural development agenda and are therefore unwilling to sufficiently fund such projects (see also Finnemore & Sikknik, 1998; Ingebritsen, 2002). Thirdly, cultural and arts-focused NGOs do not have the funding nor the capacity to lobby nationally and internationally for cultural development as a priority. Since the inception of the SDGs, there has been a greater level of international integration and promotion of the value of cultural and creative industries. However, it continues to be in the same top-down manner that has occurred historically (Vlassis, 2017). Neverdeen Pieterse (1995) has criticised what he calls the "add culture and stir" approach in development. He argues that this approach does not actually address the issue with the development machinery – which is that the machinery itself does not account for culture, for the local (p. 184).

Cultural and creative industries

In recent years, attention has shifted from broader attempts to integrate culture and development to a more economically focussed approach which centres around ways to build cultural and creative industries (CCI) (Stupples, 2014).

CCI are "sectors of organised activity whose principal purpose is the production or reproduction, promotion, distribution and/or commercialisation of goods, services and activities of a cultural, artistic or heritage-related nature" (UNESCO, 2017).³ CCI falls within a lexicon of terms that deal with the commercialisation of cultures, technology innovations and systems of goods and services. It is "a complex system that derives its 'economic value' from the facilitation of economic evolution – a system that manufactures attention, complexity, identity and adaptation through the primary resource of creativity" (Cunningham, Banks and Potts, 2008, p. 17).

The Creative Economy Reports (published in 2008, 2010 and 2013) have analysed the increasing value and growth of the creative economy, and particularly drawn attention to their economic potential for poorer countries. The first two reports (published by UNCTAD) place a great deal of emphasis on creative economies as a key area for development, "[d]eveloping countries can further integrate into the global economy by nurturing their creative capacities and enhancing the competitiveness of their creative goods and services in world markets, provided that appropriate public policies are in place at the national level and market imbalances can be redressed at the international level" (UNCTAD, 2008, p. 5). The distinction between artistic creativity and economic creativity suggests that the noneconomic benefits were not valued as highly in those first two reports. In the 2013 Creative Economy Report: Widening Development Pathways there was a notable shift which highlighted the benefits of the creative economy to human development. These benefits are categorised into three domains. Firstly, that cultural expression allows for people – whether acting individually or collectively – to create and use platforms from which they can and do effect social and political change (UNDP and UNESCO, 2013, p. 40). The second is the importance attached to tangible and intangible cultural heritage as means of cultural memory-making and showing ways of relating to people and environment (UNDP and

_

³ This definition of CCI broadly covers all areas of the arts and cultural sectors, there are three terms which have been used – sometimes in a distinguishable manner and at other times interchangeably.

UNESCO, 2013, p. 44). Thirdly, urban planning and architecture enables well-being – both for individuals and groups (UNDP and UNESCO, 2013, p. 47). This important shift from the solely economic focus of the first two reports, draws on the extensive earlier work undertaken by the World Commission and the *Action Plan on Cultural Development Policies* (UNESCO, 1998).

Building on this body of literature by UN agencies, in December 2015, the International Confederation of Authors and Composer Society (CISAC) commissioned a report on the state of CCI across the globe. This report, titled *Cultural times – the first global map of cultural and creative industries* ("*Cultural times*"), calculated the total global value of CCI at US\$2,250b (CISAC and UNESCO, 2015, p. 15). The Asia-Pacific (APAC) region which includes Central Asia and Caucasian countries is the world's biggest CCI market, generating US\$743b of revenues and 12.7 million jobs (EYGM Limited, 2015, p. 16). While the APAC region, according to *Cultural times* has the largest CCI sector – in both revenue and employment – the inclusion of large economies such as China, Australia and Japan obscures any meaningful data on CCI in the islands of Oceania. Perhaps most importantly it gives recognition to the vitality of digital technologies to the growth and trajectory of CCI. *Cultural times* and its endorsement by UNESCO reflects the global appetite for the growth of CCI and its potential as an area requiring attention, particularly as part of diversified and sustainable development agendas.

Although economic arguments in favour of CCIs have the strategic role of drawing attention to the sector and its possibilities, this also means that the creative industries are valued more highly than the broader cultural sector (without accounting for the relationship between the cultural sector and creative industries), and that those industries are primarily valued for their capacity to generate income. The trajectory of development policy in relation to culture has moved from ignoring culture in development policy, to a broader engagement with the importance of culture context for the sucess of development projects, to a narrower approach where culture is valued in development policy only insofar as it can generate income.

Critiques of this view – not only the commodification of culture and creativity but also the integration of such a view into public policy – have emerged, particularly in the last two decades. Culture in development is problematic because it requires actors to demonstrate the productivity of cultural practice (Apthorpe, 2005). This in turn necessitates models that monitor and evaluate the 'success' of creative economy. However, if we are to agree with the above arguments that culture can be transformative, socially beneficial for individuals and

communities then the question arises to how we measure such outcomes. Even prior to the publication of the Creative Economy reports there was institutional recognition of the incommensurability of creative economy projects with typical monitoring and evaluation mechanisms:

"In a world of commodified culture, however, creativity is too often taken for granted or dismissed. Perhaps this is because it is not always understood and is difficult to measure. This is especially true when its expression is not an individual but a collective act...Active participation in cultural expression by the people remains undervalued. Whether it is expressed by the amateur artist or community efforts, creativity as a social force is often neglected." (World Commission on Culture and Development, 1996, p. 23).

The complexity of quantifying the benefits of practicing, growing and exchanging culture also makes it hard to put into policy and practice. It is difficult to state with certainty whether creativity and culture are undervalued *because* their value is hard to quantify or whether they have always been undervalued *and* measuring their value is problematic. Even in spite of efforts to recognise the value of culture, whether economic, social or otherwise, the incorporation of culture into development policy in a way that is not merely "putting new labels on old bottles" has remained elusive (Stupples and Teaiwa, 2017, p. 4).⁴ There remain questions about the homogenising nature of mainstream development practice and the difficulty of engaging with local understandings of culture in ways that are meaningful for local communities.

The only way, it seems, that creative industries may be valued in the development context, other than for economic return, is if they are used instrumentally as a mechanism to communicate development messages. A significant example of this in Oceania, is donor support for film and television production by the Vanuatu-based NGO *Wan Smol Bag*, which creates highly successful edutainment programmes on issues such as gender-based violence, HIV transmission, and other public health issues like malaria prevention. The NGO has been funded primarily by the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) for over 10 years.

-

⁴ See also Apthorpe, 2005; Clammer, 2005.

This section has reviewed the literature on the global trends in culture and development. It shows that the importance of culture (as it informs development processes) and cultural expression (as a process that facilitates development outcomes) has been recognised. It also highlights, however, that they remain largely marginalised by mainstream development priorities and processes. The next section discusses how regional policy approaches have incorporated or framed culture and its importance to development.

Growing the cultural sector in Oceania

Articulations of Pacific regionalism have not only been made in respect of geo-political cooperation but also in terms of cultural understandings. For organisations such as the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat (PIFS) and the Pacific Community (SPC) culture, while sharing similarities across the region, has largely been associated with the nation-state. Thus, while Pacific regionalism has fostered cooperation at the governance level, this has not, at a regional policy level, translated to a recognition of a regional culture or creative imagination. This is reflected in the way that PIF has formulated and negotiated its regional policies. Its primary strategic policy document is the *Pacific Plan*.

In the *Pacific Plan* culture has only appeared as an element of sustainable development, "[d]evelopment of a regional plan to maintain and strengthen Pacific cultural identity through regional agencies, including relevant studies" (Pacific Plan, 2007). The strategic objective was to "[r]ecognise and protect cultural values, identities and traditional knowledge" and proposed two specific initiatives for the first three years (2006-08):

- i. Develop a strategy to maintain and strengthen Pacific cultural identity
- ii. Create an institution to advocate for and protect traditional knowledge and intellectual property rights

There are no definitions within the plan of culture, Pacific culture or cultural identity. While the notion of the "Pacific Way", made famous by Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara the then, Prime Minister of Fiji at the United Nations in 1970, seemed to reflect a regional consciousness united by cultural similarities and understandings — this aspiration was not realised in the formulation of the *Pacific Plan* nor in other cultural policy.

The regional leadership taken by SPC and COPAC have encouraged national governments to set goals and engage with local stakeholders with a view to formulating policy (Teiawa and

Huffer, 2017). Efforts have also been made to establish policy frameworks for heritage culture. This occurred following the ratification by many island states of the Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions (UNESCO, 2005) and the Convention on the Safeguarding of Intangible Heritage (UNESCO, 2003). The latter also sparked efforts to increase the number of Pacific World Heritage Sites (Teaiwa and Huffer, 2017). Earlier this decade, one of the SPC's primary goals for structuring culture within national policies and creating national policy frameworks. This was supported by funding from the European Union grant of 713,474 EUR and occurred from 2010-2013 (Ibid, p. 71). The focus for these initiatives is heritage or tangible cultures that are often associated with the "traditional" (Ibid.).

In relation to culture and development the key policy document for the Oceanian region is the *Regional Culture Strategy: Investing in Pacific Cultures 2010-2020* (RCS). The RCS is currently in its second phase. After having reviewed the first phase of the RCS implementation,⁵ SPC and COPAC made some important observations about the direction of culture within the development agenda for the region. An area of emphasis is the potential for economic benefits to the region if investments are made in the cultural sector:

"Cultural industries and cultural tourism are creating new opportunities and development pathways for producers, communities and countries. Although there have been significant developments in the cultural industries in certain countries, there is still a need for continued focus on regulatory measures and an enabling environment for stakeholders. Cultural tourism is a new focus of the tourism industry regionally and nationally in many countries, and it is important that its parameters are clearly defined and that its development ensures shared benefits." (SPC and COPAC, 2018, p. 4).

This indicates the growing perception, which is consistent with other global perspectives, of the potential within the cultural sector to diversify and grow economies. In 2014, a new project — Cultures + - led by the European Union (EU), in partnership with the African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) was also set up to help national governments establish policy environments that would enable and encourage the growth of cultural industries — both nationally and regionally (Teaiwa and Huffer, 2017).

-

⁵ The review was not published as a separate document.

Hau'ofa (2008) wrote about the importance of creativity and the arts in Oceania. In contrast to the notion of culture for commodification and economic growth, he states:

It allows our creative minds to draw on far larger pools of cultural traits than those of our tiny individual national lagoons. It makes us less insular without being submerged in the amorphousness of the global cultural morass (p. 87).

This discourse speaks to the strength of creativity in Oceania and its practice as an important way to resist globalising and homogenising cultures. What Hau'ofa and his colleagues at the University of the South Pacific (USP) aimed to achieve with the Oceanian Centre for Arts and Culture (OCAC)⁶ was to expand the art and culture spaces to include contemporary arts such as dance, fusion forms of visual arts, music and dance (Teaiwa and Huffer, 2017).

What this literature highlights is an uptake by regional institutions of some of the dominant discourses which reinforce economic value as the most important driver of development policy and practice. It also highlights efforts within the region to grow many forms of cultural expression.

Regional connection through festivalisation

Despite national governments providing relatively little in terms of support for the cultural sector or for cultural practices, the performance of culture at regional festivals is an important aspect for the articulation of both national and regional identities. The significance of this has been recognised in recent years, by a proliferation of literature which examines the importance of festival spaces to cultural expression, practice and exchange in Oceania (Kornelly, 2008, Mackley-Crump, 2011). The growth in such festival spaces has been called 'festivalisation' (Mackley-Crump, 2011). Such work has provided insight into how Oceanian communities living in the diaspora connect to their 'homelands' and highlights the importance of festivals spaces as places of regional connection.

The Festival of the Pacific Arts (FOPA) is a highly significant regional festival, held every four years. It was conceived by the Conference of the South Pacific Commission (now the Secretariat of the Pacific Community or SPC) and began in 1972. The purpose of the FOPA is to celebrate the cultural diversity across Oceania and to stop the erosion of the traditional practices by sharing and exchanging culture at each festival (Teaiwa and Huffer, 2017). This

⁶ Now known as the Oceanian Centre for Arts, Culture and Pacific Studies.

exchange includes performative cultures, navigational practices, visual arts and traditional healing practices among other examples of indigenous practices (Henry and Foana'ota, 2015). It is held every four years and is hosted by a different Pacific Island state which is a member of the Council of Pacific Arts and Culture (CPAC). The last FOPA in 2016 was hosted by Guam and 27 delegations from Pacific Island countries and territories were in attendance.

Film and Oceania

Film has been part of these festivals for several years, despite a lack of state support for production and distribution. The agency of film-making by Pacific peoples is particularly powerful given the colonial history of film in the region: which framed the 'exotic' Pacific through a reductionist and stereotyping colonial gaze. As such, the agency of film-making in the region is tied to arguments for indigenous film-making globally as a space to reclaim narratives, for decolonising the screen and asserting screen sovereignty.

There has been significant growth in indigenous film production in the last three decades (Wood, 2008). The motivation for such growth is borne from wider struggles with the colonial legacy (Pearson and Knabe, 2014; Wilson and Stewart, 2008). Indigenous film, as a practice, seeks to address and reclaim stories of indigenous communities. Māori screenwriter and director Barry Barclay theorised indigenous film as 'Fourth Cinema' (1998, 1990, 2003), arguing that indigenous people must have control of the lens where indigenous story-telling on screen is concerned. He also wrote of his concern for indigenous film and its relationship with the "commercial imperative in cinema" (Milligan, 2017, p.2), stating "...if we as indigenous story-tellers become hell-bent on satisfying the mass audiences and the commercial barons...we may cease to be storytellers for our own people" (Barclay, 2003b, p. 15). Merata Mita, the first indigenous woman in the world to solely direct a feature length film, also echoed the importance of screen sovereignty (Lamche and Mita, 2008; Reeves, 2007; Britos, 2003). Discussion of indigenous film-making is couched in terms of control over indigenous narratives and is seen as an important part of the global decolonisation agenda (Pearson and Knabe, 2014; Wilson and Stewart, 2008).

In Oceania, much film about or situated in the region has been for historical purposes (and often undertaken by a colonial power) or for the pursuit of anthropological studies (Ballard and Landman, 2010). Most of these films have been made by non-Pacific Islanders.

Commercially successful films such as *Once Were Warriors* (1994) and *Boy* (2010) have tended to address Oceanians as socially marginalised within the diaspora (Landman & Ballard, 2010), and generally covered themes of "hybrid or traumatised identities, migration and diasporas" (Landman & Ballard, 2010, p. 7).

Landman and Ballard (2010) also argue that film has been used as a colonising tool, as a means of accessing and framing 'other worlds'. While not all films that are about Oceania and its inhabitants are documentaries, documentaries make up the largest body of films (Landman & Ballard, 2010). Film and television creative Justine Simei-Barton has argued that Pacific peoples reclaiming the lens was an important way to address the "powerful accumulation of images and attitudes about the Pacific that constitute one of the most enduring legacies of colonialism" (1997, p. 73). Not only does this reclaiming of the lens apply to issues of representations of Oceania and Oceanian peoples, but it also addresses the 'authenticity' of the stories that are told. While questions around authenticity can often be "slippery" (Simei-Barton, 1997, p. 4), they are still important ones to ask.

Zalipour (2019) argues that Jo Smith's (2011) notion of "Oceanic consciousness" as a means to resist settler colonialism's tendency to delineate cultural groups along nation-state lines, is one useful way to analyse film and film-making.

Moana

Disney's animated film *Moana* (2017) is one recent example which highlights some of the complexities about defining films in ways that represent diverse peoples, communities and stories in Oceania. The film follows the journey of a young woman who, against her father's wishes, sets out to restore the heart of Te Fiti which had been stolen by Māui, the demi-god. Successfully doing this would in turn, restore her island of Motunui to equilibrium.

The film itself was well-received globally, and was nominated for many awards, including a Golden Globe for Best Motion Picture – Animated and Oscar for Best Achievement in Music Written for Motion Pictures (IMDb, 2017). It was lauded by reviewers for portraying a female protagonist as a hero in her own right rather than a Disney princess in need of saving by a man (Brew, 2016; Kermode, 2016; Grierson, 2016). Some drew parallels between the plight of Motunui and the greater Pacific as we battle with the consequences of climate change (see Canavan, 2018; Kermode, 2016). *Moana* was significant for Oceanians globally because it

essentially put one of our stories on the big screen. It told a story that was significantly different to the stories of other Disney princesses. It seemed evident by some accounts that some of the film-making team had undertaken research and consultation during the film-making process (Tamaira and Fonoti, 2018).

However, there has also been significant criticism from prominent Oceanian scholars and filmmakers. Some raised questions about the authenticity of the story, including about the depiction of Māui (see Roy, 2016; Timeout, 2016; Tupou, 2017), the asexual nature of the characters (Tamaira and Fonoti, 2018; Hereniko, 2018) and about the commodification of Oceanian stories and ancestors (Grandinetti, 2017). Hereniko (2018) summarises these criticisms:

"It is decidedly not okay that Disney appropriates and commodifies our stories, our gods, our mana; and certainly, as scholar-activists like Tina Ngata have made clear, it is abhorrent that this appropriation made plastic will only add to the great garbage patches clogging the oceans - our oceans - that support life. There is a lot to be critical of here, including the lack of Pacific and female representation in the film's crew of writers and directors, its Polycentricism, and the messianic narrative that would single out one chiefly Polynesian girl from her community as its savior, even if Moana doesn't do it alone. Disney's work, ultimately, is not a call for humanity to responsibly steward our oceans; we understand it as a capitalist dream machine. The loloma/aloha we feel in response to this story is in echo to our own reflections and reflections of our beloved Oceania. For more, we must look to our own work" (p. 228)

This reflection is an articulation of the importance of representation, voice and respect in creating and producing film that tells Oceanian stories in a manner that is culturally appropriate and empowering for Oceanians. The responses to *Moana* are not simply polarising; they are more complex than that. The quality of the animation and presentation a part of Pacific imagery; the reverence of navigation across the Pacific Ocean and its origins; and music that showcases some of the enormous talent here in Oceania – these are all things to be celebrated. However, the issues of voice, agency and power discussed above remain. This debate highlights the political and cultural importance of growing film-making in Oceania to ensure that stories are told and shared with the kind of authenticity that is not compromised by a global capitalist agenda.

The discourse about culture and development demonstrates recognition of the importance of culture and cultural expression to aspects of human development and a contribution to wider understandings of development. While this discourse is not in direct conversation with

the regional imaginary that Wendt (1976) and Hau'ofa (2008) advocate for, there is a significant overlap. That lies in the agency of communities and the specificity of context – especially place. These agendas and their overlap are narrowed down significantly by aims to produce commercial outcomes from the creative industries. The relative lack of engagement with film and CCI by governments in Oceania, in spite of some important work done by the SPC and the political power of film (as shown by indigenous communities) demonstrates that institutions in the region have not recognised the value of film.

Conceptual framework

This section draws together scholarship from Pacific Studies and Post-development, the intersection of which will be used as the conceptual framework of this thesis. The first section discusses what Pacific Studies is and why I considered it vital in my approach to my thesis, as a Pasifika student exploring creative practices resonate strongly with political articulations that emerge form Pacific Studies. I then go on to explore the meaning of the term "Oceania" and its importance to my research on kinship collaborations among film-makers in the region. Lastly, I discuss post-development, as a space that allows for practices that carry social, cultural and political agency beyond mainstream development frameworks, and then how the two disciplinary approaches to both scholarship and practice intersect.

Pacific Studies

The history of research in Oceania and about its peoples, as carried out largely by those who do not have Oceanian heritage. This has led to the disempowerment and marginalisation of indigenous knowledge and narratives. Countering the long history of colonial knowledge production, Pacific Studies provides a situated, contextualised alternative way of studying things Pacific beyond a geographical sense. This section outlines some of the methodological influences of Pacific Studies as well as key ways that regional identities have been theorised. The rationale for incorporating a Pacific Studies approach is that it not only provides a methodology, but it also theorises about agency, representation and culture in the region, all of which are key concerns of this thesis.

A Pacific Studies approach (Teaiwa, 2010; Wesley-Smith, 1995; Whimp, 2008) is one which draws on some of the otherwise global aspects of postcolonial theory. Three 'pillars' of Pacific Studies are interdisciplinarity, indigeneity and comparitivity (Whimp, 2008).

Interdisciplinarity requires the selection and amalgamation of theoretical tools and methods from a range of disciplines as appropriate to the research. Comparitivity means that the research seeks to compare people, places, processes and things – whether locally, nationally, internationally or otherwise. Indigeneity places indigenous voice and perspectives in a central role, decolonising Pacific scholarship which has long been dominated by external agendas. These pillars encourage researchers to interrogate spaces and in doing so highlight how the agency of Oceanians is being exercised (or not) in ways that are not limited by the boundaries of academic disciplines. Pacific Studies, as it relates to this thesis goes beyond the geographical relevance. It also means understanding film practice and development in the region as processes that connect and affect communities. Employing a comparative approach means that spaces in the region do not become laboratories in which a single area, community or context is the site of a singular study. Instead, practising comparativity means maintaining a sense of perspective and not carrying out scholarship in an insular manner.

In order to produce research that is useful and empowering, we must understand different ways of knowing and being. Oceanic identities are tied to people and place, including the ocean. This means that Pacific Studies scholarship must account for this both in research process but also outcomes. The next section looks at definitions of Oceania as a region. This is particularly important in the pursuit of Pacific scholarship that moves beyond Eurocentric perspectives of the region and its diverse knowledge systems.

Articulations of Oceania

The use of the term "Oceania" can be traced discursively to Albert Wendt's essay 'Towards a New Oceania' (1976) and Epeli Hau'ofa's essay 'Our Sea of Islands' (1993, 2008) – both of which have been influential in the proliferation of literature centred on the term (Te Punga Somerville, 2012). Wendt's (1976) essay argues for a reclaiming of Oceanic identities through creativity, which accounts for the fraught historical relationship between culture and colonisation in Oceania. He describes his journey to the elusive Hawaiki, a place which is such an integral part of Polynesian mythology:

"In our various groping ways, we are all in search of that heaven, that Hawaiki, where our hearts will find meaning; most of us find it, or, at the moment of finding it, fail to recognise it. At this stage in my life I have found it in Oceania: it is a return to where I was born, or, put another way, it is a search for where I was born" (Wendt, 1976, p. 50).

Whimp (2010) argues that this return to Oceania was not a physical return but instead a return to activities which served as a metaphorical return; a return to the kind of writing that would contribute to the decolonisation of the region. Wendt's reimagination of the Pacific as a region – as Oceania – was rather revolutionary. This is in part because of the mere fact that a Pacific Islander was now writing about the Pacific, as opposed to (yet more) *palagi* writing about the Pacific and Pacific Islanders. An Oceanic imaginary moves away from a colonised view of the Pacific; one that fails to account for the agency of Pacific communities and actors within those communities; one that fails to account for the fluidity and continuity of Pacific, or Oceanic ways of being. It also highlights the importance of a regional imaginary – one linked, not necessarily by a cultural monolith but by shared histories and kinship. These ideas are helpful in conceptualising the power of Pacific film-making and filmic collaborations that I encountered in my research.

Epeli Hau'ofa's *Our Sea of Islands* builds on this perspective of the Pacific Islands. He posits that the way the Pacific Islands have been conceptualised and subsequently placed within the development paradigm has been one which strips Pacific Islanders of agency and is characterised by deficit-thinking – where the Pacific Islands are seen as tiny (and dependent) islands separated by vast Oceanic spaces. He argues that rather than seeing ourselves as an area in need of external help, incapable of resolving our own issues we ought to see the Ocean as a connecting force within the region.

The notion of regional cooperation is not a novel concept. As discussed above the establishment of organisations such as the Pacific Islands Forum and the South Pacific Commission suggest a decades-long history of fostering and encouraging regional integration — particularly by the former colonial powers. However, this kind of regionalism is bound up with geographic and political ties, largely borne out of colonisation — as opposed to the kind of regional identity grounded in people and place as Hau'ofa has suggested. He argues that the Oceanian Centre for Arts and Culture (OCAC) serves as an example for the practice of a regional identity, and OCAC is in fact a part of the University of the South Pacific (USP). OCAC is a "hub for the creation of a unique blend of contemporary Pacific island arts" (University of the South Pacific, 2018) and is now home to a number of programmes aimed at growing Oceanian cultural expression. However, its establishment is not bound to the colonial history of institutions like the PIF and the Secretariat for the Pacific Community. Hau'ofa's later work

The Ocean in Us (2008) argues that we ought to conceptualise ourselves as a region because of the common ground that we share in our worldviews – many of which are deeply tied to the Ocean. This regional identity which is rooted in people and place is one that could be significantly transformative for Oceania, if it were recognised by international and non-governmental organisations as a means of connecting communities to one another.

James Clifford's *Indigenous Articulations* (2001) provides a foundation for understanding the messiness of the ways in which we understand and articulate our connections — with the Pacific. Clifford argues in his application of Stuart Hall's articulation theory to understandings of Pacific natives, that binaries such as of inside/outside, native/non-native are not helpful. Rather articulations of indigeneity and native-ness are complex understandings of identity are not necessarily limited by time and place but are instead understandings that are fluid and in part, shaped by past and memory. This thesis will draw on this sense of 'articulation' and what is means to be an Oceanian.

Aotearoa in Oceania

In framing Oceanic connections, it is important to consider the relationship of indigenous peoples in settler-colonial states like Aotearoa and Australia. This is important for this research because creative collaborations between film-makers in the region include those between Māori and Pacific Islanders, with some Māori film-makers actively articulating their kinship to film-makers in other parts of Oceania.

As indigenous to Aotearoa, Maori had been marginalised in many ways — by historical processes.⁷ This distinction between Pacific and Māori as being separate, comes from their relationship with the nation-state of Aotearoa, as Te Punga Somerville (2012) argues. In contrast, her work draws on numerous examples of ways in which Māori have articulated themselves and have been articulated as belonging within the Oceanian community, particularly in literature. For example, in 2009 Tate Pewhairangi described the seventy fifth anniversary of the Te Hono ki Rarotonga, a meetinghouse opened in 1934 as evidence of connections between Rarotonga and Tokomaru Bay, "We are honoured that our 'cousins' from Te Moana Nui a Kiwa attended the festivities. Our reo is similar, and our tikanga and ancient stories are also very similar" (Kokiri, 2009). This is an example of the many ways in

-

⁷ For important discussion on Māori history see Orange, 2013; O'Malley, 2016.

which the relationships between Māori and Pasifika peoples have been articulated in a way that positions Māori as Oceanic kin too.

Using literature and historical interactions Te Punga Somerville articulates the separation of Māori and Pasifika as a construction of the diaspora:

"these configurations of Māori connections with Pacific do not merely describe historical links but also engage ongoing connections between "relatives". Although Māori are ethnically Polynesian and Aotearoa is clearly a part of the Pacific region within the New Zealand national space, Māori and Pacific colloquially refer to those migrant communities from elsewhere in the region" (Te Punga Somerville, 2012, p. xvii).

The literature on regional networks as well as connections between Māori and Pasifika communities, both geographic and genealogical, create a sound rationale for conceptualising Māori and Pasifika within this thesis as part of Oceania. This is not to say that Māori and Pasifika communities (both of which are diverse in and of themselves) ought to be lumped into one group – merely that there are connections that blur the dividing lines between Māori and Pasifika that we have become accustomed to using in Aotearoa.

Post-development

Modern development practice, established following WWII with the founding of the Bretton Woods institutions, in the context of growing geopolitical polarisation associated with Cold War, has received a great deal of criticism, particularly from the developing world. Much of this criticism has focused on the discursive framing that homogenised and reduced the 'Third World' as a place in need (Escobar, 1995; Sachs, 1992; Crush, 1995 and; Rahmena and Bawtree, 1997), and in need of intervention by a powerful but apparently beneficent 'First World'. Consequently, many became disillusioned with development policy, seeing it as a form of neocolonial control that maintained rather than addressed inequalities (McGregor, 2009; Ziai, 2004). Post-development critique posits that development is not a neutral process but instead is entrenched in social and political interests (Escobar, 1995, p. 10). This way of thinking, while helpful in problematising development as a global project and recognising how fraught such a project might be, was in some cases a rejection of development altogether (Escobar, 1995; Esteva, 1992; Esteva and Prakesh, 1997; Rahmena, 1997; Latouche, 1986; Sachs, 1992a, 1992b).

Post-development theory repoliticises development. It questions development agendas, power relationships between the developed and developing worlds, and the ways that these relationships influence the production of knowledge, and how that knowledge feeds into the formulation of the development project (Gibson-Graham, 2008). In this way, post-development theory sees inequalities as a political product rather than through a technical lens (McGregor, 2009). It seeks to undermine reductive approaches to development and find alternative approaches to development grounded in people and place, in context (Ibid.).

Post-development has received a great deal of criticism for dividing development discourses into unhelpful binaries – modernity as bad and anti-modernity as good, for example – while neglecting the positive aspects of modernity and development (see Corbridge, 1998; Pieterse, 2000). Along this line of argument, post-development theorists have been criticised because many have done so from their ivory towers, within the academy (Klein et al, 2011) and much of the early post-development theory did not offer an alternative solution (see Pieterse, 2000; Schuurman, 2000).

Nustad (2001, p. 479) argued, however, that post-development's lack of instrumentality, does not mean that it ought to be dismissed altogether.

"The postdevelopment agenda is not, as we see it, anti-development. The challenge of postdevelopment is not to give up on development, nor to see all development practice – past, present and future, in wealthy and poor countries – as tainted, failed, retrograde; as though there were something necessarily problematic and destructive about deliberate attempts to increase social wellbeing through economic intervention; as though there were a space of purity beyond or outside development that we could access through renunciation. The challenge is to imagine and practice development differently" (Gibson-Graham, 2005)

The challenge as articulated by Gibson-Graham is one that seeks to address the most wanting criticism of post-development – that it lacks a programme or pragmatic dimension. While there is a part of the post-development critique that advocates against development entirely (for example Sachs, 1992), there are other, more hopeful approaches to post-development. These may include a development approach which accounts for culture in a meaningful way, seeks to politicise relationships between development stakeholders and focuses on people and place. This thesis explores the possibilities for film-making to be seen as a form of hopeful post-development practice.

In addition, hopeful geographies (Gibson-Graham, 2005; Macgregor, 2009), the turn of "well-being development" and its various conceptualisations (UNDP, 1990; Deneulin, 2014; Chambers, 1997; Gasper 2007; White, 2016), as well as the growing literature on indigenous epistemologies (Gegeo, 1998; Tuwere, 2002; Huffer and Qalo, 2004) are helpful starting points for reimagining development.

Conclusion

There is a significant literature on culture and its relationship with development. This has traced the changes that have led to the establishment of important institutions like the World Commission on Culture as well as publications like *Our Creative Diversity* (1995) which have given recognition to the importance of culture to and in development. Culture remains an area of development which informs both development processes and outcomes. The growing interest in creative economies (including film) as a development tool indicates the potential for film to realise mainstream development priorities.

Development in Oceania has largely been constrained to such mainstream development priorities such as primary health, education and governance. It has viewed familial connections across nation-state boundaries as economically beneficial because they enable flows of money from places such as New Zealand and Australia to the Pacific Islands. However, the growth of literature on indigenous or alternative notions of development serves to challenge mainstream conceptions of development. It also shows the importance of worldviews in shaping what development might look like. This is consistent with post-development theory which challenges mainstream development and its processes as political and shaped largely by the agendas of global powers.

The relationship between Oceania communities and film echoes many of the struggles that other indigenous communities have had, in dealing with the colonial legacy of film and the film-making process. The last three decades have seen a growth in indigenous film and indigenous literature on film. This has challenged the way that indigenous people and stories have been framed and presented to audiences elsewhere.

The intersection of these areas of literature lie in understanding the agency of the regional imaginary as articulated by scholars such as Wendt (1976) and Hau'ofa (2008). This imaginary highlights the importance of place and context, the vitality of creativity and culture, and the

ly

Chapter 3: Research Methods

My research seeks to examine the ways that film-making collaborations are taking place in Oceania and how these can be considered contributions of a hopeful form of post-development. This chapter discusses the indigenous epistemologies that inform this research and the range of qualitative methods I used. It begins with a brief explanation of my sites of inquiry. Although diverse, these were chosen because of the innovative practices of collaboration and articulations of Oceanic connection that I identified in each of them. I discuss my epistemological influences, followed by a discussion of methodologies and methods. I also explain in detail the ethical considerations that I had to consider in my research. The chapter ends with my reflections about my positionality as an Oceanian woman and how this influenced my approach to research.

Māoriland Film Festival and Through Our Lens

Māoriland Film Festival (MFF) is an indigenous film festival based in Ōtaki, Aotearoa. It has been running on an annual basis since 2014 and is directed by Libby Hakaraia.⁸ The intention of the festival is to become the Sundance festival of the South Pacific (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018; Māoriland, 2019) and to screen indigenous films⁹ from around the globe (Māoriland, 2019). It is networked with other significant indigenous film festivals around the globe, such as Canada's ImagineNATIVE. In its first festival, MFF brought indigenous film to Ōtaki locals for the first time bringing an audience of approximately 3,500 (Māoriland, 2019). Twenty international indigenous film-makers travelled from Canada, the United States, the Pacific Islands and Australia to celebrate the inaugural festival.

In 2016, the Māoriland Charitable Trust (MCT) was formed to "facilitate the operation of the festival and its growing programme of year-round activities" (Ibid.). The purpose of MCT is to "improve the social, economic and educational opportunities to the community of Ōtaki by means of screening indigenous films and organisation activities such as film-making workshops" (Ibid.). Its key focus is MFF and in recent years, the Māoriland Hub to "enable the development, education and encouragement of the creative arts" (Ibid). In 2017, MCT

⁸ Libby is Māori and descends from Ngāti Raukawa, Ngāti Kapumanawawhiti. She is a producer and director of television and film.

⁹ The definition of an indigenous film will be discussed further in my fourth chapter.

opened the Māoriland Hub in the Edhouses building in Ōtaki Village with a view to converting it into a multi-purpose arts, cinema and performance space (Ibid).

I attended the fifth MFF which took place from 21-25 March 2018 which screened 102 films from 65 indigenous nations. The programme also included the *NATIVE Minds* section which brings film-makers together to engage in discussion about issues affecting indigenous people and film. I also interviewed Libby in her capacity as director of MFF and a key facilitator of the Oceania-focused film development programme Through Our Lens (TOL).

TOL is a project under MFF which ran for the first time in 2017. It took 14 rangatahi film-makers aged 13-24 to Samoa, Hawai'i, Rarotonga and Tahiti to work with indigenous youth to tell film stories. TOL worked with 47 rangatahi across these countries to create nine short films which screened at MFF 2018. TOL ran again in 2018 and took five Māori rangatahi film-makers to Rarotonga to participate in film-making workshops. The aim of the project is "to create new Māori film leaders who will connect and collaborate with their peers in the Pacific, Indonesia and worldwide" (Māoriland, 2019). This project was an important example of emergent trans-Oceanic collaborative film-making.

Melanesian Arts and Cultural Festival

The 6th Melanesian Arts and Cultural Festival (MACFEST) took place in Honiara, Solomon Islands in from 1st- 10th July 2018. The theme of the festival was 'Past Recollections; Future Connections' and it sought to create a space in which the histories and cultures of Melanesian peoples would be celebrated as well as connecting them "as one people in diversity for a brighter connected future" (ICHCAP, 2019). The Festival was made up of five components: performing arts, traditional and contemporary arts, visual arts, literary arts and, workshops/symposiums/forums.

I attended the film component – which fell under the visual arts banner. The film component of MACFEST was significantly smaller than MFF. Films screened included *Wolsera Justice* (2016), directed by Llane Munau (Papua New Guinea) and *My Mother's Blood* (2017), directed by Katherine Reki (Papua New Guinea) as well as *Nidoish Naisseline* (2017) and *Imulal, des raciness et des reves*¹⁰ both directed by Nune Luepack (New Caledonia). After the screenings,

-

¹⁰ Imulal, a land, roots and dreams. Imulal is the term for a hut. The film is follows six New Caledonian students who migrate to France for education and their aspirations for New Caledonia's future.

the film-makers and audience members engaged in discussion around the film-making process, inspiration for their stories and why they chose film as the medium to tell that story.

Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific) and the Film Challenge

Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific) (*PC*) is a research project funded by the EU and was established to address gender issues in the Pacific through film. It follows on from a reporting project in 2014 which sought to collect data on the state of gender issues in the region. The first phase of *PC*, which was completed in July 2018 was a regional scope of the appetite for countries to take up film as a tool to address gender issues in development. This scoping exercise took the international team (from Scotland, Papua New Guinea and Samoa) through Papua New Guinea, Solomon Islands, Vanuatu, Fiji, Tonga, Niue and Samoa. It was in the Solomon Islands at MACFEST that I met the *PC* team. The team comprised of Tony Crook, ¹¹ Neil Montgomery, ¹² Togialelei Safua Akeli Amaama, ¹³ Galumalemana Steven Percival, ¹⁴ and Fiona Hukulua, ¹⁵ and Llane Munau. ¹⁶ Although led by Scottish academics (working in Pacific Studies), this project brought together a significant group of film-makers and academics in the region.

Alongside the Pacific Connection project was a short film competition in Samoa called the *Film Challenge (FC)*, that centred around the theme of gender inequality. It was organised by the CSS at National University of Samoa. Initially, it began as a film competition open to those with less than two years of experience in the film industry (Centre for Samoan Studies, 2018). The purpose of the competition was "to build not only the capacity of emerging narrators and film-makers through workshops but to facilitate opportunities through which work can be viewed by regional film makers, potential sponsors and the public" (Ibid).

The challenge was originally set to run from 13^{th} June 2018 with several workshops taking place culminating in a film screening 2^{nd} October 2018. However, personnel changes and the *PC* scoping exercise meant that the submission dates were pushed out. CSS hosted a workshop supported by the Pacific Media Assistance Scheme (PACMAS) over three days from

¹¹ St Andrew's University, Director of Research, Social Anthropology.

¹² Film-maker, Scotland.

¹³ Director, Centre for Samoan Studies, National University of Samoa.

¹⁴ Film-maker, Samoa.

¹⁵ National Research Institute, Papua New Guinea.

¹⁶ Film-maker, activist, Papua New Guinea.

27th-29th September which provided film training to individuals interested in submitting a film for the challenge. The six films that were submitted screened on 30th November 2018. I interviewed Togialelei Safua Akeli Amaama in her role as part of *PC* and the *FC*.

Vai

Vai (2019) is a portmanteau feature film written and directed¹⁷ by nine women who whakapapa to various Pacific Islands but who hold New Zealand citizenship. It was filmed in seven different Pacific countries: Fiji, Tonga, Solomon Islands, Kuki Airani (Cook Islands), Samoa, Niue and Aotearoa. It follows the journey of a central female character called Vai, played by a different actress in each of the Pacific Island countries. The film was produced by Kerry Warkia¹⁸ and Kiel McNaughton.¹⁹ *Vai* was funded by Te Tumu Whakaata, New Zealand Film Commission (NZFC). It premiered at the Berlinale Film Festival in January 2019 as part of the *NATIVe* series.

The range of sites I examined reflect the diverse ways that film-makers connect across Oceania. Film-making driven by institutions, which are in turn directed and influenced by international agendas and priorities, are facilitating film-making differently to those concerned with increasing Pacific representation behind the lens and on the screen. Examining a film festival (MFF) was important because it illustrated the multiple forms of engagement and agency that take place, serving as a space for people to engage in dialogue relating to film-making, the politics of film production, and the kaupapa of indigenous film. Examining a sub-regional festival (MACFEST) was significant in the same way, but also gave a sense of how film fares in broader cultural festivals in the region, and in a context with no government support for the arts. *Vai* demonstrated both the possibilities for collaborative film-making in Oceania (and the international interest in film form the region) but also ongoing inequalities in the region in terms of access to funding and resources. It was supported by an institution dedicated to growing film-making, albeit in Aotearoa, which also the role of government support for stories on screen from Oceania.

¹⁷ The directors are: Nicole Whippy (Fiji), 'Ofa-Ki-Levuka Guttenbeil-Likiliki (Tonga), Matasila Freshwater (Solomon Islands), Amberley Jo Aumua (Samoa), Mīria George (Kuki Airani), Marina Alofagia McCartney (Samoa), Dianna Fuemana (Niue), Becs Arahanga (Aotearoa).

¹⁸ Kerry has produced a number of television and web series. She also founded Brown Sugar Apple Grunt Productions in 2006 with her husband Kiel McNaughton.

¹⁹ Kiel acted in the opera series *Shortland Street* for five years. He has also directed television and web series. He founded Brown Sugar Apple Grunt Productions in 2006 with his wife Kerry Warkia.

While these sites are not connected by institutional support or a particular kind of film-making, they provide insight into the diverse ways that film-makers in Oceania are connecting and collaborating. I discuss the significance of these sites independently and as inter-related phenomena, contributing to the growth and promotion of film in the region. These insights in turn shape my arguments about the relationship between film and (post)development, as well as the promise film-making might hold for cultural (post)development practice in Oceania. This multi-sited approach is also consistent with comparativity required of Pacific scholarship by Pacific Studies as a field. It allows for comparison not only between places but also scale and purpose of the film-making projects.

Epistemology

In my previous chapter I discussed the conceptual framework that structures my research. Pacific Studies and post-development share concerns about the specificity of place and context and encourage an approach to scholarship and practice that is particularly conscious of how language can shape discourse and, therefore, realities. I have chosen postdevelopment theory because it requires a more critical examination not just of what we do in development, but also how we go about doing development. This thesis aligns itself to what Gibson-Graham (2008) terms "hopeful geographies". This is essentially an approach that accounts for some of the unequal power relations, some of the assumptions that are devoid of context and where, in practice, the local becomes integral to development planning and programming. It also emphasies communities' capacities rather than the kind of deficit thinking that has become characteristic of development intervention planning. Gibson-Graham's articulation of post-development presents a number of intersections with Pacific Firstly, Hau'ofa's (1993; 2008) reimagining of the region which emphasises connectedness rather than smallness and focuses on community capacity. Secondly, a postdevelopment take on the MIRAB model (Bertram and Watters, 1985) would argue that individuals and families within and across nation-state borders are doing more than merely contributing to economic growth. Families are also ensuring social and cultural connections through practices such as fa'alavelave²⁰ and performative cultures. Thirdly, engaging with communities in a way that is respectful of localised understandings of development is aligned

²⁰ Refers to the process of giving a contribution, whether in money or kind, for important family events such as weddings and funerals.

with the notion of indigenisation (Teaiwa, 2010) and indigeneity (Gegeo, 1998). This is not about delineating researchers and practitioners along whakapapa lines but about finding ways for people and communities to collaborate respectfully – whether in spaces of research or practice. Such an approach also encourages a reimagination of the Pacific region beyond historical perspectives of smallness, dependence and MIRAB economies. Arguably these two forms of reimagination ought to go hand in hand. By focusing on the resources and agency of expansive and connected communities rather than a lack thereof, post-development provides a meaningful way to engage critically with development discourses while providing a pragmatic approach.

My research is not centred around a single epistemology. I have, however, drawn on a number of epistemological influences which have shaped my thinking about the production of knowledge. The points of convergence of these epistemological influences provide a useful perspective from which to analyse my data.

The work of Linda Tuhiwai Smith (1999) has been seminal in informing my understanding of the ways in which processes of knowledge production have historically, and in many ways, continue to, marginalise ways of being and knowing. She argues that the extractive nature of research, particularly in disciplines such as anthropology, undermines the agency of indigenous peoples who have established and developed ideas and practices (Smith, 1999). This body of work positions indigenous ways of seeing and being as integral to the pursuit of research that is decolonised and seeks to decolonise. The importance of people, relationships and the knowledge systems produced by such interactions directly relates to the scholarship on Pacific epistemologies.

Within the growing literature on alternatives to Western-centric research methods there has been an emergence of Pacific scholarship, dedicated to articulating various Pacific epistemologies. I use this term Pacific epistemologies to denote a body of works that is geographically situated in Oceania but that is not in any way representative of a single Pacific epistemology. For example, Gegeo (1998) outlines some key differences between indigenous understandings of rural development for the Kwara'ae people in the Solomon Islands. They posit that a definition of development by the indigenous community of Kwara'ae village is not grounded in outcomes but instead in values such as love and hospitality (Gegeo, 1998, p. 298).

Richardson et al (2019) argue that notions of well-being in Oceania are shaped by an outlook that is significantly different to Western understandings of well-being. Drawing on commonalities from the work of Gegeo (1998), Nabobo-Baba (2006), Cox (2006) and Meo-Sewabu (2015), Richardson et al (2019) argue that well-being in Oceania values a holistic understanding:

"Together these concepts of well-being encompass shared ideas about fulfilling communal obligations, prioritizing collective well-being, and practicing reciprocity – all sustained by local knowledge. Well-being is fulfilled through meeting spiritual, psychological, and physical needs and is underpinned by cultural values such as kin love and kindness, sharing and hospitality, and honesty and humility." (p. 4)

This articulation highlights that while the diverse epistemological understandings of Oceania cannot be defined by one framework, there are some significant commonalities. Other epistemology and methodology frameworks include *Kakala*²¹ (Thaman, 1993) and *Fa'afaletui*²² (Tamasese et al, 2005) and *Tivaevae*²³ (Futter-Puati and Maua-Hodges, 2019) and *Vanua*²⁴ (Nabobo-Baba, 2008). These examples do not purport to provide a single epistemology that informs all Pacific research. Rather, they serve as evidence that knowledges are viewed differently in specific Oceanic contexts. They also highlight the challenge of framing Pacific epistemologies.

Importantly, a point of convergence for these epistemologies is the importance of people, particularly relationships, and place in the way that knowledge is generated. These were important considerations in analysing how people were talking about film, collaborative aspirations and practices, and the role(s) that film plays in different places. My research is underpinned by these epistemological ideas which, while located in a specific time and place, are grounded in the idea that knowledge is a product of place, people and time. The range of

²¹ A method of research and practice modelled on the Tongan process of making *kakala* (garlands) see Thaman, 1993.

²² A methodology of "weaving together knowledge from within the houses of relational arrangements" which represent "different levels of knowledge frames from within the 'houses' of collective representation" (Tamasese et al, 2005, p. 302). See also Suaalii-Sauni and Fulu-Aiolupotea, 2014.

²³ A methodology which draws on the unique Cook Island practice of *tivaevae* or artistic quilting, as a way of understanding "past, present and future integration of social, historical, spiritual, religious, economic and political representations of Cook Island culture" (Te Ava and Page, 2018, p.1).

²⁴ An indigenous theoretical approach grounded in Fijian ways of seeing the world and knowing; "it gives power and recognition to things Fijian, as research and knowledge accumulation in its broadest sense is deeply connected to power" (Nabobo-Baba, 2008, p. 143).

places from which these various works originate and their diversity shows the importance of place and context to the way in which knowledge is created and transmitted.

Conduct

These considerations shaped my outlook on the way that I conducted research. Trying to establish reciprocal relationships in which I could bring something to the table was important. This is not only because I try to conduct myself this way in all my relationships. It was important because it meant that I was avoiding the very kind of extractive research practice that Smith (1999) is critical of. Bringing my whole self to the research instead of attempting to maintain an objective position was also critical for my research. I shared things about myself, my family, and my interests with my interviewees and fellow participants at film festivals. I saw it as important to make myself accessible to participants so that they felt they could share their opinions and feelings with me.

Most importantly, I made it a priority to be respectful of people's ways of doing things. In a Māori context, this meant adhering to tikanga such as greeting new people with a kiss on the cheek, removing shoes when entering certain indoor spaces and waiting for karakia²⁵ to be done before eating food. Fa'asamoa²⁶ shares some similarities with tikanga – for example almost always one should remove shoes when entering people's homes and never eat food before it is blessed. Turning down food or drink, particularly when being hosted by a family that is new to you – is usually seen as rude. This is largely because it is seen as a rejection of hospitality - something that Samoan people pride ourselves on. These contexts are not new to me. Having had many experiences interacting with and in Māori and Samoan spaces, I did not find it particularly difficult to conduct myself in the appropriate manner for a young woman. The Solomon Islands, however, where MACFEST was hosted, was a completely new context for me and I felt that it required a great deal of care. My knowledge of the country, and more specifically Honiara was very limited. While there were some similarities with how I was expected to behave in Samoa, there were also some important differences. I quickly learned from friends made through the festival that making direct eye contact was seen as rude. While I was never reprimanded for making eye contact with people when conversing (something I found difficult to avoid), it did explain my initial uneasiness when talking to

25

²⁵ Te Reo Maori term meaning prayer/blessing.

²⁶ A Samoan term literally meaning the Samoan way of doing things.

various people who would not look me in the eye. In a Western context, avoiding eye contact is seen as "shifty" behaviour, which tends to indicate dishonesty or at the very least an awkward encounter. This lesson was a good reminder of the importance of practicing cultural humility and remaining open to different understandings of what respectful behaviour looks like.

Methodology

This research employs Pacific Studies and post-development methodological approaches. The three pillars of a Pacific Studies approach to research, as explained in chapter two are: interdisciplinarity, comparativity and indigeneity. Interdisciplinarity allows for methods to be drawn from various disciplines but also for methods to be developed which are appropriate for the context (Lach, 2014).

Post-development (see chapter two) pays attention to spaces considered outside of mainstream development, yet that carry significant meaning and possibility. Film-making is one of those spaces. In addition, post-development places emphasis on understanding systems and norms as political constructions. Such an understanding requires an untangling or deconstruction of phenomena, from a position located in place, people and context. This means not only deconstructing the kind of language that people employ when talking about film and development, but also using language in a deliberate way. Underlying this is an understanding that language (and discourse) plays an important role in shaping realities. Using post-development as a methodology also meant critically interrogating development policy and practice. I analysed my data, therefore, with awareness of the politics that influence and shape development.

Methods

This research employed mixed qualitative methods. It required me to observe the films that were screened at the festivals and their reception by the audience, and the motivations of film-makers and organisers undertaking the work that they did. I carried out a mixture of participant observation, semi-structured interviews informed by *talanoa*, and textual analysis. The next section describes in more detail these methods.

Participant observation

Participant observation has ethnographic roots and has been employed by researchers to help them learn perspectives held by study populations (Jorgensen, 1989). It is usually couched in an objectivist epistemology – where a researcher can and must maintain distance between herself/himself and the community being studied. The kind of participant observation that I undertook during my research was less about studying the reactions of various individuals and more about an immersive experience as an audience member and a listener. I did not ask any questions, but observed and listened. There are more dynamic methods of participant observation,²⁷ where the researcher might participate in and observe community activities to varying degrees. However, those kinds of processes were not appropriate in my research because I was not a film-maker but an audience member. In my research I used participant observation as a method of observing and reflecting on the discussions that took place in various fora at MFF and MACFEST as well as gathering information on general attendance and interest by audience members during film screenings. I recorded my observations in narrative form through notes during the interaction and soon after the observation.

I am aware that one of the limitations of using participant observation as a method is that the research is always subjected to observer bias. My observations were inevitably shaped by some of my understandings and assumptions about film, film-making processes and ideas of culture and representation. I have had to engage in reflexive writing from time to time throughout the research project to ensure that I am critically aware of how those biases and perceptions may have shaped and influenced my research.

At MFF and MACFEST there were question and answer sessions which provided opportunities for discussion between audience members, industry creatives and panellists. Film creatives were able to share what their priorities were in their film-making processes and how their experiences might feed into the wider kaupapa of indigenous or Oceanian film. While some of my findings from the events are based on discussions and the film content, they were also based on observations about the audience reactions. This is consistent with Glaser's (2001) argument that "it is not only what is being told, how it is being told and the condition of its

²⁷ For example, focus groups allow for researchers to elicit data from a group in an informal environment using a semi-structured. See Merton, Fiske and Kendall, 1990.

being told, but also all the data surrounding what is being told" (p. 145). In this sense, my data was limited to what I could observe as an audience member. In many instances I sat alone, rather than immediately next to other audience members. This allowed me to focus on the discussions that were happening.

Document and media analysis

This research also required analysis of various film projects that were screened at MACFEST and MFF. The filming techniques used, themes and stories being told are important to this research because they provided insight into the types of films being made in Oceania and what they aim to communicate. While this research is not in Media Studies research, it was essential that I understood film as a media tool and the ways it is being used.

In addition, I conducted analysis of various documents such as festival programmes, programme strategies, and vision statements. These documents are important to the research because they articulate the rationale for the festivals and projects, as well as provide background on film-makers and their films. Such documents contribute to the discourse on film and film-making in Oceania. The data gathered from these documents also supported and extended what participants said during interviews.

Interviews and talanoa

I chose to conduct semi-structured interviews influenced by *talanoa*. Using interviews allowed me to obtain a deeper understanding of participants' perspectives on issues affecting film-making processes, motivations for engaging in film projects and the importance of festival spaces.

Talanoa is a qualitative research method which sets out to centre what might be termed Pasifika world views at the centre of the research inquiry (University of Otago, 2011). *Talanoa* is a 'cultural synthesis of the information, stories, emotions and theorising' and this facilitates the production of 'relevant knowledge and possibilities for addressing Pacific issues' (Vaioleti, 2006, p. 21). It assumes that the researcher cannot claim an objective standpoint from which s/he can obtain findings without the influence of his/her positionality. This method allows for gathering of more authentic data for Pasifika research when compared with data derived from other methods of social research (Ibid.). Sualii-Sauni and Fulu-Aiolupotea (2014) argue that *talanoa* methodology is one approach to decolonising research in a meaningful way that

provides legitimacy in both the Pacific and academic worlds (p. 336). It allows for the negotiation of power and is closely related to the oral traditions and verbal negotiation which has roots in many Pacific cultures (Kahn, Finnegan and Orbell, 1996; Poyer, Finnegan and Orbell, 1997).

My research did not specifically use *talanoa* methods because of time constraints. My interview participants did not have the time required to undertake a full *talanoa*. However, my approach to semi-structured interviews was influenced by *talanoa*— particularly its informal and flexible nature, and its cultural responsiveness to various Pacific perspectives.

I had to spend a great deal of time and energy becoming acquainted with my interviewees. Although I had made connections with some prior to interviewing them, these connections were only brief. Thus, I had to spend some time building a rapport with them, practising whakawhanaungatanga, ²⁸ or relationship-building. For most interviewees this meant discussing our whakapapa, where we each come from and some of our background beyond what might be discussed in a formal interview. While the line of questioning was largely dependent on which space each individual was operating within – film-making and or capacity-building, funding or film festival organising, the structure of the questions were all similarly guided by questioning motivations for action, challenges to those paths of action, and ways that each individual thought those challenges might be overcome (see Appendix 2).

The interviews were sorted based on keywords and phrases into four main themes. These were: indigenous film, collaboration, capacity-building and agency. My analysis chapters are guided by these themes and have been divided accordingly, with my discussion of agency spanning all three analysis chapters.

Positionality: insider or outsider or other?

The dichotomy often drawn between insider and outsider in research is one that rests on the assumption that an individual either belongs to a culture or community, or s/he does not. The notion of positionality recognises that the ways in which people relate to cultures and communities is far more complex. Aguilar (1981) argues that 'all cultures are characterized by internal variation' (p. 25) and as such the question of who is an 'insider' ought to instead be modelled on the 'multiplicity of social and cultural characteristics of a heterogenous

⁻

²⁸ Maori term - a relationship established on family/kinship connections or shared experiences

population' (Ibid). Villenas (1996) wrote that 'as researchers, we can be insiders and outsiders to a particular community of research participants at many different levels and at different times' (p. 722). She made this observation while exploring the relationship between her Chicana cultural background and her relationships with both her Latino community of study and the English-speaking community of power and authority. Similarly, Clifford's (2001) argument about the plurality of 'articulated sites of indigeneity' (p. 472) raises questions relating to the increasingly blurred line between homelands and the diaspora. This question of insider/outsider is particularly pertinent to where I situated myself within my research. The following section describes my positionality and how it influenced my research.

I am Tokelauan and Samoan. My paternal grandparents are both from Fakaofo, Tokelau. My maternal grandmother is from Saleimoa, Samoa and my maternal grandfather is from Atafu, Tokelau. I also have connections to Faleasiu, Samoa through my step-grandfather. My mother was born on Nukunonu, Tokelau and brought up on Atafu, Tokelau. My father was born and brought up on Fakaofo, Tokelau. My parents migrated to New Zealand from Tokelau when they were both ten years old as part of the scholarship scheme which began in the 1950s. They both went through secondary and tertiary education in New Zealand. My parents have spent most of their lives in New Zealand, apart from a one-year stint in Tokelau back in 1999, they had not returned to work for Tokelau, until a couple of years ago. I was born in New Zealand and am educated. I am the eldest of their two children. I have one younger brother. I grew up speaking largely English, mostly because of my reluctance as a young child to learn Tokelauan and Samoan. The little Tokelauan and Samoan I did learn was to ensure that I could have conversations with my grandparents.

My education and upbringing comprise an important and influential aspect of my research. I was, for all intents and purposes, brought up to succeed in a *palagi* world. This meant that while some aspects of my Tokelauan and Samoan cultures are central to my being – the importance of faith, family and community – others such as *fa'alavelave*²⁹ are less so. I am simultaneously inside and outside the communities with which I engaged during my research. I share whakapapa ties with interviewees in an Oceanic sense. At times this meant that I also shared familial ties through our village connections; at other times, this meant that we shared

²⁹ Samoan term meaning significant life event which often requires financial and other support from kin.

understandings of what it means to be a part of a 'village'. I have told my parents' story because it is an important part of my reason for doing research with Pasifika communities. I have always had an ambition to make some meaningful contribution to Oceania – whether through work or research.

I initially thought that my positionality as an Oceanian put me in good stead to do ethical research because I had a sense of shared understanding of how we see and carry ourselves in, the world. I think what I realised is that my Oceanian heritage might make it relatively easier to build rapport with some of my interviewees. However, instead what it meant was that the sense of responsibility I felt and continue to feel even after I have finished conducting it, is a personal one.

Reflections

I made connections with all my participants prior to interviewing them. I approached them all and had conversations with them at a film festival, or other events. Initially, I was apprehensive about approaching potential interviewees. This was largely due to my anxiety around doing independent research for the first time. My first interview, while productive, did not flow as I had imagined it would. I felt tightly bound by the questions and felt uneasy about following a thread of questioning that was not scripted. However, after that first interview and with some reflection I reminded myself that the point of *semi-structured* was to allow for flexibility in questioning. Thus, in later interviews I was less scripted with my questioning. While I was sure to ask the questions that I had initially set out to ask, I was less anxious about unpacking a point where I thought it might add relevant insight to my research.

Most of my interviews were carried out at the office or workplace of the participants. I had initially envisioned that I would "host" the interviews in a neutral space, I was also keenly aware of the time constraints that my interviewees were working under. Most of the interviews took place during their work days. Holding interviews at their workplaces meant that we could maximise the interview time and avoid using part of their time getting to an interview venue.

Ethics

The basic principles of ethical research - autonomy, responsibility and accountability - underpinned my research. The principle of autonomy requires that research participants are

able to take decisions freely during the research process. I had to establish a dialogue and provide information on my research project to ensure all participants understood the research process. I was responsible for ensuring that participants had all the information they needed to make an informed choice about whether to participate (see Appendix 1 for information sheet on research). I acquired informed consent from my participants (see Appendix 2 for participant consent form). Privacy and confidentiality may, at times be required in order for research to be deemed ethical. However, the nature of my research was such that I was unable to conceal the identities of most of my participants. My participants agreed to be named. The size of the film industry, and specifically those who are Māori and Pasifika and are involved in the film festivals and programmes that I was interested in, meant that participants could be identified based on details of their work. However, the transcripts, recordings and field notes have been stored in a safe place to restrict access. Personal contact details have remained private. The harm principle requires that researchers do and cause no harm (Wiles, 2013). I was careful not to relay details of institutional or other criticisms between participants where they arose in interviews or during the course of conversations at film events.

Ethics of Pasifika research

Prior to beginning the research process, I felt a sense of doubt about doing Pasifika research. I knew from prior study about the fraught legacies of social and cultural research in Oceania.³⁰ I also felt that undertaking to do Pasifika research as someone who descends from Oceania was even greater because of the kind of understanding of some of worldviews that people have.

"If researching ethically is about respecting human dignity, then it is critical that the process is culturally appropriate for the participants. It is imperative that Pacific research ethics (protocols) emerge from Pacific world views in order to keep synergy with the methodology and to protect the integrity of participants as Pacific cultural beings" (Vaioleti, 2006, p. 29).

When conducting my research I was keenly aware of this responsibility that Vaioleti talks about. As a Pacific researcher I had to ensure that my methodology and methods were appropriately tailored to suit those I would be engaging with. While this meant bringing my

³⁰ For example Margaret Mead's (1928) "Coming of Age in Samoa" and subsequent commentary (Freeman, 1983, 1999; Shankman, 1998, 2013).

whole self – not only knowledge and experiences but also my whakapapa and upbringing – to my interviews, it also required me to confront some rather fraught issues. Questions arose around what it means to do Pacific research as a researcher with Oceanian heritage and how my heritage might influence a process that is 'culturally appropriate for the participants' – something Vaioleti emphasises as an important part of ethical research. My positionality places me, in some respects, relatively "close" to the research.

Beyond the basic principles of ethics, I was also required to be reflexive. Reflexivity as defined by England (1994) requires constant self-conscious scrutiny of self as a researcher and the research process. It means "acknowledging rather than denying your own social position and asking how your research interactions and the information you collect are socially conditioned" (Dowling, 2010, p. 37). Questions that I regularly asked myself during the course of my interviews and participant observation were questions such as:

- What kind of power dynamics do I expect between myself and my participants?
- In what ways am I an insider and/or outsider in respect to the community/communities that this person is a part of?
- How might my perceptions of this person and his/her work influence my interpretation of his/her statements?

Almost all of the participants were older than me. This often meant that I sub-consciously placed myself in a position of lesser power. Because most of them were prominent figures in the local film industry or festival space, I also felt a sense of deference towards them. I do not think that all researchers in my position would have felt the same way. My upbringing as a Pasifika person prompts me to treat elders with the utmost respect, not simply because of their age, but because of the knowledge and experience they have acquired. My relative inexperience as a researcher but also as a newcomer to the film space meant that, interviewing my participants sometimes felt daunting. Self-talk and reassurance from my supervisor helped quell my doubts as a new researcher in a new (for me) space. While this no doubt impacted my interviews, I think that my data collection was carried out in an ethical manner. The data is being securely kept in electronic drives until April 2020.³¹

³¹ It is being kept for a relatively long period because my thesis is part of a bigger Marsden project "Stretching the celluloid ceiling; women in the Pacific film industry" which finishes in April 2020.

Conclusion

This research is underpinned by epistemologies which feed into critical work on knowledge production, and in particular the significance of people and place to systems of knowledge. I have drawn on the influences of Smith (1999) and Gegeo (1998) among other scholars to form an epistemological base. This is not reflective of a single Oceanian epistemology, however, it brings together some critical elements such as the significance of place and relationships.

Research methods must be formulated in a way that allows for meaningful data collection. This multi-sited study focused on networks and connections in places like film festivals and cultural festivals. These sites were selected for their diversity, and the space they provided for Oceanic collaborations. Examining these sites enabled me as a researcher to delve into the diverse ways that Oceanic kinships are formed between film-makers and film-making communities, and how those kinships enabled film-making and exchange. This required honest and constant reflection on my research questions. It has been and will continue to be a learning journey as an independent researcher.

Chapter 4: Behind the lens – decolonising the screen

In September 2018, *Merata: How Mum Decolonised the Screen* premiered at the New Zealand International Film Festival. The film, directed by Merata Mita's youngest child, Heperi (Hepi) Mita marked a significant milestone for indigenous film, and for women indigenous film-makers, for a number of reasons. Firstly, it is the first film about the life of Merata Mita, who is one of the early leaders of indigenous film. She was an advocate for Māori creative control of film-making and documented landmark moments of protest and division in Aotearoa. Merata is the first Māori woman to solely direct a feature length film³² and is the first indigenous woman to do so globally (Sundance, 2016). She was uncompromising about voicing Māori concerns and the kaupapa of addressing the lasting damage of colonisation. In this sense her activism reflects arguments made by Pasifika film-makers like Justine Simei-Barton (1997) about the agency of indigenous film-making. Merata argued:

"The revolution isn't running out with a gun. If a film I make causes indigneous people to feel stronger about themselves, then I'm achieving something for the revolution" – Merata Mita, 2007

The revolution she speaks of is the struggle to decolonise not only Aotearoa but all colonised peoples. Hepi's film documents his mother's life from his perspective, weaving intimate interviews with archival footage of his mother and family, as well as excerpts from a number of her films. Sharing this story with the world sheds light on the struggles that indigenous people of Aotearoa have faced, particularly during the 1980s when Merata filmed three of her most well-known works: *Bastion Point – Day 507* (1980), *Patu!* (1983), and the feature film *Mauri* (1988). The documentary *Merata* also provides a contrast with contemporary indigenous film-making, highlighting the changes that have taken place, particularly in the greater reach of indigenous films.

The international recognition received by *Merata* is also significant. It featured in the programme for SXSW, Sundance and BFF film festivals in 2019. SXSW film festival "celebrates raw innovation and emerging talent from both behind and in front of the camera" (SXSW, 2018). The Sundance Film Festival, founded by Robert Redford and hosted by the Sundance Institute, is the "premiere forum for independent film" (Sundance, 2018). The Sundance

³² Ramai Te Miha Hayward's co-directed *To Love a Maori* (1972) with husband Rudall Hayward.

Institute has been a leading institution in creating spaces for facilitating the growth of indigenous film (Wilson and Stewart, 2008).³³ The BFF is one of the three most prestigious international film festivals (along with Cannes and Venice). It prides itself on being "a place of intercultural exchange and a platform for the critical cinematic exploration of social issues" (Internationale Filmfestspiele Berlin, 2018). The *NATIVe – A Journey into Indigenous Cinema* series has been part of the Berlinale since 2013. It focuses on a different region every two years and is a dedicated space for cinematic storytelling by indigenous communities. In 2019, the focus was on countries and islands of Oceania. These film festivals are important international platforms for sharing film and for giving global recognition to film-makers. They signal not only an appetite in the market for indigenous films but importantly a willingness to facilitate growing film-making spaces and listening to indigenous film-makers. Merata argued that building a community of indigenous film-makers was important for developing stories and film-making skills (Reeves, 2007). This is being realised in a number of spaces almost 40 years after the completion of *Mauri*.

One of the recurring themes in my research is the notion of indigeneity and how it is used to define indigenous film. This is important because it brings into question the relationship between film and indigenous communities (see Pearson & Knabe, 2014). For Oceanians, the camera bears a colonial history which has limited our agency not only as subjects of stories but also as storytellers using film in our own right (Pearson, 2013; Barclay 1990).

This chapter explores articulations of indigeneity and how they have served as frameworks for defining who is indigenous and who is not; what is an indigenous film and what is not. I also address responses by various Oceanian film-makers to the fraught legacy that Landman and Ballard (2010) have written about in terms of the colonial history of film in Oceania – issues of ownership over story, sovereignty on screen as subjects of stories (Pearson, 2013), and questions of who controls the lens and why (Simei-Barton, 1997; Barclay, 1990). It draws on MFF, MACFEST and the film project *Vai*. These examples demonstrate both the importance of having film-making spaces specifically for indigenous but also how difficult defining and delineating such spaces can be. While my thesis focuses on film-making in

³³ The Sundance Institute's indigenous programme is also supported by Oneida Indian Nation, Surdna Foundation, John S. and James L. Knight Foundation, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, SAGindie, New Zealand Film Commission, Indigenous Media Initiatives, Felix Culpa, Sarah Luther, Pacific Islanders in Communications, and Susan Shilliday (Sundance, 2018).

Oceania, this analysis is couched within the broader discussion on global indigenous film and its place in the decolonisation agenda.

Indigeneity and film

The relationship between the camera and indigenous communities has historically been problematic (Landman and Ballard, 2010; Barclay, 1990). This relationship has become far more complex because of global efforts to decolonise spaces. This section discusses how indigenous film has developed since the 1920s in ways that have shifted the focus of the camera from indigenous peoples as subjects of film, to drivers of indigenous storytelling and "fourth cinema". I also discuss how contested articulations of indigeneity have made defining indigenous film increasingly difficult. These discussions are important given the increasing profitability of "the indigenous" (Wilson and Stewart, 2008).

Ethnographic film has dominated the way many indigenous communities have been represented. *Nanook of the North* (1922) is "seen as a point of origin: it has been called the first documentary film, the first ethnographic film, as well as the first art film" (Rony, 1996, p.99). Ethnographic film's purpose has been to document, 'preserve' or share cultures. Films about Oceania which are consistent with this kind of film-making include *First Contact* (1983) *Moana* (1926) and more recently *Te Eitei. The Banaban Story* (2007). Such films are problematic because they necessarily mean that indigenous peoples are portrayed according to the frame of the (usually non-indigenous) director. In recent decades efforts have been made to regain control of narratives in and about indigenous communities.

Collaborative film-making between Inuit and non-indigenous since the 1920s has fostered what Pearson and Knabe (2014) describe as a "recuperation of Indigenous agency" (p. 4). They are referring not only to the growth of indigenous film practice but also attempts to address the way indigenous peoples had been represented on screen. Representations of indigenous peoples have usually been based on the dominant culture's perception of them. The reversal and revision of this is a means of what Gerald Vizenor (1999) calls "survivance". This describes the process of survival of indigenous people without minimising their agency as hapless victims of colonisation. Prins (2004) argues that the reclaiming of power through control of the camera as a means of reversing the colonial gaze is a way for indigenous communities to "tell their stories on their own terms" (p. 518). *TOL* is a space that celebrates

and promotes the collaboration of indigenous communities in Oceania. The project is described as a collaboration between youth to "tell stories of identity, the effects of colonisation and challenges they face from the perspective of young people in the Pacific" (Māoriland, 2019). It frames the initiative within *Te Ao Taketake* meaning indigenous realities. This shows, despite the newness of *TOL*, the pervasiveness and influence of global trends in indigenous film-making in the region and ongoing efforts to indigenise film spaces.

In resistance to film which disempowers indigenous peoples and positions them only as subjects, indigenous communities across the globe have used film as a means of reclaiming story and agency (Wilson and Stewart, 2008; Simei-Barton, 1997). Documentary has proven the most accessible film genre in terms of film-making for indigenous communities (Pearson & Knabe, 2014, p. 9) because of its relative simplicity. Unlike dramatic feature films, it only requires a camera, some film processing technology and some editing skill. Nune Luepack's films which were screened at MACFEST use the documentary form to share and inform from an indigenous perspective. *Nidoish Naisseline* (2017) is a documentary portrait of Nidoish Naisseline, an activist in the Kanak independence movement in New Caledonia and a founding member of the "Red Scarves". He reflects on his career as an activist and politician and his vision for Kanaky independence. *Imulal, une terrre, des racines et des reves* (2011) follows six New Caledonian students pursuing further education in France and their journeys to fulfil aspirations for their homeland. Both of these films are excellent examples of documentary-making that demonstrates and celebrates the story and agency of indigenous perspectives.

In contrast, indigenous dramatic features have not seen the same uptake. Any kind of dramatic feature requires a great deal of resources – script development, designers, actors, lighting, and other industrial apparatus. This largely explains the relatively scant numbers of indigenous dramatic features. Wood (2008) counted fifty-one indigenous feature films worldwide. Pearson and Knabe (2014) estimate another 50 films were produced in the five to six years following or were not included in his survey (p. 9). Despite the difficulties of resourcing, however, the number of indigenous feature films continues to grow. Most indigenous films tend to show the effects that colonisation has had and continues to have on

³⁴ The *Foulards Rouges* (Red Scarves) refers to the political movement formed in June 1970 in radical resistance to the continuation of French rule over New Caledonia. See Henningham, 1992.

indigenous communities (Ibid). In doing so, indigenous film can be a means of articulating and redressing historical trauma that has occurred in the process of colonisation. In trauma theory this is known as abreaction³⁵ and is a reversal of what E. Ann Kaplan (1987) termed the "imperial gaze". The "imperial gaze" is a post-colonial concept where the observed are defined according to the privileged observer's framework of values (Ashcroft, 2000). Thus, film has an ability to heal but also to share knowledge and experiences, so that it can be a force for connecting indigenous communities. This is not because the experiences of all indigenous peoples are the same but rather because "the effects of history mark contemporary Indigenous lives and cultures in very particular ways – ways that are shared among Indigenous peoples and at the same time locally specific, for not even the experience of residential schools was the same for everyone everywhere" (Pearson and Knabe, 2014, p. 13). Film has been one way of addressing some of the harm done to indigenous communities because it provides a means of challenging dominant narratives of the politics of identity and representation.

Fourth cinema

Michelle Raheja (2011) argues that indigenous film "has its roots in specific indigenous aesthetics with their attendant focus on a particular geographic space, discrete cultural practices, notions of temporality that do not delink the past from the present or future, and spiritual traditions" (p. 16-17). In contrast, a rather different definition of Māori film is offered by Barry Barclay (1990): "a Māori film is one made by Māori...A Māori film might have nothing whatsoever to do with what both Māori and Pākeha are pleased to think of as 'the Māori style of life' — communal attitudes, a respect for the elders, a love of the land" (p. 20). Barclay (1990) theorised the importance of what he called "fourth cinema" in which indigenous film-makers have sovereignty over their image as framed on screen. As a trailblazer in indigenous cinema in Oceania, and as Māori, his work has significance for the region. Broadly, he advocated for indigenous film-makers to occupy spaces of power behind the lens. His writing has made a seminal contribution to literature on global indigenous film. However, the issue of defining indigenous film remains a potentially prickly question — despite his relatively straightforward definition.

³⁵ See Chang, Donohoe and White (2010).

"The issue of Fourth Cinema as a taxonomic category becomes even more complex when one considers the interactions between indigenous and non-indigenous film-makers and the difficulties of deciding exactly who is, and who isn't, indigenous." Pearson & Knabe, 2014, p. 15.

Films such as *Whale Rider* (2002), *Rabbit Proof Fence* (2002), *Skinwalkers* (2007) and *A Thief of Time* (2004) were either written or directed by an indigenous person but are not regarded as indigenous films. Pearson and Knabe (2014) argue that this is not necessarily because of the substantive story of the films but rather because of the creative involvement of indigenous people in the film-making process.³⁶ Indigenous films do not necessarily require indigenous people to be in all key creative roles however these examples highlight that defining what is and what is not an indigenous film is a political process in and of itself. The arguments that commentators and practitioners like Barclay make, have direct relevance to the Oceanian context because they speak to the historical issues around power over indigenous narrative.

Claiming indigeneity?

Surveying definitions of indigeneity around the globe could be the subject of an entire thesis. I do not purport to answer the question of what it means to be indigenous in the detail that it deserves. However, my analysis requires a brief outline of some important definitions to position Oceanian film-making within the broader discourse on indigeneity, indigenous film and what it means to reclaim the power that comes with being "behind the lens". This is important because it speaks to the power and significance of indigenous film in Oceania.

Clifford's (2001) discussion of indigeneity advocates for an understanding of native-ness that accounts for its messiness and complexity. This articulation accounts for the many roots that connect people across the globe. It also reflects, in part, our complex understandings of place and community, and how such connections are created, maintained – and in some cases – lost or erased. Indigeneity is a fluid concept which, in today's increasingly globalised world is contested.³⁷ Clifford's (2001) understanding of indigeneity as fluid and complex is helpful in theoretical terms. It accounts for the forces of globalisation and technological development

³⁶ Whale Rider is based on the novel of the same name by Witi Ihimaera (1987) was written and directed by Niki Caro who is non-Māori.

³⁷ For important discussions on this see: Gegeo, 2001; Merlan, 2009; Ndlovu, 2019; Venkateswar and Hughes, 2011.

which have seen movements of people beyond their "homelands". It also moves away from a reductive understanding of native-ness as solely rooted in blood quantum,³⁸ language or place. These are helpful ways to think about how not to define indigeneity.

Definitions of indigeneity pose difficulties in relation to Oceania because in many of those island-nations even if the colonial legacy endures, the coloniser no longer has a physical presence. Thus, differentiating between indigenous and non-indigenous within island states is not a norm, though there are certainly exceptions.³⁹ Instead the norm is to differentiate between one's nationality and palagi⁴⁰ or in terms of sub-national loyalties to island or tribe. In Aotearoa indigeneity continues to be contested and discussed. The issue of blood quantum and indigeneity is still a topic of discussion (see Kaipara, 2017). The notion of "how Māori" an individual is, is often articulated in terms that reflect how Māori your whakapapa is, or how "diluted" your claims to Māori heritage are. In some cases, it is cited as a reason for no longer honouring Crown obligations to Māori under the Treaty of Waitangi.⁴¹ A similar example is that of Hawai'i where blood quantum is highly politicised in Hawai'i because it has been used as a colonial tool to dispossess indigenous peoples of their lands (Kauanui, 2008; Lindsey, 1996). This thesis does not seek to define indigeneity, and this discussion has highlighted some of the complexities of doing so. Instead, I highlight the difficulties of defining it insofar as it relates to Oceanian film and film-making processes. This is particularly so when the question arises as to what makes a film indigenous, or more specifically, what characterises a Oceanian (or Pacific) film.

The film *Vai* (2017) is one example of a film which demonstrates the complexities of defining indigenous film in an Oceanian context. As previously discussed, it is a collaborative film which follows the journey of the central character Vai across seven different Pacific countries, as she ages and tackles various life stages. Its significance goes beyond the status that might

-

³⁸ Blood quantum refers to a method of quantifying indigeneity. It was often used by colonial settler governments as a means of defining indigeneity and justifying approaches to policy (see Kauanui, 2008; Villazor, 2008; Takahashi, 2009).

³⁹ Hawai'i continues to be occupied by the United States of America and has a significant palagi population. Fiji continues to deal with race-based politics as a result of indentured labour migration of Indian populations during British colonial rule.

⁴⁰ An outsider not of that nationality. It is a term that originates from the Samoan language meaning "popped from the sky".

⁴¹ The Treaty of Waitangi is an agreement between Maori and the British Crown. It has historically governed relations between Maori and the British Crown and is an important constitutional document.

follow "making it" to an international film platform like the BFF. It also shows how Oceanian film fits within a discourse of indigenous film. The Berlinale NATIVe programme runs biannually as part of the BFF. It is dedicated to "the cinematic storytelling of Indigenous peoples around the world with a focus on a different region every two years" (Internationale Filmfestspiele Berlin, 2019). This year, the region of focus was "countries and islands in and around the Pacific Ocean" (Ibid). As discussed in the previous chapter, the notion of indigeneity is not part of everyday discourse in many parts of Oceania. However, placing a film such as *Vai* in this category not only makes space in indigenous film fora for Oceanian films and film-makers, it also demonstrates how the framing of indigeneity by institutions and those in industry, can impact on how indigenous films are delineated.

Vai is directed by nine women who have Oceanian heritage but are New Zealand citizens. To argue that indigeneity requires being born in the "homeland" is obviously problematic because it immediately excludes familial connections of those in the diaspora. For Oceanians, this is particularly so, given that many Oceanians live in Aotearoa and elsewhere. However, the film has been labelled and promoted as a Pacific-made film, not only to audiences in Aotearoa but across the globe.

Support for indigenous film

The way indigenous film is supported provides some insight into the ways that policy can and has helped to grow indigenous film. However, defining what it means to be indigenous and how we might delineate indigenous film from other types of cinema is a complex task, (see Pearson and Knabe, 2014; Wood, 2008; Wilson 2008). Some have argued that it is also about representation and agency of indigenous people on screen as well as behind the camera (Rony, 1996; Reeves, 2007). Defining indigenous film, despite some of the complexities, raises a number of important questions which requires grappling with the politics of identity and representation. Such definitions have implications for the way film is funded and supported. In Oceania, where there is relatively little support for film, the ability to categorise a film as indigenous in places such as Aotearoa and Australia have important implications for the types of films that get funding and why. This is important because it could inform any discussion on potential policy and funding models in the region.

Increasingly, there is film funding and strategic support in various settler-colonial states for indigenous film, although such support is far scarcer in independent Pacific island states. The

National Film Board of Canada (NFB) launched its first three-year Indigenous action plan in 2017 (NFB, 2017).⁴² This sets out how NFB will take equitable measures to ensure adequate indigenous representation as a place of work. It also sets objectives to diversify its opportunities for indigenous film-makers and production (NFB, 2017). This shows not only financial support for indigenous film-making but also institutional support for ensuring that the production processes are carried out appropriately. Screen Australia, which oversees film funding and development nationally, also has a department which provides support to indigenous film-makers (Screen Australia, 2018). Similarly, Screen Australia's Indigenous Department offers support in the development, production and distribution stages of film-making.

In Aotearoa, the NZFC established Te Rautaki Māori Strategy which aims "to champion Māori film and film-makers, in partnership with the Māori film industry, to Aotearoa and the world" (NZFC, 2018). The objectives of this strategy are:

REPRESENTATION Promote authentic representation of Māori characters, stories, places, history and culture and support high quality films led by Māori creatives.

PROTOCOLS Partner with experts and advisors in matauranga Māori to develop a Māori partnership plan and explore industry frameworks and guidelines for engagement with Māori stories.

CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY Build internal capacity at Te Tumu Whakaata Taonga to engage with Māori and their stories. Support capacity development in the Māori film industry by supporting and developing initiatives that address barriers and increase connections and communication.

These objectives reflect some of the important shifts that have been discussed earlier in this chapter. This is a clear acknowledgement from a settler-colonial government-mandated institution of the importance of Māori leading Māori storytelling on screen. There is recognition of the importance of Māori knowledge and world view, which is accounted for by the second objective. An undertaking to work in partnership with key people in Māori communities shows a willingness to step outside of dominant ways of doing things. That

⁴² The National Film Board of Canada has had a long history of working with indigenous communities with various programmes and collaborative projects. This is the first strategic document setting out direction and objectives for the NFB both as an employer and as an organisation engaging with indigenous communities.

"authentic representation" is a priority shows an understanding of the harmful impact that negative (and some argue incorrect)⁴³ representations can and have had on Māori.

This policy development also reflects increasingly visible support for Pacific film in Aotearoa. This is reflected in the funding for films such as *The Orator – O le Tulafale* (2011), *Sione's Wedding* (2006), *One Thousand Ropes* (2017) and *For My Father's Kingdom* (2019). This strategy is one important step to dealing with issues of agency and representation that have historically plagued the relationship between indigenous peoples and the camera. A strategic document may not change anything per se. However, it shows a recognition and commitment by the state to enable and support indigenous film-making. This is an important step in redistributing power within film-making circles in Aotearoa.

Indigenous film spaces

In the context of film festivals there are criteria relating to the indigeneity of those in creative roles in the film-making process. MFF, as do other festivals such as ImagineNATIVE, Pasifika Film Festival (PFF) and Wairoa Māori Film Festival, has selection criteria that reflects the primacy of indigenous representation both on screen (in cast and theme) — and behind the lens in the film creative team. PFF requires that eligible films must be "a representation of Pasifika people, culture and stories" (Pasifika Film Festival, 2018) and — amongst other criteria — that "one of the key creatives must identify as being of Pacific heritage" (Ibid), including writers, producers, directors and leading cast members. For MFF the selection criteria are based on:

- A key member of the creative team (director, writer, producer) must identify as Indigenous. Consideration will also be given to films that have strong Indigenous representation in cast and theme, however, this will be at the discretion of the selection panel.
- The relevance of the work to the Indigenous community and to general New Zealand audiences as a whole.
 (Māoriland, 2018)

The first of the criteria only requires that one of the key film creatives identifies as indigenous. Libby is uncompromising about using these criteria to select films for the festival. That the film has to have relevance to indigenous communities also signals the importance of sharing and exchanging stories amongst indigenous peoples. This is consistent with Merata Mita's

⁴³ See Anne Salmond (2016) for commentary on the film *Once Were Warriors* (1994).

argument for the value of community amongst indigenous film-makers (Reeves, 2007). Libby is determined to ensure that she and her team run a festival that is primarily for tangata whenua but also operates in concert with other indigenous communities from around the globe.

"With our programming and with our criteria we're really clear about what it is, what the criteria is around how our submission process works. Who has control of the lens? Who has control of the camera? Does the person who is submitting or has made the film, does that person identify as indigenous?" (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018).

The clarity of the kaupapa of MFF – that it is about the agency and power, the representation and voice of indigenous peoples around the globe – shows a strong commitment to the indigenisation of the screen.

These are but two examples of a growing interest in sharing films in which indigenous peoples — and mostly Oceanians in these cases — significantly influence the shape of the story, the film. The use of film festivals as spaces of exchange and collaboration echoes Mackley-Crump's (2011) argument that festivals operate as spaces where networks and kinships are formed, maintained and strengthened. These festivals not only assert a sense of belonging but also provide people and communities spaces to negotiate and celebrate their cultural identities. These arguments extend to film festivals because of the kind of sharing and learning that these film-makers and their communities gather to celebrate. This desire for films made by "us", for "us" shows that film, and film-making processes continue to be sites of struggle for decolonisation of the imagination. It also speaks to the importance of ownership over representation of images in and about Oceania. The uptake of film by indigenous communities shows a reclaiming of agency both on the screen and behind the lens.

Building whakapapa of indigenous film

Recent decades have seen a proliferation of literature on indigenous media and film in both a localised and globalised sense (see Pearson and Knabe, 2014; Wilson and Stewart, 2008). This agenda has informed the kaupapa of the work of events such as imagineNATIVE which is the world's biggest platform for sharing indigenous screen content (imagineNATIVE, 2016):⁴⁴

Solemn Declaration

We the Indigenous screen storytellers United in this northern corner of our mother, the earth In a great assembly of wisdom we declare to all nations

We glory in our past

when our earth was nurturing our oral traditions when night sky evoked visions animated in our dreams when the sun and the moon became our parents in stories told when storytelling made us all brothers and sisters when our stories fostered great chiefs and leaders when justice was encouraged in the stories told

We will

hold and manage Indigenous cultural and intellectual property be recognised as the primary guardians and interpreters of our culture respect Indigenous individuals and communities nourish knowledge from our traditions to modern screen appearance use our skills to communicate with nature and all living things through screen storytelling heal our wounds through modern screen expression carry our stories to those not yet born

And thus through motion picture make the invisible visible again we vow to manage our own destiny and recover our complete humanity in pride In being Indigenous screen storytellers

(Sundance institute, 2011)

This declaration was born out of the first indigenous film conference in Kautukeino, Norway which is home to the indigenous Sami people. It is evidence of a strengthening interest and visibility within the global indigenous community in film as a medium for reclaiming sovereignty, not only over storytelling and the screen, but also over indigenous knowledges, cultures and spaces. This declaration is important because it shows a commitment by

⁴⁴ This Declaration has been reproduced elsewhere with slightly different wording (see MFF, 2018).

indigenous film creatives to a global kaupapa which, while grounded in context and place, ultimately aims to decolonise and indigenise the screen.

The work that the global indigenous film community has undertaken, to establish spaces and events specifically for indigenous film has impacted Oceania, to varying degrees across the region. Māori and Pasifika film is particularly strong in Aotearoa because there is significant resourcing and state support compared with other countries in Oceania. This global whakapapa of indigenous film has also contributed significantly to the growth of a community of indigenous film-makers. While specificity of place and context must be respected, there is clearly a kinship amongst many indigenous film-makers. Such a community is important if indigenous communities are to make films on their own terms. Growing and strengthening the global indigenous film community provides spaces for film-makers to hone their craft and their skills in ways that are reflective of their respective worldviews. Barclay (1990) argues that indigenous film-making spaces enables film-makers to assert cultural confidence:

"I see it as asserting a cultural confidence so that, if we shape things our own way, we shall come to make images that will be attractive to those humans on the planet who wish to enjoy them. I am not talking about minority programmes directed at a minority. I am talking about a minority being confident enough to talk with its own voice about whatever it chooses and as it does so, having a feeling that the talk will be of interest to others who wish to drop in." (p. 78)

This is convergent with Smith's (1999) argument about the importance of being able to share knowledge and experience between indigenous communities. Of course, Smith was referring specifically to research. This argument seems equally applicable to film practice because it concerns the decolonisation and indigenisation of a means of knowledge production. Film has grown out of networks of indigenous peoples who have shared their experiences of film-making and storytelling with other indigenous communities, and who have fought for representation within settler-colonial societies. Such a global network is important because it allows for recognition of an alternative that stems from non-Western values. It also offers support for those trying to get funding or legitimation from a national government or film commission that may be dominated by settler-colonial expectations or criteria. While it might be that some film is born out of a series of commercial relationships, there is also a great deal of community and independent film that is not primarily commercial – whether made by indigenous or non-indigenous film-makers (Wilson and Stewart, 2008).

Reclaiming story and screen

Colonisation has occurred not only with respect to land and sovereign rights but also through culture, language and knowledge. Film is one way to reclaim sovereignty over narratives, for several reasons. Firstly, it can take back ownership of stories that have previously been appropriated and told by non-indigenous peoples – whether for commercial or documentary purposes.

"As we reassert ourselves as Māori and as tangata whenua and we begin to tell our stories, we're getting out from under the thumb of other people telling our stories. We're getting out from people looking at our stories as if it's purely a way of controlling or seeing us through their lens. It's our lens." (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018)

The struggle for power in film-making spaces is not merely about reclaiming power. It is also about the subversion and reclamation of a tool that has been used to marginalise indigenous people through essentialist and reductive representations. These filter out diverse voices and layers that shape stories. The telling of indigenous legends, for example, by non-indigenous peoples distorts indigenous realities because there is often a "a total lack of understanding, a mere interpretation in a European framework" (Lamche and Mita, 1984, p. 4). Indigenous people taking up positions behind the lens is a powerful means of reclaiming stories and the knowledge they express and share.

Secondly, film is seen as a medium which has the power to reach across communities. Pragmatically, it does not necessarily require literacy. During MACFEST, film-maker Llane Munau (PNG) stated that the ability of film to traverse literacy and even language differences enabled communities to connect with the story on screen (L. Munau, personal communication, July 8th, 2018). A single film can be screened to an audience of many while a book, newspaper or academic article is a more individual experience and cannot be shared as easily and as instantaneously. The appeal of film as a medium is clear. It enables communities to share knowledge and connect with each other through stories on screen.

Thirdly, the screening experience can often provide a platform for discussion of important issues.

"...it's film, a shared experience of watching something together and then the buzz that happens when people discuss what they've seen and that sense that we've experienced something, you know a moment, shared a moment of watching

something and are able to talk about it." (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018).

The act of sharing a film with a community goes beyond merely screening a film to an audience. In the appropriate space, this screening experience can lead to conversations about issues that are significant to the community.

Conclusion

Stories are important. For indigenous peoples they often tell us where we come from or how we came to be. This knowledge in turn shapes how we interact with our environments and each other. Using film to tell stories means that stories can be shared not only within communities but also between different communities. In an era where indigenous peoples are imagining what a decolonised and indigenised world looks like, film presents an opportunity to practice agency and reclaim stories that might have been exploited or marginalised in the past.

The growth of indigenous films and platforms for sharing them indicates the increasing interest of bringing stories to screen. It also shows the importance of growing a community of indigenous film-makers. Much of this reflects a shift in recent decades from indigenous people occupying spaces in front of the camera, merely as subjects of stories, to also taking up positions of power in key creative roles. Growing spaces particularly in film policy and festival spaces, which enable indigenous film-makers to gather and share ideas is a means of establishing alternative systems of story-telling that are resistant to western modes of film-making. The uptake of film by Oceanian communities is convergent with the trajectories of indigenous film-making globally. This is important for understanding the context within which film-making kinships have developed and operated in Oceania.

Chapter 5: Oceanic kinships and collaborative routes

Oceanic kinships are being articulated, embodied and shared on screen through current film practice and film festivals in Oceania. Although the specificities of each film are linked to the context (including resourcing available) from which they emerge, there are conscious attempts to work across 'borders' and to rebuild some of the connections disrupted by the imposition of the colonial nation-state. Film's ability to travel also means that they can reach wide and diverse audiences. This chapter explores articulations and practices of Oceanic connection through film. Two questions seemed particularly pertinent in thinking through the relationship between kinships and film-making. Firstly, how and why do Oceanian film-making communities connect across vast Ocean spaces? Secondly, how do such connections foster active communities of practice that enable different forms of agency? This chapter is set out accordingly.

Kinships

The relationships between Oceanians have been articulated by a number of disciplines. Historians and anthropologists write of the way the Lapita people migrated from Taiwan and spread through the Oceania (see Sheppard, Thomas and Summerhayes, 2009; Kirch, 1997; Pearce, 2010). The growth and spread of the Austronesian languages – which are thought to have begun with the Lapita people – reflect the ways in which we are connected by ancient migration patterns (Hanlon, 2017). Arguably these shared ancestors connect all Oceanians to some degree despite geographical (and relational) distance. This genealogy is one way in which people are connected throughout Oceania. It forms an integral part of my thesis because it is perhaps the most important basis for the establishment and strengthening of relationships through which collaborative film practice takes place.

How Oceanians relate to land or *whenua/vanua/fenua* (and its many other linguistic variations) is another point of connection. Jolly (2007) states that the "...relation between people and place is posted not as "ownership" or human possession but as mutual possession. This imbrication of body and land is palpable in language and in corporeal practice." (p. 515). For Oceanians the connection with land is typically for life (Gegeo, 2001; Finnegan and Orbell, 1995; Patterson, 2000; Armitage and Bashford, 2016;). It is often accorded life-giving character because of the resources we draw from it (Arthur de la Maza, 2012). I have

highlighted these commonalities because it is but one layer of the connections between our islands and communities in the region.

The notion of connectedness between Oceanic kin has been articulated by scholars such as Albert Wendt (1976), Epeli Hau'ofa (2008), Alice Te Punga Somerville (2012), James Clifford (2001) and Lana Lopesi (2018). These articulations play an important role in the way I later conceptualise development in the Oceanian context. They are grounded in connections between people, place and genealogies. Hau'ofa and Wendt's articulations of Oceanic kinship are aspirational and signal a rather novel approach to regional identity. The region is not constructed solely on the basis of geographical proximity, though that is certainly important. Instead their articulations are grounded in the ocean, its power to provide for and connect people across space and time. Te Punga Somerville (2012) uses literature to trace the connections between Aotearoa and the islands in Oceania. Lopesi (2018) argues that globalising technologies allows Moana peoples to connect in ways that resonate with Hau'ofa's and Wendt's regional imaginaries. Clifford's (2001) fluid conception of indigeneity provides us with a way of understanding practices of identity outside of the "homeland". This is a rather brief (and by no means complete) whakapapa of scholarship which layers connections between individuals and communities in Oceania.

This scholarship has not developed without criticism. Margaret Jolly (2001) points out that Hau'ofa's oceanic imaginary presents the perspective of a "world traveller" which may be convergent with the experiences of Tongan, Samoan, Niueans, Cook Islanders and those who live between or often traverse state borders. She argues that this perspective fails to resonate with the experiences of many in the region, particularly the larger Southwest Pacific Islands, who "travel in trucks or light local plans but do not board jumbo planes" (Jolly, 2001, p. 420). In a related vein, any argument for regionalism invites criticism for "flattening" or homogenising a hugely diverse region and the experiences of its people (see Lopesi, 2018). However unevenly this perspective may apply, I think it is a useful means of understanding how people have connected and continued to connect, and also the power of the aspiration

⁴⁵ Epeli Hau'ofa was born in Papua New Guinea to Tongan missionary parents and undertook his education from various places around the Pacific: Fiji, Tonga, Canada and completed his PhD in Anthropology at Australian National University (Macpherson, 2009).

to connect. The many layers of connections between oceanic communities have played and will likely continue to play an integral role in the growth of film-making in Oceania.

Film as collaborative practice

Film-making is an inherently collaborative practice. However, there is limited discussion on the influence of collaborative practices on film-making in Oceania.⁴⁶ This thesis does not purport to cover all collaborative approaches to film-making in the region, only those observed through my research.

"The failure of most film scholars to look beyond the creative impact of the director represents an unwillingness to examine more closely the circumstances behind the production of films...This focus on the director avoids having to examine the complex patterns of interaction among the large number of artists and technicians who collaborate on any given film." (Beach, 2015, p. 2)

Film-making usually requires input from a number of individuals because of the range of skills needed to put a film together. As Beach (2015) argues above, there are many roles required to complete a production, not only those in key roles such as the director and actors – but also writers, technicians, editors and the like in post-production.

Why and how are Oceanian film-making communities connecting across vast ocean spaces?

This section examines different forms of collaboration in film and the reasons for such collaborative practice, as observed through my research sites. Firstly, I will explain the methods of collaboration that these film-making projects have undertaken. Secondly, I will analyse how various film-makers have articulated their motivations for collaborating with other Oceanic film-makers. Finally, I will consider how such practices resonate with and even embody the creative imaginary offered by Hau'ofa and Wendt.

I begin with TOL for two important reasons. Firstly, in the region, Aotearoa can be considered a tuākana for indigenous film-making. The work of figures such as Merata Mita, Barry Barclay and more recently, Taika Waititi and Tusi Tamasese, has largely taken place in Aotearoa with a significant amount of institutional support from NZFC. As such, it serves as a good starting point for seeing how Oceanic communities in Aotearoa position themselves and practice collaborative film-making as tuākana in a region where film-making by Oceanians is a

⁴⁶ Given the relatively recent release of films such as *Waru* and *Vai*, as well as the recent uptake of film as a tool for development (see chapter six) it seems likely that there will be a growth of literature in this area. Current writing includes Zalipour, 2019.

relatively new practice. I then go on to discuss PC as a project that spans many of the islands in Oceania but is localised in Samoa through the FC. I examine these sites as examples of collaborative practice as supported by government and non-government institutions. The last case study, is the collaborative feature film Vai (2019). I discuss the implications of Vai as a means of modelling film-making kinships in Oceania and its importance as a film gaining international attention.

Through Our Lens

TOL connects young film-makers across Te Moana-Nui-A-Kiwa to facilitate film-making between communities. They develop short films over a period of just a few days that move from script development to a community screening. The aim of the project is "to create new Māori film leaders who will connect and collaborate with their peers in the Pacific, Indonesia and worldwide" (Māoriland, 2018). To date, it has taken place between young film-makers from different parts of Oceania. TOL takes filming and editing equipment with them, and the productions, once cut and edited are screened to the local communities. This approach creates opportunities for Oceanian youth to explore their passion for film and use equipment that they might not otherwise get access to. It also allows them to connect with youth from elsewhere in the region to script and film stories. TOL ran again in 2018 but travelled solely to Rarotonga in partnership with Motone Productions, 47 most likely because of the challenge of finding ongoing financial support. This model of collaborative film-making is about establishing a sustainable, reciprocal learning experience for all the young people involved (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018). It forms connections between communities which sees film-making as an important way to share stories and experiences.

The deep connection to Kiwa, as an ancestor of Oceania, is described by the programme's organisers as one of the strongest motivations for the TOL programme. They describe a sense of a shared kaupapa between film-making kin which values sharing story, experience and knowledge with film-making communities across the region – not purely for the sake of capacity-building – but because participants and their respective work, are seen a connected through Kiwa, the ocean ancestor of Oceania. Libby Hakaraia, the director of MFF is clear about her motivation for undertaking such an ambitious project:

⁴⁷ A creative production company based in Rarotonga, Kuki Airani and Wellington, New Zealand.

⁴⁸ UNESCO provided funding for the first TOL I but not for TOL 2018.

"We know that our kids have been taught and know that they are part of a whakapapa that extends through the Pacific. So, it is as much our responsibility to share what we've got, what we know with our cousins." (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018).

This one of the most explicit articulations of kinship among film-makers that I came across in my research. For TOL, the reason for connecting and collaborating is because of a sense of familial responsibility borne from a shared Oceanic identity. TOL is as much about rejuvenating and living those kinship connections, as it is about making films. Libby articulates the ocean as a connecting force between film-making communities, rather than one which isolates film-makers in the region (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018). TOL is a manifestation of Hau'ofa's Oceanic expansive, creative imaginary. The programme sees communities in Te Moana-nui-a-Kiwa as connected by the ocean, rather than divided by nation-state boundaries. Hau'ofa (2008) argued that such a perspective could and should be part of an expansive creative practice on the part of the region's artists.

Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific)

PC was a regional scoping project that the potential of film as a means of addressing gender issues in Oceania. I met the PC team⁴⁹ at the MACFEST in July 2018. Alongside the PC project the CSS at the National University of Samoa (NUS) held the Film Challenge in November 2018 in partnership with Australian Aid, PACMAS, the Ministry of Women, Community and Social Development, and the Australian High Commission. As part of the FC, in September 2018, PACMAS facilitated a three-day workshop which provided basic training on short film production, with a focus on gender equality issues in Samoa. Safua Akeli Amaama, the director of CSS spoke with me about the importance of fostering a connection between filmmakers as an effort to build skills and experience.

"I think if there is a network of people who are interested in film I think that will help break down some of the barriers around what film-makers do. I mean I don't want people to feel isolated." (S. Amaama, personal communication, July 2018)

She described capacity as one of the biggest challenges in film-making in Samoa given the range of skills needed to put a production together. The *FC* was one way to ascertain what interest and skill there was in film-making within the Samoan community:

-

⁴⁹ See chapter three for full description of Pacific Connections and the team.

"So the platform of the film contest is for us to see what is the landscape? Who is out there? What are they doing? And can we link up and get that support around telling these stories?" (S. Amaama, personal communication, July 2018)

This highlights the importance of film-makers knowing where they can access knowledge and training for film-making. As Safua articulated, this enables film-makers to build networks of knowledge and skill that they might be able to draw on for support in their film-making projects. However, the *FC* was not purely about building capacity for film-making in Samoa and sparking dialogue around gender issues. CSS stated that the purpose of the *FC* was also to "...build not only the capacity of emerging narrators and film makers through workshops but to facilitate opportunities through which work can be viewed by regional film makers, potential sponsors and the public" (CSS, 2018). The scope of the *FC* was relatively narrow because it was pitched at providing a platform for enabling dialogue around a sensitive issue, however it is apparent from this framing that CSS recognises the value of film as a storytelling medium, rather than just an education or development tool. Thus, the purpose of the *FC* in tandem with PC, is to build capacity and scope interest in film as well as explore what ways film could be used as a medium for social change.

Remembering that the overarching purpose of PC was to investigate how film might be used as an educational tool and that it is led by individuals who applied for funding from large institutions, a number of important observations can be made in relation to kinships and film. In contrast to Vai and TOL both of which are led by individuals and organisations that prioritise growing film-making in and of itself, this project aims to build capacity and instrumentalise film as well as grow film-makers in Samoa. These multiple purposes mean that the nature of the project is inherently different to TOL and as is later explained, to Vai. The connections forged by the PC team as it travelled through Oceania were done so largely through government and education fora. The use of film as an education tool might be criticised as reductive because the scope of storytelling requires film to be transformative – whether by spreading a message or encouraging conversation about particular issues. However, the FC as it is framed and promoted by CSS shows recognition by a local institution of film's potential as a means of sharing narrative. Criticising film-makers for making films that are not primarily or solely for storytelling purposes unfairly essentialises what it means to make an Oceanian (or more broadly indigenous) film. Different approaches to film-making undoubtedly produce different films. Thus, the value of exploring PC alongside my other sites of research lies in its multiplicity of purposes – exploring its usefulness as an education tool and building capacity of film-makers. The importance of this realisation becomes particularly pertinent in my last chapter which analyses the contributions of the work that current film-making kinships are making to development in Oceania.

Vai

International attention to Pasifika film-making is relatively new. I would suggest that our presence is yet to be felt on a scale that represents the magnitude of our artistic potential and spirit articulated in *The Ocean in Us* (Hau'ofa, 2008). Vai marks a hugely significant shift in Oceanian film-making. It is one of few Oceanian films that has had international acclaim and is available to the general public in mainstream cinemas as well as smaller cinema houses. It also involved nine Pasifika and Māori women directors working collaboratively, giving voice to a diversity of experience and culture. Films from Oceania that have made it to mainstream cinema and television in Aotearoa have more often than not been comedies.⁵⁰ Examples include Sione's Wedding⁵¹ (2016), Three Wise Cousins⁵² (2016) and The Breaker Uppers⁵³ (2018). While these have been celebrated for entertaining audiences in New Zealand they do not necessarily reflect the diversity of stories that could be and are told. While having Pacific films in mainstream cinema and television is important because it is some form of visibility, enabling films like Vai to be made and screened is significant. It shows institutional support for voices and stories from Oceania. The fact that this film was made on various Pacific islands is important in more ways than one. Firstly, the global audience was able to glimpse parts of Oceania that largely have not been visible beyond the region, whether through ethnographic film or otherwise. Secondly, most of the cast were local first-time actors. Their exposure to film and the production process is not an opportunity that they would likely have had access to in their island community. This of course, speaks volumes about the relative scales of production available in the region. The funding and technical support available to the

⁵⁰ Films such as *The Orator: O le Tulafale* (2011) and *One Thousand Ropes* (2017) by Tusi Tamasese are important exceptions.

⁵¹ A feature length comedy about four friends who must find girlfriends to accompany them to their friend's wedding.

⁵² A feature length comedy about a young Samoan man living in New Zealand who goes to Samoa to learn how to be a "real" Pacific Island man in order to impress his crush.

⁵³ A feature length comedy about two women who provide a "break-up service" for people wanting to end a relationship.

directors of *Vai* is far beyond that available to film-makers in the island communities where production took place.

Interestingly, during a Q&A session in the Berlinale NATIVe programme, the director of the Samoa vignette, Marina McCartney articulated the collaborative practice of *Vai* in the following terms:

"This is true nature of the collective. This is Moana cinema." (McCartney, Berlinale NATIVe 2019)

Vai shows collaboration in an obvious sense. Nine women came together and each directed a vignette, which when put together, formed an 80 minute feature film. However, the nature of collaboration goes deeper. Communities on each island were involved to some degree, with almost all of the main characters being played by actors with little or no experience. Further, the ability to link each vignette by water speaks to its essence in each of the places where the stories unfold. McCartney uses the term *moana* – which is commonly used in Polynesia for the Pacific Ocean. Arguably, this is a literal projection of Hau'ofa's challenge to see the ocean as a force that connects us all in Oceania. Of course, the creative genius of the women who wrote and directed this film, and the producers who concepted *Vai* must be credited for producing such a successful film. The visceral feeling captured by the film is one that transcends nation-state boundaries and the physical distance between the many islands of Oceania. *Vai* is certainly a film to be celebrated. Though of course it is not representative of the diverse experiences and feelings of women in the region, it captures some of the essence of what it means to be an Oceanian woman. Perhaps it is the beginning of a wave of Oceanic film that enables the sharing of diverse and rich narratives.

Institutional support for film in Oceania

This section outlines the policy environment within which Oceanian films are currently being made. This is important for understanding the extent to which policy informs and enables growth in film-making. I begin by outlining current institutional support in Aotearoa for Oceanian film-making as the nation-state with one of the longest histories of institutional support for film in the region. As has been mentioned, and will be briefly reiterated, there is very little in the way of government or institutional support in film-making elsewhere in Oceania. This will be addressed below.

__

⁵⁴ Fiona Collins, who plays Vai in the Samoa vignette, is the only actor with any previous experience in film.

Te Tumu Whakaata – New Zealand Film Commission

NZFC is the government-mandated organisation which provides funding and support to film-makers in Aotearoa. Its role is to grow, promote and support the country's screen industry. In 2017 NZFC released its statement of intent which sets out the strategic direction up until 2021. One of the commitments it makes is to "help culturally significant films get made" (NZFC, 2017). These are further defined as those which "celebrate the unique and distinctive cultures of New Zealand" (Ibid). Specific support is provided to Māori and Pasifika film-makers through He Ara (Māori and Pasifika film pathways). This funds film-makers with Māori or Pacific Island heritage to create feature films by supporting (NZFC, 2019, p. 2):

- Increased development of culturally diverse, outstanding New Zealand projects and talent
- The freedom to use Māori and/or Pacific Island development frameworks
- Screen practitioners of Māori and/or Pacific Island heritage gaining clarity on the target audience and market engagement for their films

He Ara Plus is another initiative which accelerates strong projects so that they can be pitched in the domestic or international marketplace and proceed to production (NZFC, 2017, p. 23). In addition to the above, NZFC launched Te Rautaki – NZFC Māori Strategy 2018-2021 (Te Rautaki) . NZFC also appointed Senior Executive Pou Whakahaere, Karen O Te Kahurangi Waaka-Tibble ensure effective implementation of Te Rautaki. In 2018, NZFC went on to announce a new funding opportunity for Pacific or Asian New Zealand film-makers to develop a one-off feature length Pasifika or Asian New Zealand story for primetime screening on TVNZ (NZFC, 2018). There is currently strong support for both indigenous and Pasifika film in Aotearoa. However, it remains that these opportunities are only open to New Zealand residents. This demonstrates the importance of colonial nation-state boundaries and how they can limit the connections that exist between Oceanians (Te Punga Somerville, 2012). These observations are important because they demonstrate the extent to which institutions and their policy frameworks engage or converge with understandings of cultural, linguistic, ancestral connections with Oceanians beyond Aotearoa.

⁵⁵ He Ara Plus supported films such as Merata: How Mum Decolonised the Screen (2018) and Waru (2017).

⁵⁶ This funding was announced in light of NZ On Air's 2018 Diversity report which showed that Pasifika and Asian producers are underrepresented onscreen (NZFC, 2018).

Regional approaches

This section canvasses policies in the region (beyond Aotearoa) related to film and film-making in Oceania. Film policy, where it exists, tends to fall within the area of cultural/cultural development policy.

SPC is the organisation that oversees regional development through programmes and services "designed to reflect the strategic direction set out in the Framework for Pacific Regionalism, the regional priorities identified in the SAMOA⁵⁷ Pathway and the commitments in the SDGs" (SPC, 2015). The policy literature that has been published by SPC is based on region-wide engagement between national and regional staff.

COPAC consists of the heads of culture of all the PICTs and the Ministers of Culture (SPC, n.d.) and is a subsidiary organ of SPC. It is charged with three jobs (SPC, n.d.):

- 1. Supporting the development of the culture sector throughout the PICTs
- 2. Integrating culture across other development sectors
- 3. Managing FESTPAC

In 2012 the *Regional Culture Strategy 2010-2020* (RCS) was published and endorsed by ministers for culture from throughout Oceania in the Solomon Islands. The purpose of the RCS was to provide a medium-term strategy in which culture would drive and support sustainable development and economic growth in the region. In 2018 SPC in partnership with COPAC released the second phase of the RCS (SPC and COPAC, 2018) which also incorporated the findings of a review of the first five years of the RCS.⁵⁸ The review found that while the RCS itself was a milestone in the harmonisation of cultural development priorities with the global and regional frameworks for sustainable development, many of the goals were not met. Firstly, for the RCS to be successful, the institutions that were responsible for implementing it required considerable strengthening themselves (SPC and COPAC, 2018, p. 1). Secondly, resource mobilisation was not adequately accounted for and the strategy needed to be properly communicated to national governments to enable planning and appropriate funding. The recommendations of the review were:

- 1. Reduce and re-prioritise the strategy goals and objectives;
- 2. Develop SMART indicators;

⁵⁷ Small Island Developing States Accelerated Modalities of Action.

⁵⁸ The findings of the review of phase one of the RCS have not been published in a separate document.

- 3. Develop and review the operational aspects of the strategy, including capacity-building for the culture sector at national level; and
- 4. Develop a communication and resource mobilisation strategy. (Ibid).

Notably, the theory of change (TOC)⁵⁹ approach was adopted as a result of the review (see SPC and COPAC, 2018, pp. 4-5). TOC places emphasis on the outputs of a program or intervention and maps a path from input to output to intended impact based on logical thinking (Gugerty and Karlan, 2018). Much of this kind of thinking is often driven by objectivist assumptions that development processes can be mapped and implemented in a rational (and therefore fair and desirable) manner. There is a great deal of literature which challenges such an approach, it is not the purpose of this thesis to canvas those critiques. This signals the kind of approach that SPC and COPAC are currently taking to culture and development in the region – one that is driven by processes of cultural development that are perceived as neutral and free of political influence. I contest that this view of development is appropriate or effective basis upon which policy should be formulated in chapter six.

In 2016 SPC, in partnership with Commonwealth Writers, produced a report which reviewed the policy environment for narrative film and television production in the Oceania region. This review highlighted a number of challenges facing the region in the film-making space. The review states that institutional backing — whether from regional, national groups or governments — is one way of fostering the development of the film industry. The review presents a range of options available to governments: the establishment of a government agency dedicated to facilitating film production; provision of film funding through an established agency or broadcaster; tax rebates and other funding incentives (SPC, 2016, p.10). These institutional approaches, while centred on policy and funding are backed by the argument for creative industries (see Chapter 2, UNESCO and UNDP, 2013; EYGM, 2015). Film production can, if produced and distributed appropriately, yield economic benefits. That however, also requires an understanding, on the part of film-makers, of the business of independent film production so that they can develop viable proposals which would allow them to access funding. The review recommends establishing a regional film and television association which could connect business and creative people to develop concepts;

⁵⁹ A methodology for planning, participation and evaluation often used in government sectors to promote social change. See Brest, 2010.

incentivise opportunities to raise funds through a range of avenues ie donors, private sponsors and international funding opportunities; create a platform to promote local talent and content through television and film festivals (SPC, 2016, p. 20).

This report carries some discursive power in framing film as an important medium for the region — for storytelling, development and potentially commercial enterprise, its recommendations for greater institutional support have not translated into actual support in either capacity-building or financing. Despite the efforts of SPC, there remains no government support in Oceania (save Aotearoa, Australia and Hawai'i) for film-makers.

There has been recognition by SPC of the inherent importance of culture, not only because of its economic value but also its social value. However, this recognition and support has not yet translated into growth in the cultural sector generally, let alone in the film sector. It seems that most Pacific governments do not see sufficient value in the film sector. Despite international push for creative industries and significant work by SPC in terms of regional cultural policy, film is not seen as a priority. Therefore, film-makers are often working without institutional support. In this context, the collaborative practice as described above, has an important role to play in growing and strengthening film-making in Oceania.

Pragmatically speaking, horizontal forms of collaboration – whether in Oceania region or internationally – are essential for producing film that not only tells stories for diverse audiences and give voice(s) to film creatives. This kind of film-making potentially restores agency to communities by reclaiming ownership and control of stories told through film. It enables access to equipment and capacity-building, particularly in technically difficult areas of the film-making process such as lighting, sound and post-production. This is important because growing film-making spaces will not happen without providing budding film-makers with opportunities to share and learn with and from others. The drive towards a collaborative approach to film-making in Oceania that I have encountered through this research is not merely for the practical reasons of sharing resources and skills, although that is important given inequalities in access to resources across the region. It also stems from a deeper sense of connection to kin across the region. The motivations, as articulated by Libby and Safua, and most recently by some of the film-makers of *Vai*, for collaborating go beyond the financial difficulties that come with pursuing film-making as a career, or the challenges of capacity in creating or producing film.

Enabling kinships and collaboration

"... much of the welfare of ordinary people of Oceania depends on an informal movement along ancient routes drawn in bloodlines invisible to enforcers of the lands of confinement and regulated mobility" (Hau'ofa, 1994, p.156).

This discussion suggests the need to reimagine a view of and approach to cultural policy and acknowledge the "informal movement" that is already happening within the region. If we agree that Aotearoa and Australia are a part of Oceania; and that there are kinships that span the region — through shared ancestry, cultural ties and shared kaupapa, then a regional approach that draws on those connections might be beneficial for cultural policy and practice. Drawing on kinships and these ancient routes, industry connections, as well as professional networks, allows for an expansive approach to development practice. Such an approach would require a move away from programmes of scale, top-down, expert-led development and instead towards a kinship or community-based approach that is context specific — whether that context is couched in terms of place, language, or "specialisation". Hau'ofa's oceanic imaginary might seem difficult to put into practice because of its aspirational quality and lack of programme direction. However, I have argued that this imaginary is already in operation.

Film-makers across Oceania are collaborating in a largely horizontal⁶⁰ fashion. The motivations and processes for the different types of collaboration vary from project to project. However, the very fact of that collaborative practice signals some important considerations that policy-makers in the region ought to take into account.

Firstly, *TOL* was established and continues to operate, because of MCT's and MFF's commitment to the kaupapa of growing film-makers in Te Moana-nui-a-Kiwa. This is a clear example of a horizontal approach to growing film-makers in the region. It may not yield immediate success on the big screen in the popular or economic sense. However, it grows a sense of whanaungatanga and reciprocity that may sustainably provide opportunities — whether participants and organisers call them by those terms or not. Further, this project provides an opportunity for young people to make films — one which might be difficult for onisland youth to come by because of access to resourcing. Articulations of collaborative film practice in Oceania demonstrate the significance of an Oceanic imaginary. Its horizontal

.

⁶⁰ I use this term in contrast to "top-down", a label for institutionally driven planning and practice.

nature empowers film-makers by enabling them to simultaneously teach and learn from each other. This is important because it shows how practices of reciprocal capacity-building can help to grow film and film-making in the region.

Festival spaces, such as MFF and MACFEST provide a means of growing opportunities for cultural development beyond heritage and performative culture(s). While each festival receives different levels of institutional support and has a different purpose, they do have commonalities. They are excellent examples of spaces where film-makers (and creatives) can gather to collaborate, share experiences and knowledge. Such spaces are also important for enabling conversations between film-makers and community audiences. The significance of such dialogue will be explored at length in the next chapter.

This thesis suggests that the growth of film-making in Oceania is occurring through multiple trajectories, even if some of these projects and strategies are not highly visible on the national or regional agenda. It seeks to reinforce the relevance and importance of what might be termed "alternative" or "other" understandings of 'networks', reorienting our understanding of the way relationships are formed and how they can be productive for growing film in the region.

Conclusion

Collaboration is essential to film practice. Film creatives in Oceania are collaborating for two main reasons. The first reason is that the constraints on film-making capacity within many Oceanian nations are such that it is difficult for a single person, group or island community to produce a film alone. Collaboration allows for the sharing of equipment, skills and knowledge. The second reason speaks to the regional imaginary that scholars like Hau'ofa, Wendt and Te Punga Somerville write about – building on the deeper connection that exists between the people of Te Moana-Nui-A-Kiwa or the Pacific Ocean. Such connections continue to play a vital role in the establishment and growth of film-making in the region. These kinships are growing storytelling skills through film, sharing knowledge within and beyond the region, as well as developing spaces which could yield economic benefits. Despite the successes that these kinships have yielded, I argue that they have not been adequately recognised as sources and means of cultural practice. The challenge then for institutions is not only to recognise the "merits" of what might be seen as alternative ways of doing 'development', but perhaps even to adopt such methods. That is not to say that

national or regional organisations should co-opt the projects that I have outlined above but instead to find ways support them. The absence of supportive (or any) film policy in Oceania has seen communities of film-makers take it upon themselves to share and learn from each other to enable the growth of film practice and story-telling in the region.

Chapter Six: Film matters

Introduction

So far in my thesis I have made relatively few references to development and its processes or outcomes. I have instead talked about agency, representation and collaboration as they relate to indigenous and Oceanian film. My fourth chapter discussed the political significance of growing indigenous film and how this has occurred. My fifth chapter analysed the diverse methods of collaboration amongst Oceanian film-makers and the reasons behind these collaborations. It also discussed the existing policy support for film in Oceania – of which there is very little. What I have yet to make explicit are the ways that Oceanian film and film practice can contribute to a range of social, cultural, political and economic outcomes that ought to be recognised as cultural development. These practices of film-making and the framing of such kaupapa should, I argue, have greater resonance in policy platforms in the region.

Film, like other artforms, is simultaneously a process (of collaboration) and a product. This means that throughout the production process and in screening, there are spaces for learning and practicing technical skills and dialogue around creative decision-making. Beyond the technical side of capacity-building, an important part of this collaborative practice is the decision-making about representation, language and framing. These are political discussions which are important because they challenge paradigms of film-making which have disempowered indigenous communities (see chapter four) and connect to a broader political agenda of self-determination. Additionally, there is a tangible product that can be shared, whether as a learning resource, an audio-visual narrative or a mixture of both. There are also many ways for individuals and communities to engage with film. In film circles however, the notion of development as we might know it from a mainstream, institutional perspective is not an important focus. While there is some attention globally to films for social action, film's transformative value is not usually framed in development terms. My final chapter of analysis draws together my previous chapters and argues the valuable contributions that film is making in Oceania. I also make some recommendations as to how the kaupapa I have investigated might help realise some of the ends of a broader understanding of development. I discuss the implications of using film 'for development' and how such practice might be reconciled with some of the obstacles to the production of film in the region, at different scales.

Value of film

Film's value to Oceania, I argue, lies largely in its ability to support social and cultural change as well as facilitate a regional expressive practice that is agentic and innovative. This section discusses the significance of film as a site of possibility for: enabling screen sovereignty; socially transformative change; building collaborative kinships and capacity.

Social change

One of the findings, unsurprisingly, that has come out of my research is the utility of film as a means of spreading an educational message. This is not new, given the work of organisations such as Wan Smol Bag⁶¹ and the Centre for Creative and Social Media⁶² as well as more recently, *PC*. This kind of film-making feeds directly into mainstream development by facilitating education around what has been termed social development. Films that deal with gender-based violence and maternal and sexual health issues enable education of and for communities that might otherwise rely on workshops, training programmes and the dissemination of material that requires literacy in a particular language. This becomes problematic when working with communities across a range of languages and dialects or those who do not have the literacy to understand such material.

Wan Smolbag is an NGO, established in 1989, which uses theatre and film as media to create "awareness, dialogue and empowerment in a range of areas from governance, development, health and wellbeing, and resource management" (Wan Smolbag, 2018). Some of their work includes the multi-series television show Love Patrol (2007-present) which is intended to educate audiences about AIDS and other social and health issues; and Like Any Other Lovers (1992) which was produced to stimulate dialogue and education about HIV. Such productions continue to get international funding from organisations such as the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT). The documentary series Pawa Meri (supported by the Centre for Creative and Social Media at the University of Goroka, PNG, and all written and

⁶¹ Wan Smolbag is an organisation which uses theatre and film to raise awareness and create dialogue about various issues in Vanuatu (Wan Smolbag, 2018).

⁶² The Centre for Social and Creative Media a research centre established by the University of Goroka focused on using media and communication for individuals and communities to voice concerns relating to social justice and indigenous values (University of Goroka, 2017).

directed by PNG women film-makers) also has the aim of creating change, through profiling a range of inspiring women leaders in PNG. One of the films, *Sister Lorraine* (2016), tells the story of Sister Lorraine Garasu, whose efforts towards peace and reconciliation both during, and following, the Bougainville crisis have been highly significant. These films are important because they are being made locally but also because they demonstrate the importance of film as a medium for communication and sharing. In illiterate communities and in circumstances where intervention by "outsiders" is not necessarily welcome, being able to present stories on screen with and from your own people can be a powerful means of stimulating dialogue.

PC has supported the use of film as a means of addressing gender-based issues in Oceania (see chapter three for full description). The rationale for the project, while articulated in instrumental terms, does emphasises the importance of context in both its planning and practice:

"With PNG and Samoan film-makers' recent development of culturally effective participatory methods and ethnographic evidence that Pacific gender differentiates relational roles not biological difference, this international research network opens a new space for dialogue in which academics and non-academics can collaborate in re-thinking the current paradigms in development policy and practice" (UKRI, 2016).

This project has highlighted the power of film as a means of broaching sensitive but important discussions of issues affecting communities.

"Because of the sensitive nature of some of these issues it seems that film looks to be a useful medium or a tool for people to be open about some of the challenges and some of the work that people are doing around gender." (S. Amaama, personal communication, July 23, 2018).

This shows the utility of film as a means of starting conversation around gender-based issues – an area which remains a development priority for organisations such as UNDP and UN Women.⁶³ Safua is quite clear that this project looks to address gender issues and therefore forms part of development practice.

"This is an alternative to perhaps a more mainstream approach to gender issues. There have been challenges at the higher level where we've been in discussions with UN management and they've sort of dismissed film-making as irrelevant...that's a challenge

_

⁶³ Increasing Political Participation of Women in Samoa was a project led by UNDP in partnership with the Samoan government. It aimed to increase the participation of women in national Samoan politics during the 2016 general election.

when these are people who are designing programs and rolling them out in the Pacific." (S. Amaama, personal communication, July 23, 2018).

In an environment like Samoa "where sometimes the youth don't feel their views are heard" (S. Amaama, personal communication, July 23, 2018), film is one way that youth and groups who may feel like they have not been listened to, can share their stories as they relate to gender issues. Similar remarks were made by Papua New Guinean film-maker Diane Anton about the film *Aliko and Ambai* (2017) which she co-directed with Mark Eby. *Aliko and Ambai* is a feature film about two young women who each face issues as they grow up in the Eastern Highlands of Papua New Guinea. Challenges include "tribal conflict, poverty, bullying, domestic violence, and forced marriage" (filmfreeway, ND). When asked about the impact of the film in her community she says:

"It is changing a lot of things. The ingredient in this film that we've done is that we're not hiding away. We want to show that this is the issue and people need to take ownership, not just men but our women as well. It's causing a lot of impact in the community. The production has gone and it's big in Papua New Guinea. Also, men are talking about this — what they've been going through. And some of them have admitted "oh yeah it's true, I've been going through some of this and I need to change this" or "I know of other men who are doing this". It's not about pinpointing men, it's targeted to everyone." (RNZ, 2019)

These are excellent examples which show how film can be used to engage communities in discussions about their own societies. Here the end is to work with communities to actively discuss and challenge the detrimental effect of gender-based issues. Using film to tell a story, whether fictional or based on true events, can enable dialogue between audience and film-makers alike. Film's ability to travel within and between communities has implications for development practice using film. Access is already made easier by increased cellphone ownership (L. Munau, personal communication, July 8th, 2018). As high-speed internet becomes more readily available, film and its message(s) can reach more communities.

While creative input is important for maximising the impact of a story, arguably, using film for purely instrumental purposes might marginalise creative agency of film-makers because it limits the types of stories that can be told. This does not make film any less valuable to development. It simply means that measures must be taken to ensure that there are also spaces beyond mainstream development education for film-makers to tell stories of their choosing.

Building capacity

Another advantage of using film as a development tool in Oceania is that the process of film-making itself (not just the product) can be used as a capacity-building platform. Teaching individuals and communities how to use a camera, record audio, think about story-lines, and edit programmes develops skills through which young people may then be able to tell stories of their own choosing or gain employment in the creative industries or in journalism and media.

TOL is an excellent example of capacity-building in the film-making space. For Libby TOL is not about making films that are convergent with development priorities, although its processes inevitably develop intercultural knowledge, group facilitation, and technical skills. Instead the emphasis is more on youth sharing skills and experience in film-making with other youth in the region:

They realised that the opportunity that they've been given in terms of being able to have access to cameras and you know, learn techniques through film...that they needed to share that stuff. It's neat watching kids teach other kids because they're so quick. (L. Hakaraia, personal communication, July 16, 2018).

Providing individuals with skills to create and share their stories can be an empowering experience. Enabling individuals and communities to voice their stories through film is one way of creating space for expression. In addition, such training and opportunities might enable pathways into the film and media industries. Indeed, many of the film-makers I met were employed in the media or in communications using their skills.⁶⁴ Generally, exposure film workshops would be prohibitively expensive because of the lack of institutional support. There is, of course, a monumental leap from film-making in a community and/or development capacity to film-making for the purpose of screening to international audiences (see SPC, 2016). However, with the appropriate funding and training pathway, there could be scope for film-makers to pursue gainful employment in the creative industries.

_

⁶⁴ Diane Anton (director of *Aliko and Ambai*) works for Oxfam PNG in their communications team; Regina Lepping is at UNDP Solomon Islands working in youth development and communications; Jojo Lepping is a journalist for the *Solomon Star;* Gina Kaitiplel is Production Coordinator for Further Arts Nesar Studio.

Creative industries

Globally there is a growing interest in Oceanian film. This is indicated by the reception received by recent films such as Vai^{65} (2019), $Waru^{66}$ (2017), $One\ Thousand\ Ropes^{67}$ (2017) and $Out\ of\ State^{68}$ (2017). If there is an appetite for Oceanian film, then it seems clear that there is scope for creative industries – specifically film-making – to grow with the right support in training, production and distribution. The SPC review of film and television in the region also identified the potential of film as an industry (SPC, 2016, p. 1). However, the review also identified that lack of funding and institutional support from national governments in Oceania were significant barriers to the growth of the film (and television) industry (SPC, 2016, p. 10). There is still a great deal of work to be done in order to build a film industry that is self-sustaining and can produce a return on investment. Options for supporting film in the region are discussed in the last section of this chapter.

Using film as a development tool has importance. However, film-making also presents important opportunities to engage creatively in sharing audio-visual narrative; to tell and share stories in ways that have not been done before. I argue that it could and should have an active role to play in producing outcomes that are consistent with a more expansive understanding of development. This argument will become more apparent in the sections that follow.

Oceanic imaginary

Film used for educational purposes and growing economies is certainly important but what this section also shows is that film's transformative power goes beyond addressing social issues through education and dialogue, and growing industries. In chapter five of this thesis, I argued that some of the film-making practices operate outside policy spaces. This section highlights how the relationships and connections in film-making practice that I have observed

_

⁶⁵See chapter three for full description and chapter five for more discussion. *Vai* screened at the Berlinale Film Festival 2019, South by Southwest Film Festival 2019 and Māoriland Film Festival 2019 (NZ on Screen, n.d.) ⁶⁶ Directed by nine women indigenous to Aotearoa. In 2017 *Waru* screened at the New Zealand International Film Festival, Toronto Film Festival, imagineNATIVE Film and Media Arts Festival (opening night film). (NZ on Screen, n.d.)

⁶⁷ Directed by Samoa-born Tusi Tamasese. In 2017 the film screened at: Berlinale, Māoriland Film Festival, Heartlands Film Festival, Adelaide Film Festival, BFI London Film Festival, Stockholm International Film Festival; in 2018: Palm Springs International Film Festival, Asian Film Festival Barcelona, Spain, University of Iowa - Bijou Film Board.

⁶⁸ Directed by Ciara Lacey (Hawai'l, United States of America), awarded Special Jury Award for Artistic Vision, Portland Film Festival, 2017, winner 2017 Liberty Bell Award from the Hawaii State Bar Association's Young Lawyer's Division.

are reflective of post-development. In the context of Oceania little research has been carried out in the development theory and practice spaces about the influence of kinship connections as I have analysed, aside from writing about remittances and labour movements (Bertram and Watters, 1985; Stark and Bloom, 1985). What my research has shown is that kinships, as they are forming and operating in Oceania, continue to be spaces where a range of outcomes are created. There is recognition of the importance of practicing and exchanging *performative* and *material* culture in the region (see for example SPC and COPAC, 2018). This has not extended however, to This section summarises the various ways that film-making projects engage with and reflect the Oceanic imaginary, as envisioned by Wendt (1976) and Hau'ofa (1993, 2008).

Through Our Lens

TOL engaged directly with film-making organisations on each island they visited and were invited by those organisations to carry out the film-making workshops with *rangatahi*. The horizontal nature of engagement – from one film-making kin to another – reduces the kind of power imbalance that is inherent in top-down development, and that inevitably reduces the agency of development "subjects" or "target communities". Communities are engaging in ways that are respectful of the agency that each person has – as an individual and as part of communities of their own. This kaupapa builds on shared interests where the work of each partner is understood and valued. This goes some way to reducing power imbalance often inherent in development processes – particularly between donors and development organisations, and recipient communities.

Film-makers travelling to other islands in Oceania also has implications for how power may be perceived. After all, access to the resources and equipment in Aotearoa, whether you are in the film industry or not, is much easier than elsewhere in the region (with the exception of Australia, and to a lesser extent, Hawai'i). However, Libby is adamant that TOL is underscored by the notion of reciprocity where film-makers are brought together to learn from each other. Within the tuakana/teina relationships that emerge in TOL, Libby has stated that the rangatahi see themselves as teina when they travel to another community, and are focused on learning, as well as sharing skills. The horizontality of the relationship between organisations is important. It signals respect for all communities, and the knowledge and skill they bring.

The basis for such practices is far from the modernist thinking centred around economic development that has historically shaped development. That kin relationships and whakapapa are integral to these project sites, is instead, largely in opposition to the neoliberal agenda that has driven development in recent decades and which posits the market as a neutral regulatory force able to address development needs.

Māoriland Film Festival

MFF plays an important role as probably the most significant indigenous film festival in Oceania.⁶⁹ It enables the growth and strengthening of relationships between film-making communities in the region. For Libby Hakaraia and the team at Māoriland, being able to share and experience indigenous films with indigenous communities from around the globe is paramount. Within this space, both the act of watching the film in a shared space and the fact that those stories are told by indigenous film-makers are both of central importance. In addition to this MFF hosts fora for discussion including Q&A sessions, *NativeMinds* public talks as well as other workshops for industry members. The question and answer sessions following some of the film screenings present opportunities for film-makers and audiences to engage in discussion about the film-making processes, inspiration behind the film, and how it might relate to their own communities. NATIVE Minds is a "series of interactive discussions that examine how indigenous thinking shapes our existence, and our view of the world" (MFF, 2018).

Vai

Vai brought together women film-makers with heritage linking them to various islands in Oceania. It is an extremely important film in terms of representation (both within the region and globally) of the lives of Pacific women. However, film-makers had to be New Zealand residents, in order, presumably, to access financial support from NZFC. On one hand, therefore Vai gives visibility to Oceanian women film-makers and the stories that they have to tell, in Aotearoa and beyond. On the other hand, however, the directors all seem to occupy relative positions of power and privilege when compared with film-makers on other island nations in Oceania. Individuals and communities from Solomon Islands, Samoa, Tonga, Fiji, Niue, and Aotearoa could be a part of the storytelling and film-making processes as actors, but not in key creative roles. Although kinships may emerge from that film-making process

⁶⁹ Excluding Australia.

that create further opportunities, *Vai* demonstrates the unevenness of access to resourcing and institutional support that persists within the region, and that, therefore, impacts the ability of some to tell their stories. This means that while film practice is one way of enacting agency that is consistent with regional imaginaries, it too, is a process within which striations of power may form.

Pacific Connections (Community Film-making for Gender Equality in the Pacific)

PC demonstrates a different politicised process. It shows how connections between film-making communities forged through institutionally driven projects can produce outcomes that resonate with mainstream development policy and practice.

As discussed in the previous chapter, it is one example of film being directly instrumentalised for development outcomes. PC was focused on fostering film-making in the community to produce visual stories that would become a part of a dialogue on gender-based issues. This project was driven and funded by development, government and education institutions. ⁷⁰ It funded workshops and the *FC* to encourage aspiring film-makers to participate and create their own films. This challenge also facilitated the film-making kinships in Samoa. This is important because it shows how development practice can aid or accelerate relationship-building processes. Enabling connections also provides spaces for people to collaborate and exchange experience in film-making. To an extent, this is problematic. Development is intervening to create communities of film-makers while imposing creative restrictions – such as messaging around gender-based issues – in order to produce mainstream outcomes. However, these individuals and communities are still making films that tell stories and represent their voices. To diminish this film-making process because film is used for instrumental ends would undermine the agency of those film-makers who have chosen to tell their story for a particular end.

The collaborative approaches that I have discussed above often build new connections between film creatives or draw on those connections which have already been forged. This perspective is consistent with and arguably a manifestation of Hau'ofa's Oceanic imaginary, which defines Oceania as a sea of islands connected, rather than separated, by the ocean. Oceanians assume agency as people with knowledge and experience to share with

_

⁷⁰ See chapter three for full description of *Pacific Connections*.

each other across the Pacific Ocean. It also articulates and embodies personal and professional connections that defy the colonial borders of nation-state, instead drawing on a shared whakapapa and kaupapa to bring people together. This is a key part of this thesis because it informs our understanding of Oceanic network building at a horizontal level.

The use of kinship reflects an expansive understanding of community as limited by physical or geographical proximity. The literature about the role of kinships – beyond the village or national level – in the implementation of development across the region is rather limited with the exception of the MIRAB model (see Bertram & Watters, 1986) of development and New Economics of Labor Migration (NELM) (see Stark & Bloom, 1985). The focus of these models is on the *economic* consequences (Bedford, 2001) for both families and at a higher level, nation-states. Emphasising the ways that film-makers connect and share with each other highlights their respective agency and how they exercise that. This challenges the dominance of the universal or global approaches and ends of mainstream development by highlighting the value of connecting communities with, from and to others within the region.

Development often operates at such a large scale that often the agency of communities can be obscured. Perhaps utilising kinships as both drivers of development and contexts of development would not be the "rational"⁷¹ choice. Arguably the lines of accountability may prove difficult where working with groups which are not necessarily aligned with national interests. Perhaps the complexity of factoring in people and relationships is seen as too difficult or too risky in development planning and practice. However, this kind of thinking "is associated with a neglect of the values and principles that inspire action and with neglect of promotion of agency" (Frediani, Boni and Gasper, 2014, p.2). The clash between "rational" development planning and practice and the messy realities of life has been interrogated by a number of scholars (see Mowles, Stacey, and Griffen, 2008; Moser, 1993). Lastly, emphasising the connectedness across time and space, rather than the geographic distance between individuals and communities across the region subverts many of the development narratives about the Pacific and small island developing states (Hau'ofa, 2008).

_

⁷¹ Rationality in development has become increasingly important as a project-oriented approach to development has become the norm (see Frediani and Gasper, 2014).

This uptake or reclaiming of the lens and storytelling is consistent with hopeful post-development. Recognition of film and its history as the product of political struggle enables people to "untangle" indigenous stories from the medium and method which has, for so long, marginalised indigenous communities – and choose to tell stories on their own terms.

Supporting role: development policy

Film presents a number of opportunities for Oceania as a region because of its versatility as a tool and creative process that can facilitate capacity-building, social change, and greater screen sovereignty. Some of the institutional approaches, led by organisations like UNESCO and SPC do aim to foster cultural development in Oceania, however, these are still largely strategic in nature and have yet to be fully implemented (SPC and COPAC, 2018). All but one of the spaces or events that I interrogated in my thesis were led by a film-based organisation rather than a development organisation. Further, the way that these spaces or events were organised were not bound by overly bureaucratic processes. This is important for several reasons. Firstly, it highlights how integral industry-based organisations are to the growth of creative industries as opposed to development organisations which tend to overlook the creative industries. Secondly, that government support has, in many places, been and continues to be crucial for growing industries. This has certainly been the case in Aotearoa with the NZFC and NZ On Air supporting the growth of New Zealand's film industry. A lack of support elsewhere reflects an apparent reluctance on the part of governments to invest in ways that might be needed to develop a film industry. Thirdly, the processes that are taking place in the region fall within more expansive understandings of development.

However, the spaces where Oceanic film-making and film sharing is growing are not spaces that are led or created by institutions. *PC* is the only project which, while in its infant stages, is driven by individuals from relatively large institutions and funded by a European institution (refer to chapter three). *Vai* was funded by the NZ Film Commission and driven by established Māori and Pasifika producers Kerry Warkia and Kiel McNaughton. The MACFEST is part of a wider regional agenda to nurture cultural exchange amongst Pacific nations and is focused largely on performative and heritage cultures (SPC and COPAC, 2018). Individuals such as Libby Hakaraia, Llane Munau and other film-makers from the region did not use development language such as "outputs", "sustainable development" or even the word "development" in

their discussion on film. Instead their kaupapa were driven by their respective desires to tell stories; facilitate social change in their communities; and grow local film and film-makers.

The discussion above highlights the strengths of film-making and film networks as they are currently being used in the region — to tell and pass on stories, to share knowledge, to facilitate dialogue, and perhaps more marginally, to grow opportunities for film-makers. My previous analysis has highlighted that cultural development policy has done little, as yet, to aid the growth of film in Oceania. There is a cultural development policy framework which focuses largely on heritage and performative arts as a means of attracting tourism, and which discusses how culture can play a more integral role in the way development policy is formulated generally. However, this policy framework does not necessarily account for the diversity of film-making methods and projects in the region. This section outlines some recommendations for film or cultural policy in the region.

Growing kinships

I argue that more attention needs to be paid to the kinships which already exist within and between communities of film-makers in the region. The tuakana-teina model that is used in Through Our Lens programme; the collaborative approach undertaken to produce films such as *Vai*; the relationships created informally between film creatives in film festivals and other spaces are not usually the kinds of spaces where development planning and practice occurs, yet they are clearly generative and enabling on many levels. Consideration ought, therefore, to be given to how development policy and funding can be used to support growing such opportunities to connect with each other (while being careful not to co-opt these spaces). While the reasons for collaborating vary, there is little offered by development and cultural policy organisations across the region which encourages collaboration in the creative industries beyond nation-state borders. *Vai* is unique in that sense but was still restricted to film-makers who held New Zealand citizenship or equivalent working rights, to receive that funding and support.

Regional film support

A regional film fund which enables and strengthens connections between film-making kinships across Oceania would clearly be beneficial for growing Oceanian film, particularly to support film-makers with no state support and for enabling bigger productions. The recently established Arctic Indigenous Film Fund (AIFF) is one example of a regional film fund that supports the growth of indigenous film-making which might serve as a useful model for creating institutional support for film in Oceania. The goals of the AIFF are set out below (AIFF, 2019).

Arctic Indigenous Film Fund will:

- Support development of indigenous film projects in the whole Arctic
- Invest in all film productions that enhance the indigenous peoples cultures and languages
- Encourage co-production by building a sustainable film industry in the Arctic with special emphasis on indigenous peoples cultures.
- Build competence in the Arctic film region by strengthening collaboration between film institutions, companies, producers and universities.

The AIFF is funded by Sundance Film Institute⁷² (United State of America), Canada Media Fund⁷³ (Canada), Greenland Film Makers⁷⁴ (Greenland) and Archy – Promotion and Filmmaking in Yakutia⁷⁵ (Russia). It is also funded and will be established under the International Sami Film Institute⁷⁶ (Norway). It provides support to film-makers in all stages, from screenwriting to production and marketing (AIFF, 2019). The AIFF goes some way to creating financial bridges to enable indigenous film-makers in the region to tell their stories on screen. It rationalises its existence in the following terms:

⁷² Institute established by Robert Redford dedicated to independent film. See chapter four for more.

⁷³ A not-for-profit organisation whose mission is to guide "Canadian content towards a competitive global environment through fostering industry innovation, rewarding success, enabling a diversity of voice and promoting access to content through industry and private sector partnerships" (CMF, 2017). It receives government funding and contributions from Canada's cable, satellite and IPTV distributors (Ibid.).

⁷⁴ The purpose of Greenland Film Makers is to promote film content from Greenland and create opportunities within the North Atlantic region for film-makers to share their experiences with each other (FILM.GL, 2016).

⁷⁵ No information available on this organisation.

⁷⁶ Sapmi is the region which is home to the indigenous, Sami people. It stretches over the northern parts of Norway, Sweden, Finland and part of Russia. The International Sami Film Institute is an organisation dedicated to growing Sami film by providing opportunities for film-makers in all stages of film-making (ISFI, 2018).

"There is much economic and cultural potential for the region, also for indigenous film and arts. The goal is to have Arctic broadcasts covering the entire region for all the indigenous communities. Within the various broadcast companies there are cooperations, but they have small funds depending on governmental or regional support. There is a lack of laws and regulations within the different countries to stimulate finance co-operation...For this reason there is an urgent need for the indigenous arctic artists film-makers to work together since they have common interests and stories to tell and they also have the right to be heard and to express themselves also in a more global context." (AIFF, 2019).

The motivations for establishing the AIFF resonate with Oceanian film-makers' articulations of their desire to grow film in Oceania. Its importance is not purely as a means of stimulating economic growth but also to grow representation and voice of indigenous communities behind the lens and on screen. This model is consistent with that proposed by the SPC's (2016, p. 2) review of film and television in the Oceanian region. With a clear vision and development plan, a mandated organisation would aid the growth of film and film-makers in the region. This would broaden opportunities for collaborative film in Oceania for a range of purposes.

Conclusion

It is my contention that my sites of inquiry are driving cultural development both in terms of questioning how culture is produced but also the kinds of cultural products that are created in film-making spaces in Oceania. The approach taken by COPAC places regional and national institutions in the "driver's seat" of development because it has formulated and implemented development policy. Though development driven by national-level institutions is not undesirable per se, my research highlights that it is not the only way to "do" development. That there are also a number of projects which are yielding the kinds of successes that might be hailed as cultural development – despite them occurring in spaces that might not typically be associated with development. Notions of agency and representation are often included as part of the dialogue about democratising development. This, of course, is important because it goes some way to addressing the power imbalance that often exists between local communities and development organisations. Film is another means of adding to this practice of democratising development by enabling communities to actively engage in film-making and narrate their own stories.

Chapter Seven: Conclusion

Post-development has been criticised for failing to provide alternatives or solutions to the problems that it highlights. If development is an inherently political process which privileges certain groups and systems of knowledge and practices, then the role of post-development proponents is to imagine development differently (Gibson-Graham, 2008). This requires not only rethinking the outcomes of development, but also how we go about doing it. The idea of 'hopeful geographies' (Gibson-Graham, 2008) promotes going beyond simply recognising that development has caused some damage. It seeks to empower voices and worldviews that are often rendered less visible by development processes and to come up with solutions. McGregor (2009, p. 1692) summarises the role of post-development research:

"If 'words make worlds' post-development researchers are increasingly seeking to articulate alternatives to encourage spaces where what was once dismissed as irrelevant or non-existent are highlighted and can be discussed, find support and shape futures. Such approaches provide powerful means of re-imagining places in terms of capacities and opportunities rather than in terms of needs and limitations."

McGregor's challenge urged me, during my research to be particular with some of the terms I chose to employ. If post-development is about challenging the definitions of development as determined by Western frameworks then the language too must also be challenged.

I have, throughout my thesis employed terms such as kinships and Oceania. I have used these terms because they reflect relationships between individuals and communities which are grounded in people and place. I have used the term Oceania because of the history that "Pacific" bears (refer to chapter one). Additionally, the growing body of scholarship which uses the name suggests that there is strong support for its use. The term kinship has a familial or relational dimension that other terms, like network, lack. The ancestral and epistemological connections are beyond a seemingly neutral and ahistorical term like network or association. Using language like this renders more visible, not the existence of kinships in the region but the way that they are and have been forming. It also draws attention to the work they are doing and how they do it.

Post-development and Pacific Studies have played seminal roles in my interrogation of film and its contributions to development in Oceania. They have enabled me to deconstruct and

-

⁷⁷ See for example Te Punga Somerville, 2012; Lopesi, 2018.

analyse development in ways that are conscious of context. This disciplinary intersection is valuable in development research because it seeks to question and challenge the knowledge and systems that have generally determined the trajectory of development theory and practice. Moreover, this intersectional approach does so in a way that is informed by Oceanian scholarship and aspirations.

This final chapter goes on to summarise the findings of my research and highlights the important ways that film and development are interacting in Oceania.

Power of film

One of the most repeated sentiments that came out of my interviews and observation of film festivals and spaces, was the "power of film". Safua remarked on the ability of film to encourage discussion of sensitive issues, but not purely because it provides something for individuals and communities to speak to. It also conveys themes and stories in ways that words cannot.

"You know our people are very visual and I think through film and people expressing their own stories, I think that's always moving for people." S. Amaama, personal communication, July 2018).

Film's power lies in the screening experience as a means of audiences engaging in viewing, not being mere recipients. Barry Barclay (1990) argued that sharing in the storytelling experience with others was an important part of how indigenous film is shared. This tended to come up in the discussion on film as a medium or the reasons why film-makers got into film in the first place. For them it was as much about a fascination with moving image as it was about using film as a tool for telling stories and spreading a message or messages. One of the common threads was the power it had to transform, by highlighting or invoking social change.

It is well-known that knowledge transmission in Oceania has been heavily reliant on an oral tradition (Finnegan & Orbell, 1995) whereby stories, whakapapa and sacred knowledges have been passed down through storytelling, chanting or performative culture. The nature of such practice varies across the region and has not happened uniformly across islands. Film is one way of documenting and to a certain extent, preserving stories or knowledge. There is a scope and degree of utility to film for documenting history for indigenous populations (see Pearson and Knabe, 2014). One of the issues that arises out of this proposition that film might be used

as a tool for documenting history is that such films can be criticised for failing to account for the multi-dimensional complexity inherent to all histories. Of course, film is always framed and so is never simply a recording of the "real". If the camera is used in a way that is driven by Oceanians in a respectful manner then film-making becomes less about telling the story of the other and instead about sharing stories with each other. This is consistent with Smyth's (1992) argument that film enables communities to "rewrite history from the bottom up" (p. 206). Film provides a channel through which people can share knowledge, and experience.

Indigenous film

My research has highlighted the political significance of indigenous film. Defining indigeneity and what makes an indigenous film remains a task fraught with difficulties. Self-identification as indigenous by a film-maker or a key creative on a film and adopting a film-making process that is conscious of indigenous worldviews and tells a story from such perspectives, are important elements of indigenous film. However, indigeneity as practiced outside place of origin, and the involvement of non-indigenous in key creative roles can complicate what might seem like simple criteria. As cultures and stories become more globalised through increasingly pervasive sharing practices, the process of delineating indigenous film from non-indigenous film becomes an increasingly complex process.

Examining the contributions of indigenous film-makers around the globe, provides a useful understanding of the political significance of indigenous film globally. The agency of indigenous film comes partly through redressing some of the inequities borne out of ethnographic film-making and the misappropriation of stories and cultures of indigenous peoples. Establishing a platform for indigenous communities to share and learn from others' experiences of colonisation has been gaining momentum with the proliferation of festivals and platforms for indigenous and independent film. There is a sense of solidarity amongst indigenous film-makers as people who have experiences rooted in a shared history of subjugation by colonial powers. Efforts to engage in meaningful and authentic storytelling to address these experiences, and also for indigenous film-makers to create narratives on any subject matter of choice, are part of a wider decolonisation agenda. The reclamation of the lens and consequently of narrative results in ownership of story which in turn is an exercise of agency.

Oceanic kinships

This research found that kinships are being formed between communities of Oceanian film-makers through common connections to each other – through the ocean, through whakapapa, through a shared passion for storytelling. Film-makers throughout parts of the islands of Oceania have expressed an understanding of regionalism that is not based solely on geographic proximity. Instead, it is based on ancestral connections and shared historical experiences of colonialism and some similarities in world view.

Institutions and organisations have contributed to building Oceanic kinships with film projects such as *Vai* pulling together Pacific industry professionals with up-and-coming film-makers to bring together a production that has been screened to mainstream audiences around the world. This is financially supported by government-mandated institutions and thus largely along nation-state lines. Opportunities to connect and collaborate with other film-makers, as in the case of *Vai*, are not as available to everyone across the region. Some of the other film projects in the region led by institutions have an instrumental component but contribute to the growth of stories on screen led by Oceanians. Film festivals also present important opportunities for film-makers to connect with each other. These opportunities are often available to those who have funding available to travel to festivals. Kinship-building among film-makers is occurring in different types of spaces and, like most processes, happens unevenly. These kinships are important to film-making because they provide links to communities with skills and knowledge with each other.

Expansive development

My thesis highlights the importance of continuing the challenge to reimagine development in Oceania. I have demonstrated how employing an intersectional framework from Pacific Studies and Development Studies can be used to interrogate the ends and processes of development. Questioning how we frame development is pivotal if we are to find different ways of thinking about and doing development in Oceania. I have found through the application of ideas from post-development theory that much of what is happening in film spaces in the region is beneficial for communities. Building and strengthening kinships; growing indigenous film and conversation about the issues that indigenous communities face; reclaiming agency and story – these are all forms of empowerment which contribute to well-being in a broad sense. If we moved beyond mainstream development priorities and facilitated spaces that allow for sharing, exchange and learning in ways that may not fit tidily

within the "logic" of project management, or bureaucratic processes, then perhaps we might be practicing a hopeful kind of post-development.

Limitations

This research is limited by the scope of projects that I was able to explore. That is necessarily the case with all research. My analysis employs the regional or Oceanic imaginary. In doing so, I am trying to highlight connections across vast waters and communities occurring, being strengthened and articulated through film practice. While I argue that the notion of a regional imaginary can and does have powerful implications for the way we conceive of, plan and practice development, my application and analysis has been limited to the Eastern Pacific (largely Polynesia) by virtue of the types of projects and festivals that I focused on. An examination of a wider range of film projects from communities such as Papua New Guinea in the East and Federated States of Micronesia in the West and the discourse around their projects might have helped bolster my argument for a notion of development underpinned by the regional imaginary. My research must be carefully qualified by stating that the notion of the Oceanic imaginary may not capture how many across the region conceptualise their place within the Pacific Ocean. Instead, this notion likely has uneven applicability because of the diversity of communities and their connections, spiritual or otherwise, to the ocean.

Another limitation is the limited number of interviews I was able to carry out. When my research began, the funding for *Vai* had just been announced and within a year the film had premiered. This meant that there was very little opportunity to arrange interviews, much less engage with the film-makers for the purpose of my research. Had I been able to engage with one of the directors or producers in an interview, I would have been allowed a depth of insight that might strengthen my argument about the importance of regional connections between Oceanian film-makers. A corollary of this time constraint is that I was unable to include much of the reception and outcomes of the film projects. *Vai* had yet to be toured around the Pacific island communities who were a part of the film-making process; MFF was in the process of establishing a film-making residency; *FC* was in the process of presenting lessons learned from the competition and figuring out the next steps. While the events or projects themselves can be seen as finite in temporal terms, their impacts are not necessarily so limited.

Future directions for research

Any future research would be best placed to cover a wider range of film projects, especially in geographic terms. As discussed above, my research was largely centred around Polynesian communities. However, in order to convincingly argue that the regional imaginary can and does inform film practice at a truly regional level, one would have to carry out qualitative research in many parts of Oceania. Following the trajectories of film-makers who participated in *TOL*, *Vai*, *FC* and MACFEST would allow for longitudinal-type analysis of the effectiveness of kinships and the regional imaginary in growing film. Lastly, an extension of this research would be to conduct further qualitative research in partnership with policy-makers on the ways that these kinships might be supported and mobilised in development spaces in ways that are constructive for film-makers, communities and government.

Going forward

This is an exciting time in Oceania for film-makers. Never has the technology been available for communities to collaborate with each other in ways that they have been in recent years. While film-making remains a relatively new practice in the region, the projects that I have discussed in this thesis indicate that there is a growing interest and passion for creating and sharing stories on screen.

One of the greatest needs in the region, if film and film-making is to grow here, is resourcing. Money alone will not eliminate all the barriers to film-making in the region such as access to equipment, and training in all stages of film development — whether in script development, production or post-production. It is, however, a necessary component. As suggested in chapter six of my thesis, a funding structure like that of the Arctic Film Fund, in Oceania, could be very significant. It could encourage collaboration amongst film-makers across the region and support some of the ways that film-makers already connect with each other.

Film festivals such as MFF are hugely significant spaces for film-makers in the region. They enable learning, sharing and dialogue between film-makers and audiences that are seldom generated in other spaces. These are not only crucial for film-making but also for communities who are able to see themselves and their stories represented on screen. Providing more opportunities for film-makers to engage in such spaces is important for growing film-making.

Policies aimed at growing film in Oceania need to account for the diverse film-making methods that already exist. This includes accounting for the contribution that kinships make

to growing film and recognising the importance of those relationships. If film is to play an increasingly significant role in development – whether for facilitating social change through dialogue and education; as part of a wider decolonisation agenda; or to grow culture and creative industries, then institutions must support diverse methods of film-making.

Final reflections

During the course of my research I realised (as many researchers do), that the apparent direction of my research had shifted significantly. I originally thought that my thesis would do one of two things: either, it would produce a number of recommendations for institution-led cultural development, using film as a medium; or it would condemn development institutions and their agenda for marginalising film practice in cultural development. I quickly realised that more often than not, research is almost entirely about the spaces in between. What I thought were mutually exclusive choices between development paradigms were really different ways of doing and seeing things. Perhaps the steepest learning curve I encountered during my research is the ongoing importance of making space for *many* ways of seeing and doing things. It was then, that I realised that the value of this research lies in the diversity of spaces and projects that I interrogated.

This research adds to the literature that challenges mainstream definitions of development which are often limited by Western understandings of progress and modernity. It seeks to highlight the ways that collaborative film practice and development policy in Oceania, intersect but also talk past each other. In doing so, I have highlighted spaces where communities in Oceania are making and growing spaces for creative cultural production through film – the very kind of spaces that Hau'ofa (2008) argued as necessary for the "freedom" of Oceania. Projects such as *TOL*, *Vai*; spaces such as MACFEST and MFF enable the growth and strengthening of collaborative kinships in film. These are integral to continued efforts to "the maintenance of autonomy with a homogenising global system" (Hau'ofa, 2008, p. 81). That these kinships are borne out of connections to and through the Pacific Ocean and strengthened over a period of time makes their cultural and creative work more sustainable. This research has revealed only *some* of the film practice taking place in the region and indicate that the prospects for the future of film in Oceania are exciting.

\sim	7
ч	•
_	,

Appendices



Pacific Diasporic Communities and Cultural Connection

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS

Thank you for your interest in this project. Please read this information before deciding whether or not to take part. If you decide to participate, thank you. If you decide not to take part, thank you for considering my request.

Who am I?

My name is Melanie Puka and I am studying toward a Master of Development Studies at Victoria University of Wellington. Dr Polly Stupples is my supervisor on this project. This research project is supported by the Royal Society of New Zealand's Marsden Fund.

What is the aim of the project?

This project explores the ways that the Pacific diaspora and Pacific communities on island collaborate to create and share film and film-making techniques. It focuses on the film industry as this is an area of growing visibility and importance in development, but it also is an industry where Pacific creatives are not often written or talked about. It aims to understand the challenges and opportunities that Pacific film-makers in the region encounter.

This research has b	peen approved by	the Victoria U	niversity of Wel	llington Humar	n Ethics Cor	nmittee
[Approval Number	·].					

How can you help?

If you agree to take part I will interview you at your place of work, or at another venue (like a café) that we both agree on. Alternatively we may talk via Skype. I will ask you questions about the potential of the film industry in the Pacific and your understanding of the impact of networks and the collaboration between . The interview will take between half an hour and an hour. I would like to record the interview and write it up later as this helps me to recall the details of our conversation. You can stop the interview at any time, without giving a reason. You can withdraw from the study by contacting me at any point before March 2018. If you withdraw, the information you provided will be destroyed or returned to you.

What will happen to the information you give?

This research is confidential. This means that the researchers named below will be aware of your identity but the research data will be aggregated and your identity will not be disclosed in any reports, presentations, or public documentation unless you expressly give permission to name you. However, you should be aware that in small projects your identity might be obvious to others in your community.

Only my Supervisor and I will read the notes or transcript of the interview. The interview transcripts, summaries and any recordings will be kept securely and 2 years after the research ends.

What will the project produce?

The information from my research will be used to develop my Masters' thesis and potentially publication for an academic journal.

If you accept this invitation, what are your rights as a research participant?

If you do decide to participate, you have the right to:

- choose not to answer any question;
- ask for the recorder to be turned off at any time during the interview;
- withdraw from the study before October 2018;
- ask any questions about the study at any time;
- receive a copy of your interview recording;
- read over and comment on a written summary of your interview;
- be able to read any reports of this research by emailing the researcher to request a copy.

If you have any questions or problems, who can you contact?

If you have any questions, either now or in the future, please feel free to contact either:

Principal Investigator:	Supervisor:	
Melanie Puka	Dr Polly Stupples	
Student, Master of Development Studies	Lecturer, Geography, Victoria University of Wellington	
School of Geography, Environment, and Earth		
Sciences	School of Geography, Enviroment, and Eart	
Email: tmelanie.puka@gmail.com	Sciences	
Phone: +64 21 884872	Email: polly.stupples@vuw.ac.nz	

Human Ethics Committee information

If you have any concerns about the ethical conduct of the research you may contact the Victoria University HEC Convener: Associate Professor Susan Corbett. Email susan.corbett@vuw.ac.nz or telephone +64-4-463 5480.



Pacific Diasporic Communities and Cultural Connections CONSENT TO INTERVIEW

This consent form will be held for up to 2 years.

Researcher: Melanie Puka, School of Geography, Environment and Earth Sciences, Victoria University of Wellington.

- I have read the Information Sheet and the project has been explained to me. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I understand that I can ask further questions at any time.
- I agree to take part in an audio recorded interview.

I understand that:

- I may withdraw from this study at any point before October 2018 without giving any reason, and any information that I have provided will be returned to me or destroyed.
- The information I have provided will be destroyed 2 years after the research is finished.
- Any information I provide will be kept confidential to the researcher and the supervisor. I
 understand that the results will be used for academic articles and a summary report, and a
 summary of the results may be presented at conferences.

•	My name will not be used in reports, nor will any information that would identify me.						
•	I would like a copy of the transcript of my interview:	Yes 🗖	No □				
•	I would like a summary of my interview:	Yes 🗖	No 🗖				
•	I would like to receive a copy of the final report and have added my email address below.	Yes 🗖	No 🗖				
	Signature of participant:						
	Name of participant:						
	Date:						
	Contact details:						

Bibliography

Aguilar, J. (1981) Insider Researcher: An Ethnography of Debate. In Messerschmidt, D. (ed.): *Anthropologists at Home in North America*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

AIFF. (2019). Arctic Indigenous Film Fund. Online: http://aiff.no/. (accessed 20 May 2019).

Anae, M. (2002) 'Papalagi redefined: Towards a NZ-born Samoan identity' in Pacific Diaspora: Island Peoples in the United States and Across the Pacific, ed. P Spickhard, University of Hawai'l Press, Hawai'l, 150-69.

Anand, P.B., and Gasper, D. (2007). Living in Common and Deliberating in Common: Foundational issues for sustainable human development and human security, Emerald Publishing Limited. ProQuest Ebook Central,

https://ebookcentral.proguest.com/lib/vuw/detail.action?docID=291576.

Anderson, R.A. (1983). First Contact [Motion Picture]. Dick Smith.

Apthorpe, R. & Krahl, A. (1987) Development studies: a contribution to self-questioning, *Development and Peace*, 8, 235-242.

Apthorpe, R. (2005) 'It's [the] Culture, Stupid!' Why 'Adding Culture' Is Unlikely to Make Any Serious Difference to International Developmentalism, *The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology*, 6(2), 130-141.

Armitage, D., & Bashford, A. (2016). Pacific Histories: Ocean, Land, People. *Asian Review of World Histories*, 4(1), 168-172.

Arthur de la Maza, J. (2012). *Now They Say the Land Is Not Ours: On Rapanui Worldviews and Land-Being Relations* (Unpublished thesis dissertation). University of California, Los Angeles, United States of America.

Arthur de la Maza, J., Shorter, David D., Nabokov, Peter, & Roberts, Mary. (2012). *Now They Say the Land Is Not Ours: On Rapanui Worldviews and Land-Being Relations*, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.

Ashcroft, B. (2000). 'Primitive and Wingless: The Colonial Subject as a Child' in Jacobsen, W.S. (ed.) *Dickens and the Children of Empire*. New York: Palgrave.

Barcham, M., Padarath, A. (2007) *Millenium Development Goals in the Pacific: Working with Community Sector Organisations*. CIGAD Briefing Notes, 4. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Centre for Indigenous Governance and Development, Massey University.

Barclay, B. (1988), 'The control of one's own image', Illusions, 8, pp. 8–14.

Barclay, B. (1990). Our own image / Barry Barclay. Auckland, N.Z.: Longman Paul.

Barclay, B. (2003a), 'Celebrating fourth cinema', Illusions, 35, pp. 7–11.

Basu, P., & Modest, W. (2014). Museums, Heritage and International Development. London: Routledge.

Baxter, V. (2017). Applied theatre: Performing health and wellbeing / [edited by] Veronica Baxter and Katharine E. Low. (Applied theatre).

Beach, C. (2015). A Hidden History of Film Style: Cinematographers, Directors, and the Collaborative Process. University of California Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt13x1gbz.

Beauregard, D., & SpringerLink. (2018). Cultural Policy and Industries of Identity Québec, Scotland, & Catalonia / by Devin Beauregard., Springer eBooks.

Bedford R. (2001) INTRODUCTIONS Transformation of Domestic Environments: an Ignored Dimension of Transnational Communities. In Bedford, R., Underhill-Sem, Y., Longhurst, R., Asia-Pacific Migration Research Network, & MOST. Flowers, Fale, Fanua [i.e. Fanau] and Fa'a Polynesia / Edited by Richard Bedford, Robyn Longhurst and Yvonne Underhill-Sem.

Brest, P. (2010). The Power of Theories of Change. Stanford Social Innovation Review. Spring

Brew, S. (2016). Moana review. Den of Geek!, Den of Geek!

Brew, S. (2016, Dec 02). Moana review. *Den of Geek!*, Retrieved from https://search.proguest.com/docview/1845326524?accountid=14782

Britos, P. (2003). A Conversation with Merata Mita. The Spectator, 23(1), 53-62,116.

Calder, P. (2018, July 13) The new Merata Mita doco pays homage to the wahine toa of Māori film-making. *New Zealand Listener*. Retrieved from https://www.noted.co.nz/culture/movies/merata-mita-documentary-homage-wahine-toa-maori-film-making/.

Canavan, G. (2018). Moana. Science Fiction Film and Television, 11(1), 139-149.

Canavan, G. (2018). Moana. *Science Fiction Film and Television*, *11*(1), 139-143,149. Retrieved from https://search.proguest.com/docview/2007003442?accountid=14782.

Caro, N. (2002). Whale Rider [Motion Picture]. South Pacific Pictures.

Centre for Samoan Studies (2018) *Centre for Samoan Studies, Short Film Contest*. Retrieved from: http://samoanstudies.ws/css-short-film-contest-2018/.

Centre for Samoan Studies (2018). CSS Short Film Contest. http://samoanstudies.ws/css-short-film-contest-2018/ (accessed 2 April 2019).

Chambers, R. (1997). Whose reality counts?: Putting the first last. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.

Chang, D., Donohoe, S., & "Native American Film: Trauma" Worldwide Indigenous Cinemas wiki. Web.

Chong, T. (2010) The State and the New Society: The Role of the Arts in Singapore Nationbulding, *Asian Studies Review*, *34*(2), 131-149. Doi: 10.1080/1035823.2010.481044.

CISAC and UNESCO. (2015). *Cultural Times – The first global map of cultural and creative industries*. Retrieved from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000235710.

Clammer, J. (2005) Culture, Development and Social Theory: On Cultural Studies and the Place of Culture in Development, *The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology* 6(2), 100-119, DOI: 10.1080/14442210500168218.

Clifford, J. (1997) *Routes: travel and translation in the late twentieth century*. Cambridge, United States of America: Harvard University Press.

Clifford, J. (2001). Indigenous articulations. *Contemporary Pacific, 13*(2), 468. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/cp.2001.0046

Clifford, J. (2013). *Returns: Becoming indigenous in the twenty-first century*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

CMF. (2017). *About Us - Mandate & Vision*. Online: https://www.cmf-fmc.ca/about-us. (accessed 27 April 2019).

Corbett, J., & Connell, J. (2014) The 'Promise' of the 1970s: Ratu Mara on the World Stage, *The Round Table*, 103(3), 301-310. DOI: 10.1080/00358533.2014.918712.

Corbridge, Stuart. (1998). 'Beneath the pavement only soil': The poverty of post-development. Journal of Development Studies, 34(6), 138-148.

Cox, J. (2006). *Gutpela Tingting na Sindaun: Papua New Guinean Perspectives on a Good Life*. Discussion paper, June. Burwood East, vic: World Vision Australia Advocacy and Public Influence Unit.

Crush, J. (ed.) (1995) Power of development. London: Routledge.

Crush, J. (ed.) (1995). Power of development. London: Routledge.

Crush, J. (Ed.). (1995). Power of development. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Cunningham, S., Banks, J., and Potts, J. (2008) Cultural Economy: The Shape of the Field. In Anheier, H. K. & Raj Isar, Y. (Eds.). *The Cultures and Globalization Series 2: The cultural economy* London: SAGE Publications Ltd doi: 10.4135/9781446247174.

Da Costa, D. (2010) Introduction: Relocating Culture in Development and Development in Culture. *Third World Quarterly*, *31*(4), 501-522.

Deneulin, S. (2016). Expanding freedoms, changing structures:assessment of the human development report 2014. *Development and Change*, 47 (FORUM 2016), 937-951.

Dening, G. (1997) Empowering Imaginations, *The Contemporary Pacific*, 9(2), 419-429.

Dowling, R. (2010). Power, Subjectivity, and Ethics in Qualitative Research. In Hay, Iain (ed.) *Qualitative Research Methods in Human Geography*. New York: Oxford University Press, 26-39.

Edge-Partington, J. (2018) The South Pacific Ocean and its islands: Scientific Papers & Surveys; Notes & Ephemera O. Malborough, Wiltshire: Adam Matthew Digital.

England, K. (1994). Getting Personal: Reflexivity, Positionality, and Feminist Research*. *Professional Geographer*, 46(1), 80-89.

Escobar, A. (1995) *Encountering development: the making and unmaking of the third world*. Princeton, United States of America: Princeton University Press.

Escobar, A. (1995a). *Encountering Development: The Making and Unmaking of the Third World*. PRINCETON; OXFORD: Princeton University Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt7rtgw.

Escobar, A. (1995b). Imagining a post-development era. In: Crush, J. (ed.) *Power of development*. London: Routledge, pp. 211-227.

Esteva, G. (1992). Development. In: Sachs, W. (ed.) *The development dictionary: a guide to knowledge as power*. London: Zed Books, pp. 6-25.

Esteva, G., & Prakash, M. S. (1998) Grass roots post-modernism: remaking the soil of cultures. London, United Kingdom: Zed Books.

Esteva, G., and Prakesh, M. (1997). From global thinking to local thinking. In: Rahmena, M., and Bawtree, V. (eds) *The post-development reader*. London: Zed Books.

Fairbairn-Dunlop, P., & Makisi, G. S. (eds.) (2003) *Making our place: growing up PI in New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.

FILM.GL. (2017). FILM.GL IS THE INDUSTRY ORGANIZATION OF THE SMALL BUT VIBRANT FILM COMMUNITY IN GREENLAND. Online: https://film.gl/about/. (accessed 27 April 2019).

Filmfreeway. (N.D.) *Aliko and Ambai*. Online https://filmfreeway.com/AlikoandAmbai. (accessed 10 May 2019).

Finnegan, R., & Orbell, M. (eds.) (1995). *South Pacific Oral Traditions*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Finnemore, M., & Sikkink, K. (1998) International Norm Dynamics and Political Change, *International Organization*, *52*(4), 887-917.

Firth, S. (2003). 'Future Directions for Pacific Studies', The Contemporary Pacific, 15(1), 139-148.

Flaherty, R.J. (1922). Nanook of the North [Motion Picture]. Robert J. Flaherty.

Flaherty, R.J. (1926). *Moana* [Motion Picture]. Robert J. Flaherty.

Frediani, A., Boni Aristizábal, A., & Gasper, D. (2014). Approaching Development Projects from a Human Development and Capability Perspective. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 15(1), 1-12.

Fry, G. (1997) Framing the Islands: Knowledge and Power in Changing Australian Images of "the South Pacific", The Contemporary Pacific, 9(2), 305-344.

Futter-Puati, D., & Maua-Hodges, T. (2019). Stitching tivaevae: a Cook Islands research method. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1177180119836788.

Gegeo, D. (1998). Indigenous Knowledge and Empowerment: Rural Development Examined from Within. The Contemporary Pacific, 10(2), 289-315.

Gegeo, D. W. (2001) Cultural rupture and indigeneity: The challenge of (re)visioning "place" in the pacific. *Contemporary Pacific*, *13*(2), 491. Doi:http://dx/doi.org/10.1353/cp.2001.0052.

Gershon, I. & Collins, S. (2007) 'Outspoken indigenes and nostalgic migrants: Māori and Samoan educating performances in an Aotearoa New Zealand cultural festival', Teachers College Record, 109(7), 1797-1820.

Gibson, C. & Kong. L. (2005). Cultural Economy: A Critical Review. Progress in Human Geography, 29(5), 541-561.

Gibson-Graham J. K. (2008) Diverse economies: performative practices for 'other worlds', *Progress in Human Geography, 32*(5), 613-632.

Gibson-Graham, J. K. (2005) Surplus Possibilities: Postdevelopment and Community Economies, *Singapore Journal of Tropical Geography*, *26*(1), 4-26.

Glaser, Barney G. (2001). *The Grounded Theory Perspective: Conceptualization Contrasted with Description*. Mill Valley, California: Sociology Press.

Gould, J. (2013). Ferdinand Magellan. New York: Rosen Publishing Group.

Graham, C. (2006) Sione's Wedding [Motion Picture]. South Pacific Pictures.

Grandinetti, T. (2016) Moana might be great for representation but it's not all heartwarming for Hawaii. https://www.theguardian.com/film/2017/jan/13/moana-might-be-great-for-representation-but-its-not-all-heartwarming-for-hawaii (accessed 1 April 2019).

Greffe, X., Pflieger, S., Noya, A., & Organisation for Economic Co-operation Development. (2005). Culture and Local Development.

Grierson, T. (2016). 'Moana': AFI Fest Review. Screen International, N A.

Grierson, T. (2016). 'Moana': AFI fest review. Screen International, , 1-N A. Retrieved from

Gugerty, M., & Karlan, D. (2018). The Institutional Donor Perspective. In *The Goldilocks Challenge* (pp. 245-253). Oxford University Press. DOI:10.1093/oso/9780199366088.003.0014.

Hanlon, D. (2017). Losing Oceania to the Pacific and the World. *Contemporary Pacific, 29*(2), 286-318,404.

Hau'ofa, E. (2008). *We Are the Ocean: Selected Works*. University of Hawai'i Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt6wqzrq

Hau'ofa, E. (1994) Our Sea of Islands. The Contemporary Pacific 6(1), 148–161.

Henningham, S. (1992). France and the South Pacific – a contemporary history. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Henry, R. (2014) Heritage transactions at the Festival of Pacific Arts, *International Journal of Heritage Studies*, *21*(2), 133-152. DOI: 10.1080/13527258.2014.915870.

Henry, R., & Foanaota, L. (2015). Heritage transactions at the Festival of Pacific Arts. International Journal of Heritage Studies, 21(2), 133-152.

Hereniko, V. (2018). Moana. *Contemporary Pacific, 30*(1), 216-224. Retrieved from: https://search.proquest.com/docview/1986081321?accountid=14782.

Hooper, A. (2005) Introduction. In Hooper, A. (Ed.) *Culture and Sustainable Development in the Pacific*, Canberra: ANU Press.

Huffer, E. (2006) Regionalism and Cultural Identity: Putting the Pacific back into the plan. In Firth, S. (Ed.) *Globalisation and Governance in the Pacific Islands*, Canberra, Australia: ANU Press.

Huffer, E., and Qalo, R. (2004). Have We Been Thinking Upside-Down? The Contemporary Emergence of Pacific Theoretical Thought. *The Contemporary Pacific* 16(1), 87–116.

Huntington, S. P. (2000) Foreword: Cultures Count. In Huntington, S.P., & Harrison, L.E. (Eds.) *Culture Matters: How Values Shape Human Progress*. New York, United States of America: Basic Books.

ICHCAP. (2019). 2018 MACFEST, Melanesian Arts & Cultural Festival. Online: https://www.ichcap.org/2018-macfest-melanesian-arts-cultural-festival/. (accessed 20 April 2019).

imagineNATIVE. (2016). *Original. Indigenous*. Online: http://www.imaginenative.org/about-. (accessed 20 August 2018).

IMDb (2017) Moana. https://www.imdb.com/title/tt3521164/ (accessed 1 April 2019).

Ingebritsen, C. (2002) Norm Entrepreneurs: Scandinavia's Role in World Politics. Cooperation and Conflict, 37(1), 11-23.

Internaitonale Filmfestspiele Berlin. (2019). *NATIVe – A JOURNEY INTO INDIGENOUS CINEMA*. Online:

https://www.berlinale.de/en/das festival/sektionen sonderveranstaltungen/native/index.html (accessed 18 April 2019).

Internationale Filmfestspiele Berlin. (2018). *The Berlinale: A Constantly Evolving Festival*. Online:

https://www.berlinale.de/en/das festival/festivalprofil/profil der berlinale/index.html (accessed 20 April 2019).

ISFI. (2017). *About the International Sami Film Institute (ISFI)*. Online: https://www.isfi.no/en/about/. (accessed 27 April 2019).

Jolly, M. (2001) On the Edge? Deserts, oceans, islands, *The Contemporary Pacific*, 17(1), 416-466.

Jolly, M. (2007). Imagining Oceania: Indigenous and Foreign Representations of a Sea of Islands. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 19(2), 508-545.

Jorgensen, D. (1989). *Participant observation: A methodology for human studies*. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.

Ka'ili, T.O. (2005) 'Tauhi va: Nurturing sociospatial ties in Maui and beyond', The Contemporary Pacific, 17(1), 1801-1816.

Kahn, M., Finnegan, R., & Orbell, M. (1996). South Pacific Oral Traditions. *Pacific Affairs*, 69(4), 611.

Kaipara, O. (2017). *A DNA test showed I'm 100% Maori. Many thought there were none of us left.* Online: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2017/apr/13/a-dna-test-showed-im-100-maori-many-thought-there-were-none-of-us-left. (accessed 1 April 2018).

Kauanui, J. K. (2008) Hawaiian blood: colonialism and the politics of sovereignty and indigeneity. Durham, United States of America: Duke University Press.

Kavaliku, L. (2005) Culture and sustainable development in Pacific. In Hooper, A. (Ed.) *Culture and Sustainable Development in the Pacific*, Canberra: ANU Press.

Kermode, M. (2016) *Moana review: Sail of the century from Disney.* https://www.theguardian.com/film/2016/dec/04/moana-review-disney (accessed 1 April 2019).

Keser, H. (2016). Culture Economy for Economic Development: Assessments on Cultural Heritage in Turkey. European Scientific Journal, 12(28), European Scientific Journal, Oct 2016, Vol.12(28).

Kiely, R. (1999) The Last Refuge of the Noble Savage? A Critical Assessment of Post-development Theory, *The European Journal of Development Research*, 11(1), 30-55.

Kirch, P. (1997). *The Lapita peoples : Ancestors of the oceanic world*. Cambridge, Mass.: Blackwell.

Klein, P., Fatima, M., Mcewen, L., Moser, S., Schmidt, D., & Zupan, S. (2011). Dismantling the Ivory Tower: Engaging Geographers in University–Community Partnerships. Journal of Geography in Higher Education, 35(3), 425-444.

Knabe, S., Pearson, W., & Canadian Electronic Library, distributor. (2015). Reverse Shots: Indigenous Film and Media in an International Context / Wendy Gay Pearson and Susan Knabe, Editors.

Kokiri (2009) Te Hono ki Rarotonga. https://ngatiporou.com/article/pakirikiri-marae-te-korero-na-papa-tate-pewhairangi (accessed 2 April, 2019).

Kornelly, S. (2008) *Dancing culture, culture dancing: Celebrating Pasifika in Aotearoa/New Zealand, PhD Thesis, Temple University, Philadelphia.*

Lach, D. (2014). Challenges of Interdisciplinary Research: Reconciling Qualitative and Quantitative Methods for Understanding Human–Landscape Systems. *Environmental Management*, *53*(1), 88-93.

LAMCHE, P., & MITA, M. (1984). Interview with Merata Mita. *Framework: The Journal of Cinema and Media*, (25), 2-11. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44111027

Lamche, P., & Mita, M. (1984). Interview with Merata Mita. *Framework: The Journal of Cinema and Media*, 25, 2-11.

Landgraf. (1957). Merton, Fiske, Kendall: The Focused Interview: A Manual of Problems and Procedures. *American Anthropologist*, *59*(4), 756.

Landman, J., & Ballard, C. (2010) An Ocean of Images, *Journal of Pacific History, 45*(1), 1-20. DOI: 10.1080/00223344.2010.484162.

Latouche, S. (1993). *In the wake of affluent society: an exploration of post-development.* London: Zed Books.

Leckey, J. (2011). The therapeutic effectiveness of creative activities on mental well-being: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, 18*(6), 501-9.

Lenao, M., & Saarinen, J. (2015). Integrated rural tourism as a tool for community tourism development: Exploring culture and heritage projects in the North-East District of Botswana. South African Geographical Journal, 97(2), 203-216.

Lindsey, E. K. (Director). (1996). *Then There Were None* [Motion picture]. United States: Hawaii Public Television/LLB Productions/Pacific Islanders in Communications.

Lopesi, L. (2018) *False Divides*. Wellington, New Zealand: Bridget Williams Books. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7810/9781988533858.

Luepack, N. (2011). *Imulal, une terre, des raciness et des reves* [Motion Picture]. SaNoSi Productions.

Luepack, N. (2017). Nidoish Naisseline [Motion Picture]. SaNoSi Productions.

Mackley-Crump, J. (2011) Malaga-The Journey: The Performing Arts as Motivational Tool for Pasifika Students in Aotearoa New Zealand The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology, 12(3), 255-273.

Mackley-Crump, J. (2015) *The Pacific Festivals of Antearoa New Zealand*. Hawai'l, United States of America: University of Hawai'l Press.

Macpherson, C. (2004) 'From Pacific islanders to Pacific people: The past, present and future of the Pacific population in Aotearoa', in Tangata Tangata: The Changing Contours of

Ethnicity in Aotearoa New Zealand, eds P. Spoonley, C Macpherson, & D. Pearson, Thomson Dunmore Press, Victoria, pp. 135-74.

Macpherson, C. (2009) Epeli Hau'ofa: 1939-2009 [online]. *New Zealand Sociology, 24*(1), 101-102. Retrieved from:

https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary.;dn=947797069548229;res=IELFSCISSN: 0112-921X.

Mafileo, V. and Tauamiti, J. (2019) For My Father's Kingdom [Motion Picture]. Kingston Productions.

Māoriland, 2019, About. Retrieved from https://Māorilandfilm.co.nz/about/.

Māoriland. (2019a). *About*. Online: https://maorilandfilm.co.nz/about/. (accessed 18 April 2019).

Māoriland. (2019b). *Through Our Lens*. Online: https://maorilandfilm.co.nz/through-our-lens/. (accessed 18 April 2019).

Margolin, V. (1996). Our Creative Diversity: Report of the World Commission on Culture and Development. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *31*(1), 127-132.

McCarthy, K. F., Ondaatje, E. H., Zakaras, L., and Brooks, A. (2004) *Gifts of the Must-Reframing the Debates about the Benefits of the Arts.* Santa Monica: RAND Corporation.

McGregor, A. (2007) Development, Foreign Aid and Post-development in Timor-Leste, *Third World Quarterly*, 28(1), 155-170.

McGregor, A. (2009) New Possibilities? Shifts in Post-Development Theory and Practice, *Geography compass*, *3*(5), 1688-1702. DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-8198.2009.00260.x

Melchionne, K. (2017). Art and Well-Being. Estetika: *The Central European Journal of Aesthetics*, 54(2), 189–211. Retrieved from

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hlh&AN=125496728&site=ehost-live

Meo-Sewabu, L. (2015). "Tu ga na inima ka luvu na waqa" (The bail to get water out of the boat is in the boat yet the boat sinks): The Cultural Constructs of Health and Wellbeing amongst Marama iTaukei in a Fijian Village in Lau and in a Transnational Fijian Community in Whanganui, Aotearoa. PhD thesis, Social Policy, Massey University, New Zealand.

Meo-Sewabu, L., and Walsh-Tapiata, W. (2012). Global Declaration and Village Discourses: Social Policy and Indigenous Wellbeing. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 8(3), 305–317.

Merlan, F. (2009) Indigeneity: Global and Local. *Current Anthropology, 50*(3), 303-333. Doi:10.1086/597667.

Mila-Schaaf, K., & Robinson, E. (2010) 'Polycultural' capital and educational echievement among NZ-born Pacific peoples, *Mai Review 1*. Retrieved from

http://www.review.mai.ac.nz/MR/article/download/307/307-2282-1-PB.pdf (accessed 21 April, 2018).

Milligan, C. (2015). Sites of exuberance: Barry Barclay and fourth cinema, ten years on. International Journal of Media and Cultural Politics, 11(3), 347-359.

Mohanty, C. (1991) Cartographies of Struggle: Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism. In Mohanty, C. T., Russo, A., and Torres, L. (Eds.) *Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism*. Bloomington, United States of America: Indiana University Press.

Moser, C.O. (1993). *Gender planning and development : Theory, practice, and training*. London: Routledge.

Murray, S. (2008). Images of dignity: Barry Barclay and fourth cinema / Stuart Murray. Wellington, N.Z.: Huia.

Musteata, S. (2018). Review, Claire Cave and Elene Negussie, World Heritage Conservation. The World Heritage Convention, Linking Culture and Nature for Sustainable Development, Routledge: London and New York, 2017. Plural: History, Culture, Society, 6(2), 243-250.

Nabobo-Baba, U. (2008). Decolonising Framings in Pacific Research: Indigenous Fijian Vanua Research Framework as an Organic Response. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(2), 140–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/117718010800400210

Ndlovu, M. (2019). Introduction: Why Performing Indigeneity Matters. In *Performing Indigeneity: Spectacles of Culture and Identity in Coloniality*. London, United Kingdom: Pluto Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv9zckjv.4.

Neverdeen Pieterse, J. (1995) The Cultural Turn in Development: Questions of Power, *The European Journal of Development Research*, 7(1), 176-192.

Neverdeen Pieterse, J. (2010)

Neverdeen Pieterse, J. (2010). *Development Theory: Deconstructions/Reconstructions* (Rev. ed.). London: Sage and TSC Books.

NFB. (2017). *Indigenous Action Plan*. Online: http://onf-nfb.gc.ca/en/about-the-nfb/indigenous-action-plan2/ (accessed 18 April 2019).

Noyce, P. (2002). Rabbit Proof Fence [Motion Picture]. Rumbalara Films.

Nustad, K. (2001). Development: the devil we know? Third World Quarterly, 22(4), 479-489.

Nwadigwe, C. (2012). Theatre for Development: An Alternative Programme for Reproductive Health Communication in Urban Nigeria. African Sociological Review / Revue Africaine De Sociologie, 16(2), 102-118.

NZFC. (2017). *Statement of Intent – 2017-2021*. Retrieved from https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/Statement%2520of%2520intent%25202017%2520-%2520FINAL.pdf.

NZFC. (2018). *Te Rautaki Māori*. Retrieved from https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/resources/te-rautaki-m%C4%81ori-english.

O'Connor, J. (2010). The Cultural and Creative Industries: A Literature Review. 2nd ed. Newcastle upon Tyne: Creativity Culture and Education.

Oakley, K. (2006). Include Us Out – Economic Development and Social Policy in the Creative Industries. *Cultural Trends*, *15*(4), 255-273.

Oakley, K. (2009). The Disappearing Arts: Creativity and Innovation after the Creative Industries. *International Journal of Cultural Policy* 15(4), 403-413.

Oishi, S., & Schimmack, U. (2010). Culture and Well-Being: A New Inquiry Into the Psychological Wealth of Nations. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *5*(4), 463–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610375561.

Pacific Community (SPC). (2016) *Cinema Pasifika: Developing the narrative film and television sector in the Pacific Island region – The Pasifika Collective*. Retrieved from: https://www.acpculturesplus.eu/sites/default/files/2016/05/20/spc cinema pasifika.pdf.

Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat. (2007). *The Pacific Plan*. Retrieved from: file:///C:/Users/melp/Downloads/27-pacific_plan_nov_2007.pdf.

Patterson, J. (2000). *People of the land: A Pacific philosophy*. Palmerston North, N.Z.: Dunmore Press.

Pearce, C. (2010). The Genetic Context. In *Oceanic Migration: Paths, Sequence, Timing and Range of Prehistoric Migration in the Pacific and Indian Oceans* (pp. 17-36). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Pearson, S. (2013). PERSISTENT PRIMITIVISMS: POPULAR AND ACADEMIC DISCOURSES ABOUT PACIFIC & MĀORI CINEMA AND TELEVISION. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 122(1), 21-44. Retrieved from http://www.stor.org/stable/43285211.

Pearson, W., Knabe, S. (2014) Introduction: Globalizing Indigenous Film and Media. In Pearson, W. G., & Knabe, S. (Eds.), *Reverse Shots: Indigenous film and media in an international context*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Pieterse, J. (2000). After post-development. Third World Quarterly, 21(2), 175-191.

Poyer, L., Finnegan, R., & Orbell, M. (1997). South Pacific Oral Traditions. *The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 3*(2), 410.

Prins, H. (2004) Visual Anthropology. In Biolsi, T. and John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated (eds.). *Companion to the Anthropology of American Indians*,. ProQuest Ebook Central, https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/vuw/detail.action?docID=255299.

Radcliffe, S. A. (ed.) (2006). Culture and Development in a Globalising World: Geographies, Actors and Paradigms. London and New York: Routledge.

Raheja, M. (2011) Reservation Reelism: Redfacing, Visual Sovereignty, and Representations of Native Americans in Film. Internet (DOI) 10.2307/j.ctt1dfnrq6.

Rahmena, M., & Bawtree, V. (Eds.) (1997) *The post-development reader.* London, United Kingdom: Zed Books.

Reeves, J. (2007) Kete Aronui – Merata Mita, NZ On Screen https://www.nzonscreen.com/title/kete-aronui-merata-mita-2007 (accessed 7th April 2019).

Richardson, Hughes, McLennan, & Meo-Sewabu. (2019). Indigenous Well-Being and Development: Connections to Large-Scale Mining and Tourism in the Pacific. The Contemporary Pacific, 31(1), 1-34.

Rist, G. (2007) Development as a buzzword. Development in Practice, 17(4-5), 485-491.

RNZ. (2019). *PNG film challenges repression of women*. Online: https://www.rnz.co.nz/international/pacific-news/386753/png-film-challenges-repression-of-women (accessed 10 May 2019).

Rojas de Ferro, M. C. (1994). A Political Economy of Violence. PhD dissertation, Carleton University Ottawa.

Rony, F. T. (1996) *The Third Eye: Race, Cinema and Ethnographic Spectacle.* Durham, United States of America: Duke University Press.

Rostow, W. W. (1952) *The Process of Economic Growth.* New York, United States of America: W.W.Norton.

Rostow, W. W. (1960) *The stage of economic growth: a non-communist manifesto*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Roy, E. (2016) *Disney depiction of obese god in film Moana sparks anger*. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/jun/27/disney-depiction-of-obese-polynesian-god-in-film-moana-sparks-anger (accessed 1 April 2019).

Sachs, W. (1992) *The Development dictionary: a guide to knowledge as power*. London, United Kingdom: Zed Books.

Sachs, W. (1992a). *The Development dictionary a guide to knowledge as power.* London: Zed Books.

Sachs, W. (1992b). Introduction. In: Sachs, W. (ed.) *The development dictionary: a guide to knowledge as power*. London: Zed Books, pp. 1-5.

Sahlins, M. (2013). What kinship is – and is not. Chicago, United States of America: The University of Chicago Press.

Said, E. (1979) Orientalism. New York, United States of America: Vintage Books.

Salesa, D. (2017) *Island Time*. Bridget Williams Books. DOI: https://doiorg.helicon.vuw.ac.nz/10.7810/9781988533537.

Santos, B. d. S. (2004) The WSF: Toward a counter-hegemonic globalization. In Sen, J., Anand, A., Escobar, A., & Waterman, P. (Eds.) *World Social Forum: Challenging Empires*. New Delhi, India: The Viveka Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.boaventuradesousasantos.pt/media/wsf JaiSenPart1.pdf.

Schech, S. (2014) Culture and development. In Desai, V., & Potter, R. (Eds.) *The companion to development studies, third edition*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Schuurman, F. (2000). Paradigms lost, paradigms regained? Development studies in the twenty-first century. *Third World Quarterly*, *21*(1), 7-20.

Screen Australia. (2018). *Indigenous – Opportunities for Indigenous Storytellers*. Online: https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/indigenous. (accessed 18 April 2019).

Sheppard, P.J., Thomas, T., & Summerhayes, G.R. (eds.) (2009) *Lapita : Ancestors and descendants*. Auckland: New Zealand Archaeological Association.

Sidaway, J. (2007). Spaces of postdevelopment, *Progress in Human Geography, 31*(3), 345–361.

Sidaway, J. (2014) Post-development. In Desai, V., & Potter, R. (Eds.) *The companion to development studies, third edition*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Simei-Barton, J. (1997) Film: Tala Pasifika – pacific voices on film, 73-77. DOI: 10.1080/02690059708589545.

Smith, Jo. (2011). Aotearoa/New Zealand: An unsettled state in a sea of islands. *Settler Colonial Studies*, 1(1), 111–131.

Smith, L. (1999). *Decolonizing methodologies : Research and indigenous peoples /* Linda Tuhiwai Smith. London : Dunedin, N.Z.: Zed Books ; University of Otago Press.

Smyth, R. (1992) 'Reel Pacific History: The Pacific Islands on Film, Video and Television', in B. Lal (ed.), Pacific Islands History: Journeys and Transformations. Canberra

Spark, C. (2015) The 'Pawa Meri' Project, Producing film biographies about women in Papua New Guinea. In Corbett, J., & Lal, B. V. (Eds.). *Political life writing in the pacific : Reflections on practice*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com

SPC and COPAC (2018) Regional Culture Strategy: Investing in Pacific Cultures 2010-2020.

Retrieved from: <a href="https://spccfpstore1.blob.core.windows.net/digitallibrary-docs/files/c0/c052ec9447c6015c66b80c1d79cbc1aa.pdf?sv=2015-12-11&sr=b&sig=0nCyl7nAz9pfAbJdZMK7QD1Vx4lfs%2FWnyb5cAW6tmdU%3D&se=2019-07-03T15%3A37%3A56Z&sp=r&rscc=public%2C%20max-age%3D864000%2C%20max-stale%3D86400&rsct=application%2Fpdf&rscd=inline%3B%20filename%3D%22Regional culture strategy investing in Pacific cultures 2010 2020 phas....pdf%22.

11&sr=b&sig=svNzOw56dXezHKmk2TWCrapJPjd4mkJDTfDwSsk4iZg%3D&se=2019-12-01T01%3A31%3A10Z&sp=r&rscc=public%2C%20max-age%3D864000%2C%20max-stale%3D86400&rsct=application%2Fpdf&rscd=inline%3B%20filename%3D%22Regional culture strategy 2010 2020 Phase 2.pdf%22.

SPC. (2016). Pacific Community Strategic Plan – 2016-2020: Sustainable Pacific development through science, knowledge and innovation. Retrieved from:

https://spccfpstore1.blob.core.windows.net/digitallibrary-

docs/files/d0/d0efd0a7e8a3e94dc7ae8024fd0ad099.pdf?sv=2015-12-

11&sr=b&sig=xysWc%2BkHyCsCoOWD%2FRGdUnfUEpffEuFnqznoy5Ar0ec%3D&se=2019-12-01T01%3A29%3A26Z&sp=r&rscc=public%2C%20max-age%3D864000%2C%20max-stale%3D86400&rsct=application%2Fpdf&rscd=inline%3B%20filename%3D%22Pacific Community Strategic Plan 20162020.pdf%22.

Spriggs, M. (2009) Oceanic Connections in Deep Time, Pacificurrents, 1(1).

Stark, Oded, & Bloom, David E. (1985). The new economics of labor migration. (Frontiers in Demographic Economics). *American Economic Review*, 75, 173.

Stupples, P. (2014) Creative Contributions: The Role of Art and the Cultural Sector in Development, *Progress in Development Studies*, 14(2), 115-30.

Stupples, P., & Teaiwa, K. (2017) Introduction: On Art and International Development. In Stupples, P., & Teaiwa, K. (eds.) *Contemporary Perspectives on Art and International Development*. New York: Routledge.

Suaalii-Sauni, T., & Fulu-Aiolupotea, S. (2014). Decolonising P acific research, building P acific research communities and developing P acific research tools: The case of the talanoa and the faafaletui in S amoa. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, *55*(3), 331-344.

Sundance Institute (2019) *Sundance Institute Announces 2019 Recipients of Merata Mita Fellowship for Indigenous Artists* [press release]. Park City, United States. Author unknown.

Sundance. (2011). *Indigenous Film Conference*. Online:

http://www.sundance.org/blogs/indigenous-film-conference/. (accessed 20 August 2018).

Sundance. (2018). *About*. Online: http://www.sundance.org/festivals/sundance-film-festival/about (accessed 20 April 2019).

SXSW. (2019). Film Festival. Online: https://www.sxsw.com/festivals/film/ (accessed 20 April 2019).

Takahashi, L. M. (2009) Patriarchy /Matriarchy versus Blood Quantum Cultural Significance as Evidenced in Hawaii Land Commission Grants. UCLA: Center for the Study of Women. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3zf04168.

Tamaira, A., & Fonoti, D. (2018). Beyond Paradise? Retelling Pacific Stories in Disney's Moana. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 30(2), 297-327,574.

Tamaira, M. (2018). Moana. *Contemporary Pacific, 30*(1), 216-234. Retrieved from: https://search.proquest.com/docview/1986081321?accountid=14782.

Tamasese, K., Peteru, C., Waldegrave, C., & Bush, A. (2005). Ole Taeao Afua, the New Morning: A Qualitative Investigation Into Samoan Perspectives on Mental Health and Culturally Appropriate Services. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39(4), 300-309.

Tamasese, T. (2011) *The Orator – O le Tulafale* [Motion Picture]. New Zealand: Blueskin Films limited.

Tamasese, T. (2017) *One Thousand Ropes* [Motion Picture]. New Zealand: Blueskin Films limited.

Te Ava, A., & Page, A. (2018) How the Tivaevae Model can be Used as an Indigenous Methodology in Cook Islands Education Settings. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 1-7. doi:10.1017/jie.2018.9.

Te Punga Somerville, A. (2012) *Once Were Pacific: Māori Connections to Oceania*. Minnesota, University of Minnesota Press.

Teaiwa, K., & Huffer, E. (2017) 'Structuring the Culture Sector in the Pacific Islands'. In Stupples, P., & Teaiwa, K. (Eds.). *Contemporary perspectives on art and international development*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com

Teaiwa, T. (2010) 'For or Before an Asia Pacific Studies Agenda? Specifying Pacific Studies' in Wesley-Smith, T., Goss, J., Balabat, C., Carlile, L., Concepcion, H., Eades, J. and Finin, G. (Eds) Remaking Area Studies, University of Hawai'l Press.

Thaman, K. (1993). Kakala. Suva: Mana Publications.

Thaman, K.H. (2003) 'Decolonising Pacific studies: Indigenous perspectives, knowledge and wisdom in higher education', The Contemporary Pacific, 15(1), 1-17.

Thomas, N. (1990) Partial Texts: Representation, Colonialism and Agency in Pacific History, *The Journal of Pacific History*, *25*(2), 139-158.

Throsby, D. (2015) Development Strategies for Pacific Island Economies: Is There a Role for the Cultural Industries, *Asia and the Pacific Policy Studies*, *2*(2), 370-382.

Timeout (2016). *Movie Review: Moana.* https://www.nzherald.co.nz/entertainment/news/article.cfm?c id=1501119&objectid=117 70345 (accessed 1 April 2019).

Truman, H. [1949] (1964). Public papers of the Presidents of the United States: Harry, S. Truman. Washington, DC:U.S. Government Printing Office.

Tucker, V. (1999). The myth of development: a critique of Eurocentric discourse. In: Munck, R., and O'Hearn, D. (eds) *Critical development theory: contributions to a new paradigm*. London: Zed Books

Tuhiwai, S. P. L. (2012). *Decolonizing methodologies : Research and indigenous peoples*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Tupou, L. (2016) *Disney's Moana makes waves in NZ*. https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/321647/disney's-moana-makes-waves-in-nz (accessed 1 April 2019).

Tuwere, I.S. (2002). *Vanua: Towards a Fijian Theology of Place*. Suva: University of the South Pacific; Auckland: College of St John the Evangelist.

UK Research and Innovation (2016) *Exploring Participatory Film-Making as a Development Method to address Gender Inequality in the Pacific.*

https://gtr.ukri.org/projects?ref=AH%2FR004323%2F1 (accessed 1 June 2016).

UNCTAD (2008) Creative Economy Report 2008: The Challenge of Assessing the Creative Economy Towards Informed Policy-Making. Online:

https://unctad.org/en/docs/ditc20082cer_en.pdf (accessed 18 April 2018).

UNCTAD. (2010). Creative Economy Report 2010. Online:

https://unctad.org/en/docs/ditctab20103 en.pdf (accessed 18 April 2018).

UNDP (2004) *Human Development Report 2004: Cultural Libertiy in Today's Diverse World*. New York: United Nations Development Programme.

UNESCO (1982) *Mexico City Declaration on Cultural Policies*. Mexico City: World Conference on Cultural Policies. Online: https://culturalrights.net/descargas/drets-culturals401.pdf (accessed 18 April 2018).

UNESCO (1998) *Action Plan on Cultural Policies for Development*. Online: (http://www.lacult.unesco.org/docc/1998 Action Plan Cultural Policies for Dev UNESCO .pdf (accessed 18 April, 2019).

UNESCO (2005) *Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions*. Paris: UNESCO.

UNESCO (2007) *UNESCO* and the Question of Cultural Diversity, 1946-2007: Review and Strategies. Paris: UNESCO.

UNESCO (2009) *Investing in Cultural Diversity and Intercultural Dialogue*. Online: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000184755 (accessed 18 April 2018).

UNESCO (2013) Round Table on Culture and Sustainable Development in SIDS and the Post 2015 Agenda. Bangkok: UNESCO.

UNESCO (ed.) (1999) *The Value of Culture Position Paper for the Forum Development and Culture*. Paris: UNESCO.

UNESCO (ed.) (2000) World Culture Report: Cultural Diversity, Conflict and Pluralism. Paris: UNESCO.

UNESCO and UNDP (2013) *Creative Economy Report 2013, Special Edition-Widening Local Development Pathways.* Online: http://www.unesco.org/culture/pdf/creative-economy-report-2013.pdf (accessed 18 April 2018).

UNESCO. (1989). Recommendation on the Safeguarding of Traditional Culture and Folklore.

Retrieved from: http://portal.unesco.org/en/ev.php-

URL ID=13141&URL DO=DO TOPIC&URL SECTION=201.html.

UNESCO. (2001). *Convention on the Protection of Underwater Cultural Heritage*. Retrieved from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000126065.

UNESCO. (2001). *Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity*. Retrieved from: <a href="http://portal.unesco.org/en/ev.php-urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic&urllloon-no-topic-urllloon-no-top

UNESCO. (2003). *Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage*. Retrieved from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000132540.

UNESCO. (2005). *Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions*. Retrieved from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000142919.

University of Goroka. (2017). *Centre for Social and Creative Media*. Online http://www.unigoroka.ac.pg/research/cscm.html. (accessed 10 May 2019).

University of Otago. (2011). *Pacific Research Protocols*. Retrieved from: https://www.otago.ac.nz/research/otago085503.pdf.

University of the South Pacific. (2019). *Oceania Center for Arts, Culture and Pacific Studies*. Online: http://oceaniacentre.usp.ac.fj/ (accessed 2 June 2019).

Vaioleti, T. (2006). Talanoa Research Methodology: A Developing Position on Pacific Research. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 1(21) 21-34.

Valery Gordin, & Marina Matetskaya. (2011). Culture and Local Development: The Interaction of Cultural Heritage and Creative Industries. Santalka: Filosofija, Komunikacija, 19(2), 47-59.

Venkateswar, S., & Hughes, E. (Eds.). (2011). *The politics of indigeneity: Dialogues and reflections on indigenous activism*. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Villazor, R. (2008) Blood Quantum Land Laws and the Race Versus Political Identity Dilemma. *California Law Review*, *96*(3), 801-837.

Villenas, Sofia. (1996). The Colonizer/Colonized Chicana Ethnographer: Identity, Marginalization, and Co-optation in the Field. *Harvard Educational Review*, 66(4), 711-31.

Vince, J. D. (2015). Millenium development goals: Progress in oceania. *Archives of Disease in Childhood, 100 Suppl 1,* S63-S65. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2013-305618.

Vizenor, G. (1999) Manifest Manners: Narratives on Postindian Survivance. Lincoln, Nebraska: University of Nebraska Press.

Vizenor, G. (1999). *Manifest Manners: Narratives on Postindian Survivance*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Vlassis, A. (2017) UNESCO, Cultural Industries and the International Development Agenda: Between Modest Recognition and Reluctance. In Stupples, P., & Teaiwa, K. (eds.) *Contemporary Perspectives on Art and International Development*. New York: Routledge.

Wan Smolbag. (2018). *About*. Online: http://www.wansmolbag.org/theatre/ (accessed 20 May 2019).

Wendt, A. (1976). Towards a New Oceania, *Mana review*, 1(1), 49-60. Retrieved from https://ethnc3990.files.wordpress.com/2014/12/wendt-toward-a-new-oceania.pdf.

Wesley-Smith, T. (1995). 'Rethinking Pacific Islands Forum' Pacific Studies, 18(2), 115-136.

Whimp, G. (2008) 'Interdisciplinarity and Pacific Studies: Roots and Routes', The Contemporary Pacific, 20(2), 397-421.

Whippy, N., Guttenbeil-Likiliki, O., Freshwater, M., Aumua, A. J., George, M., McCartney, M. A., Fuemana, D., & Arahanga, B. (2019) *Vai* [Motion Picture]. New Zealand: Brown Sugar Apple Grunt Productions.

White, S.C., and Blackmore, C. (2016) Introduction: The Many Faces of Wellbeing. In White, S.C., and Blackmore, C. (eds.) *Cultures of Wellbeing Method, Place, Policy*. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Wiles, R. (2013). What are qualitative research ethics?. New York: Bloomsbury Academic.

Wilson, P., & Stewart, M. (2008) *Global Indigenous Media: Cultures, Poetics and Politics.* Durham: United States of America, Duke University Press Books.

Wilson, P., & Stewart, M. (Eds.) (2008) Global Indigenous Media: Cultures, Poetics and Politics. Durham: Duke University Press.

Wolffram, P. (2007). *Te Eitei. The Banaban Story* [Motion Picture]. Handmade Productions Limited.

Wood, H. (2008), Native Features: Indigenous Films from Around the World, New York: Continuum.

World Commission on Culture and Development (1996) *Our Creative Diversity-Report of the World Commission on Culture and Development (Summary Version)*. Online: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000105586 (accessed 18 April 2018).

Zalipour, A., & SpringerLink. (2019). Migrant and Diasporic Film and Film-making in New Zealand / Edited by Arezou Zalipour., Springer eBooks.

Ziai, A. (2004). The ambivalence of post-development: between reactionary populism and radical democracy, *Third World Quarterly*, 25 (6), 1045–1060.